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POINTS OF INTEREST

The following polnts of interest have been selected for
their historical or contemporary interest end their accessibility
to the public. This liat 1s not oxhauat;ve, for certain pointe
of interest were omitted because histoéio&l paterial eboul thom
could not be sufficlently verified, because the particular
interest they represent was better satlsfled by cther points
on the 1lst, because they have been greatly changed from their
original forms, ore-particularly in the case of some of the
woodworking end other plantse--~because they were nct open to
vislits and inspectiocn by the publle, -

"1, The MARATHON COUNTY ASYLUM and MARATFEON COUNTY NOME AND
HOSPITAL, at the éouth end of Sturgeon Eddy Rd., are operated
by the county for the care and hospltallzation of the insane
and¢ indigents A long, shady lane of pines leads to the asylum,
a blooky red brick bullding, three storlies high with a gently
sloping red tlle rocf. To the right, separated by the curving
road and the well-kept grounds, is the home and hospltal bullde
ing, similsr in appesrance, Still farther right, &t the weatern
edge of the grounds, lles placid Lake Wausau.

TRC 4/21/39 EWM
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The county asylum was founded in 1894, with H, Cy Head as®
the fibst superintendent, to accomodate 116 Iinsane persons from
Marathon and nelghboring counties. In 1909 the old Marathon
County Poor Farm bullding located on Town Line Road was destroyed
by fire; largely at the instigation of Dr. H. L. Rosenberry 1t .
was then declded to erect the present oombined home and hoapitnl
which was compléted in 1910, Later in the same year Myron'H.
Duncan was made superintendent. Chilefly through his efforts
the county board decided to purchase an additicnal 720 acres
of farmlend in Rib Mountaln township, bringing the holdings of
the home and asylum to 1,250 acres.

In 1939 there were 210 chronically insane persons 1n the
asylum. Inmates are commlitted to the Institution by order of
the county court after proper examinaticn, which may be demanded
by any three intericated persons, and are released upon recom-
mendation of the asylum authorities., About 40 percent of all
patients are eventually cured.

The asylum has no padded cells, straight jackets, or other
mechanical appliances of restraint. One nurse, male or female,
i1s provided for every 20 patients, and these supervise the actl-
vities of the immates throughout the day. Approximately 80
percent of the patients work either in the bulldings, in the
kitchens, or about the grounds, tending a herd of 50 Guernsey
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cows and a drove of 150 hogs. During the sumer the patlents
can hundreds of gallons of frult and vegetables for winter use,
and in 1938 the strawberry crop wes so plentiful that an extra
$400 worth of frult was available for sale, The work, affording
mild exerclse and diversion, is not only eccnomical, but sorves
to quiet and rehabilitate the patients. At the end of a supere
vised day they are locked in thelr rooms for the evening. A
few of the more violent are locked up in their rocms for the /-
evening. A few of the more viclent are locked up throughout
the day; if excited or disturbed, they are quieted with warm
baths and wet packs. The regularity of the life and the free-
dom from worry contribute markedly to the health and longevity
of these people, and the nvor&go age at death here is 72 years.
About 150 persons were cared for in the county home 1n 1989,
Each indigent person ;a‘antered by the governinpg body of his own
township, village, or clty, and the local governmental unit ls
wholly responsible for his meintenance. The cost per person is
$4.50 por week, The same figure applles to the asylum, where
expenses are pald half by the county, half by the State. Actue
ally the care of the insane costs the county nothing, for the

sale of farm produce more than balances 1ts share of the charges,
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Within the county home is the 65~bed county hospital with
its own physician and a modern operating rocm, Here the inmates
receive medical attention, though they may have the services of
outside doctors with the approval of the superintendent,

2. lHARATEDR ADDITION PAREWAY, a narrow strip of lawn and
shrubbery between the intersections of St. Austin Rd. snd Kent
8ts with Sturgeon Eddy Rd., follows the east bank of the Wise
congin ﬁiver Just above the place where it widens into Lake
Wausau, Lillle Street forms most of ites eastern border, Paths
wind along and down the steep riverbenks, end a shelter house
for plenlckers is at the foot of Sts Austin Avenue. Here is a
good view of the 1sland-choked valley of the river, with Rib
Eountain looming high scross the water, The parkway conteins
one tennls court and a toboggan slide,.

8, The KELLY ROME (private), 812 Orand Ave., now the residence
of Oscar Ringle, was bullt by John Kercer, Wausau architect,
about 1875, Set back in a spacious lawn, this square structure,
originally of red brick but now overpainted while, achieves a
slender, ornate grace and lightness by round-topped windows

and a slim-posted pavilion upon the roof. MNercer erected many
of the business buildinga on Third Street and a number of the

earllier mansions,
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4. PLEASANT VIEW PARK, fronting Tenth St. between Sumner and
Monroe Sts., 1s a wooded ravine slanting down westward toward
the railroad yards., From a foreground of enorting locomotives
and tall chimneys, the view extends cver Lake Wausau to Rib
Hountqtn. Two long tables provide pienie facllitles,

S, KELLY PARY, an speu “rlangle between Grand Ave., Single St.
and the O, & NW. tracks, 1s flooded In winter to form a cirocular
skating rink for children and used in summer for softballs

6., HAMOND PARK, at the Intersection of SQroller'n'Lanq with
Orand Ave, 18 & small, shady tract overlooking rellrcad tracks
and river. In its center is a hexagonal bandstand with a stcne
foundation and shingled rcof riging steeply in a pointed spire.
Soattered throughout the park are teeter-tutters, swings, slides,
and & sandbox for smaller children, On the western edge, over-
looking the river, l# & long pergols with seats made of cement
blockss On the novth the red brick wall of the Kathle-Ruder
brewery is partly screened by hemlock end spruce; on the south

a steeply inclined retalning wall of granite blocks slopes down
to Stroller's Lane. The perk fronte on tusy Orand Avenue at

street level,
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For more than 70 years this has been a noteworthy recreation
spots In 1863 Ceorge Ruder, rebullding his brewery after a fire,
establiehed here Colunbla Park and the first Columbie Hell, where
hie own CGermen band played muslic, and German workingmen spent
long, pleasant summer afternocne and eveninge drinking beer,
talking, and listening. In the 1870%s Frank Schubert, the
music-master, toock over the place, installed his locally famous
band, and gave both park and hall hie ocwn namoQ Under both
Schubert and Ruder the lhall was a regular meeting-place for
many soclal, political, and fraternal gstherings. In 1800 Jeorge
Sohmidt acquired ovnoruhip and changed the name to Orand Avenue
Parks Two years later the hall burned and he repleced it with a
log structure called "The 0ld Log Cabin."

When S8clmidt vaecated the premises in 1868, the brewery
erected a large two-story bullding end revived the historic name
Columbia Hall. Its upper flocr was & dance hall and beer garden;
the lower floor was used for bettling bLeer. IHere the Winninger
famlly held forth for two sessons, presenting acrobetics, drae-
matic sketchea, and other entertalinments, Charles Winninger,
popular screen, stage, and redlo comedlan and character actor,
nppear&d here a8 & child with his four brothers; they would

woer long underwear in lieu of tights as they performed acrobatlic
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tricks, The hall burned in 1907 and wes replaced by a two-story
brick Muilding., In 1925 the brewery sold the tract comprised
in the present park to ¥res. Sue Hammond Ray, who made extensive
improvements, planting trees and shrubs, and installing the

" bandstand, fountaine, and playground equipment, Until 1933
¥rs, Ray malntained this park at her own expense in memory of
her father, B, P. Eammond, a lumberman, butlin that year she
deeded the property to the clty.

7+ The MATHIERUDER BREWING COs, OFFICE BUILDING, 516 Orand Ave.,
8 twoe-story red brick dbullding, wes bullt in 1907 as Columbia
Hall and served as a public entertalnment place until 1085,

8, The STELAPP BOOKBSINDERY, 415 Forest St., 1s one of Weusau's
oldest buildings, Bullt about Civil Wer times, 1t housed one
of the earliest hardware storese-perhaps the first exclualve
hardware store--and, for & time, the office of the Central
Wigconsin, Weusau's firet newspaper. Untll 1879 1t was owned
by Richard Baumann, the hardware dealer. At that time a door
now boarded over opened into the second floor from a porch over
the front door, &nd sn outside stalrcese also led to the second
floore Traces of the porch and door are plainly visible upon
the siding of the walls.
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9. The CITY NALL, Forest St. facing Third St. set back §0 feet
from the sldewalk, 18 a rectangular bullding of grey, weasther-
rugiu?&nt pressel brick; the steps, of ¥arathon County red |
granite, are flanked by ornamental light stendards. The site
had been glven tc the clity on condition that 1t be used as an
open market for farmers. For a number of years it was so used.
In 1906 the doncr eonsented to the erection of a city hall here
provided 1t were finished by 1912; otherwise the property was
te revert to private ownership. Though e sinking fund was be-
gun, 1t was continually drained for cther purposes. As the
deadline date neared, cltlzens awoke to the fact that the gift
would be lost, and the clty forced to puroﬁnao sncther lot on

& rising resl estate market, unlees lmmedlate actlion were
taken, In 1910 Hans Welk, & taxpayer, brought suit tc restraln
further diversiocn from the city hall fund. Though there was

a strong "econcay" faction opposed to construection, the voters
approved the bullding at a speclal election in 1611, and the
present structure was finlshed barely in time to retaln the
slte. |

10, The FARVERS' MARKET on the west side of Second 8t. south
of Forest 8t. ls provided by the city for direct trade between

farmere and city people. For decades after the Civil War open



|\

Newhouse
Einer Wausau

markets were important in Wausau commerce, and there was much
bickering over sites ae one after another was found unsatise-
factory, usually because too far rfom the center of town,
Eventually a market was established on the location of the
present clty hall, then transferred here when that bullding
was erected. INow much of the lmportance of dlrect farmer-to-
congumer trade haes vanished, and the malin items sold are

poul try, eggs, and other produce, fuel-wocd in winter, and
green vegetables in season. Though there usually asre a few
loads of wood or hay parked in the space and a few people
chatting desultorily or inepecting the merchandise, the bustle
of other days ls seldom seen. In the northwest part of the
tract 1s the CITY REST ROOM, a frame residence bullding where
rural shoppers may stop whlle in town.

1l¢ The DUDLEY PROVISION (0. BUILDINQ, northeast corner of
Firat and Jndkaon 8te., 1o & la;ga, barnlike frame structure
which housed ;no of the earllest schoclse, & priv;te,nohoel
conducted by the Rev, Thomas Oreen shortly before 1860. it
that time 1t wae loceted on Scott Street near Second Street.
124 The CALLIES PAINT STORE, 313~15 Jackeson 8t., ancther old
building, housed theé first office of the Pilot, Wausau's oldest

newspaper, which was founded on the second floor in 1660.
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13« ART'S TIRE & WELDING SHOP, 200 Second St., & one-andea-half
story frame bﬁilding, perfectly plain save for a bodimant U
gesting Oreek Revival style, ls belleved to be the first county
bullding. Ite history has been definitely traced back to the
ownershlp of Willlam Barteld, who used it for a atdra in 1884,
At that time 1t stood on the corner of Second and Washington
Streets, presunably faecing north on Washington, for there is
still an old street sign nailed to one cornmer of the buillding
reading "So. Second St.," Early photographs, the memories of
- ploneers, and other evidence, ﬁhcugh conflicting, indlcate
that probably 1t was the bullding ordered erected by the Hara-
then County Board in 1851, only a year after the county was
formeds This would meke 1t the oldest building known in the
clty. :

The 1851 structure, not intended to be a courthouse in
the modern sense of the term was little more than an office
for the County Clerk, Asa Lawrence. Thomas Hinton was given
the Job of constructing 1t, but as he falled to finish, Hiram
Calkins and Lawrence completed the work in 1852 at a total cost
of about $385, Within three years its fecilities bLecame inade-
quate and the county board ordered it sold for §50. Thcugh there
is no record of the purchaser, there ls scme evidence that 1t

passed into the poseession of Willlem Farnham, who established
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thou!,n the communlity's flrst bank, called the Bank of the
Interior., Then Harry H. Lawrence is wﬁpposed to have used

it from 1857 to 1661 as a post office and to have sold 1t to
Barteld in 1862 or 1863,

14, McINDOE PARK; on the west side of Firet St. between
Washlngton and Jefferscn Ste., 18 & shaded tract of trees,
shrubbery, and walke bullt arcund the PUBLIC LIBRARY. This
wag the site of the heme of Walter D, ¥Melndce, most prouinent
ploneer cltizen. The library originated tith‘a literary soe-
ciety calied the Pine Enot Club, founded in 1871, which turned
its bookas over to the Ladles' thérarg Soclety in 1678, 1In
1897 the c¢lty Legan making a small ennuel appropriation for
the support of the library. After having moved from one shele
ter to another for many yeare, the librery finally acquired a
grant for a bullding from Carmegle funds, and cltlpens raleed
56,000 to purchase a permencnt‘aite. Welter Alexander theree-
upon geve the clty the MelIndoe homestead on oondltion that 1t
be beautifled and kept for a park and thet no bullding but the
library should ever be erected thereon. The {5,000 of contri-
butlons, together with a total of {7,400 subsequently given by
the city, was used to buy adjolning properties along Washington
Stroeﬁ, thus squaring and completing the tract.

11



lewhouse
Miner Waugau

15 The MARATEON ELECTRIC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION PLANT,
185 W, Washington 8t., ocouples a square, ornate old red brick
bullding'tith PllliﬂngVQOIQP! rising from each corner of the
steeply sloping roof. This lsa the old ecity hall, erected in
1885 after a eharp fnctioncl'right. The slte was chosen Ly & '
committee desipgnated by the clty for the purpoa&, but was opposed
by groups favoring a location on Clark's Island and by "a few
dlegruntled people,..who flgure it should be farther up town."
Opponents cbtained an injunction egainst buildzné on the choeen
site, but the 1njunction finally wes dlesolved and the structure
put up at a cast of £10,000, Then B, Os Plumer and August
Kickbusch donated ﬁ eloock worth $700 on condition that the city
build & tower on the city hall for it, and the tower cost $600
more, The clty ebandoned the bullding when the now city hall
wag built in 1012, end tower and clock have ainéi been removed.
The Marathon Blectric Cos (open), was orgenized in 19l4.
It manufsctures fractionel horsepower motors, ventlleting fans,
grinders and circulators. l
16, 4 small PARE on Clark's Islend at the intersection of
Washington and Clinton Ets. atltho weast end of Elgh Bridge 1s
l1ittle mere than a pateh cf lawn with & ralling of hand-hewn
beams and postes guerding the brink of the river, Prominently

12
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located on the lawn is & MARCER, erected by the Daughters of
the Ameriocan Revolution, purperting to designate the site of
the first sawmill bu;lb by George Stevens, original settler,
Most sccounts and early nape indiceté that Stevens' nmill was
on the east riverbank near the foct of Jackeon Street, a few
hundred yerds upstresm from the former B, Heinemann Co. mill,
The Neinemann Coe. Lought cut the Alexander §tewsrt Co., who
bullt the mill when thelr first property, which included
Stevens' original building, was scrapped as obeclete in 1890,
17. ANDERES FLATS (private), 412 Pirst St., was formerly s
part of the Rivervio' Hospital, erected by Dr. Douglas
Seuerhering in 1692, This hospltal, llke the Trevitt Hoepital
(gee below), was once a pertleipant in the "ticket hospital®
form of group medicine. It alsoc had the city's first ambue
lance, a horse-~drawn vehlcle,

16, The RADANT BUILDING (private), 202 Scott St., housed the
city's firet hoepital, founded by Dr. As W. Trevitt and his
wife, Dr. Margaret Trevitt, In 1l886. Thelr 25 beds occupied
the entire second floory Almost from the ltart‘thil was a
"ticket hosplitel.” Lumberjacko bough $10 tickets which ene
titled them to a year's hospltalizaeticn and medlcal end surgical
gervice at any of a nunber of hospltals loceted throughout the

15
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northern part of the State. This system of group madiuiné
operated successfully for more than & decade and a half.

10. The MARATHON COUUNTY COURPHOUSE, in a square bounded by
Third, Scott, Fourth, and Jefferson St., 18 an engular, for-
tress~ille bullding of red granite and red brlek, embellished
with turrets and dominated by a square clock-tower at its
southwest corners In 1653 the shedy grounﬁs were glven the
county by Waltor D, Eézndwa for a pominal consideraticn of £100.
In 16059 the County Bosrd had 1t cleared of stumps. TFor a time
thereafter citizens were permitted to plent it, though when
Ell Chase persisted In paﬁturiﬁg nle calf there the county
board sought to stop him by selling the gress to the highest
bidder,

After the flrst county tullding (see 16 above) wae sold,
the county, in 18056, contracted for the constructicn in tbié
bloek of ancthor afficﬁ bullding amaﬁing_%@ﬁﬁ and a jail
coasting $950. In 1868 this eecond county office bullding
was sold to Jed Moneau for G250, meved away, and later desw
troyed by fire. The seme year Auguet FEott completed a §7,500
courthousies It wes & two-story Oreel Revival structure with

four pillars, a padiment, and & ocupola, rising higﬁknbova the
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saplings planted on the lawn; between the curving walks that
led to the steps a fountain played. One writer, recollecting
this building, comments: "It is with admiration that we today
refleet upon the dignity and beauty of that classical structure.
That our pioneer citizens were good judges of aréhiteeture is
shown not only by the fact that the Court House was reminiscont
of a Greek temple, but also by the homes which they bullt for
thelr famillies....Why our citlzens ever transferred their de-
votion from these early colonial homes to the hideous boxes
and garish Douglas contraptions of a later date 1s hard to
understand." |

By 1889 this building also hed bLecome inadequate., The
present structure was bullt by John Miller in 1892 at a cost
of $51,800, nct including the hea';ing plant. After {1fty years
of service, 1t 1s hardly sufflecleat for the needs of the county.
The lame‘writer seys, Let us hope that when the time comes to
replace this building, there may arise on thls same Court House
square a modern office bﬁilding, convenlent in every respect,
a bullding that will tower above the Hotel and Bank bulldings
and will be recognized by all as an architectural masterplece,
built ocut of seam-faced Marathon County granite, and from which
on Sabbath and festlivel days shall peal forth from a carillon

the hymns and carols and patrioctic songs we love."

15
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On the southwest corner of the asquare is the granite
SOLDIERS' AND BAILOR8!' MONUMENT erected in 18866 by the Orand
Aray of the Republic with the help of $500 donated in 1684 by
the county. On the northwest ccrner i1s a brongze HONUMENT TO
WORLD WAR DEADs. Designed by Carl Neber end cast in Philadele
phia, it cost §$20,000.

20, STEWART PARK, on the west slde of Tenth 8t., between
EoClellan and Scott Sts., is & pine~embowered portion of East
Hill converted into a naturel amphithecatre, FProm the flsgstone
steps of the Tenth Etreet ontrune§ it elopes downward to a wall
of red grsnite, which forme a backdrop, Conecent»ic arched
terraces provide graduated levels {rom which spectators may
watch the outdoor entertalnmente occsslonally staged here,

From the corner of Scott and Tenth Streetes, jJust outside the
park, 18 a fine view of the southern valley, with the city's
rooftops filliing the foreground end Rib ¥ountain humping hugely
on the horlzon.

21, 8T, JOEN'S EPISCOPAL CUURCE, on the northwest corner of
MeClellen and Fourth Ste., 18 a low rembling stone structure

on a shady street, The church snd parsonage wings are connected
at the rear by a transverse OUILD IALL. Though in front this
gulld ball is masked by the stone arches of a cloistered walk,
the structure itself ls probsbly the oldeet church bullding

16
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remaining in Weusau., The first church of St. John's CONEre«
gation was erected in 186C and remodelled in 1887, When the
present bullding was puf up in 1914, the old church was retained
and built into 1t as the gulld hall, The Intericr still presents
the main architectural featuree of the original, 8lim, darke
stalned bLeams, walst-high wainscoting, and unpretenticus stained-
glases windows are virtually the only ornament in the plain walle
and elmple pointed celiling, |

228, YAWIEY PARK, on the weet slde ¢f Fourth 8t. Letween Grant
and Pranklin Ste., 18 a sumall nelghborhood park with paths
winding through trees and shrubbery. In the center ls & sunken
pooi; rising from the pool is élgraaeful‘founbaln, surmounted by
a small figure of Pan, On the western slde 1s an arbor, where
vines shade the concrete benches below and conceal the tennis
courts ocoupying the other half of the blooks

83, The PRESIYTERIAN MANSE, 714 Pifth 5t%., orliginally the home
of De Lo Plumer, lumberman, finnncinr, and clvie leaddr, repre=-
gents the climactle achlevement of the wealthy manslicne-bullders
of the past centurys. Erected about 1690, it 1s & veit, ornate,
and heavy Ramanoaqpu structure, The fiyst story 1is of red
granite, but according to local traditicn Plumer quﬂrrollsd
with hie contractor when the bullding was balfl completed, and

17
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the upper portione are of weathered red brick with granite
trim. The masslve stone porches, flanked with polished pil--
lars, are canopied with stone, as 1s the pavillon-like
carriage-drive at one slde. Arches, peaks, and turrets
nmboliiah the second floor or protrude from the high, steep
roof, while each corner rounds itself into a slim high turret
of alternate bande of brick and unpolished stone,

A Mllwaukee newspaper in 1895 reported that thle home
"a0st over $80,000 and s undoubtedly the fincst in the Stato."
Five yeare later it was stlll a scurce of immense pride to the
communitys The auther of a book published jointly by the three

local newspapers in 1900 wrote, in connection with ¥r. Plumer's

.blogrlﬁhyt‘

"Accompenying this sketeh le a pleture of the elegant home
of ¥r. and ¥re. Plumer and 1t reflects, as words would fall to
do, thelr tiate. kres Plumer 1s possessed of & scientific turn
of mind and telleves in evolution, or what le more comaonly
called medern thought, This teaches that comfort prosotes
happliness, conduces to health and health gusrantees continued

youthfulnese and longevity; that beauty end Leraony Ln the home

- Tave a tendency to keep the brain from becoming old end morbidj

that men make thelr own reputation and record in 1.fe, Through

18
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this bellef wes concelived the i1dea of bullding such a home

as this and 1t was done, Surrounded by such modern convenilences
and such besuty of hcme and grounds Mr, ﬁlumor has refused to
grow old and the wiedom ¢f his faith 1is appareﬁt when his phye
sicsl and mental vigor ie ncted,

"Spre. Plumer slsc belleves that all clitles sre jJust what
the people whe live in them have a dlapoeltion to make them
end his desire to promote the common weal was another incentive
to contribute an original pertion to the city of Weusau in this
home. ‘The influence has been fruitful, for 1t has atkﬂulhﬁdﬁ.
others to do llkewlse and many of Wausau's iplendld hnmas.n'n
their erection to the inspiration that came from lr. Plumer's
acticn."”

24, RECHEATION PARK, on the north side of Wausau Ave. between
Third and Fifth Ste., ig the city's principsl beseball park
and athletlc fleld. Walls of Marathon County red granite
capped with cement confine three sldes, while a grand stand
and bleachérs accommodating about 2,000 spectators V cut bee
hind the plates Clusters of lights on tell poles are proyidod
for night baseball, which 18 helping revive the spcrt over
which the city went into frenzies of exolitement in prewar
years, The Wausau Lunberjacke, a semleprofessional bareball

{
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tean lponsérud by the clty itselfl, now belong to the Northern
League and play organized Class D ball against teams from such
citlies ae Superiocr, Duluth, Crockstown, Fargo, Jamestown,
Winnipeg, and Easu Claire, In 1988 they finlshed in fourth
place, City Industrisl softball leagues also use the park.
Admiseicn to Lumberjack games 1s 40¢ for adults, 10¢ for chile
dren; to softball gemes, free.

20 FOREST PARK, its entrance on Spring St. neear Ninth 8t.,
ie & senl-improved tract vaguely defined on the south and west
by streets not yet built through: Parcher and Eighth, On
Spring Street 18 a shelter house, open on three sides and.odn-
structed of rough stone with & rustic rocf of split shingles,
containing a table and & flreplace for cooking. Open alr
fireplaces and tables are scattered sbout other parte of the
area, Located on & hillside, the park overlooks the northern
valley; from its highest pouintes RLb Hountain maé be seen to
the scuthwest across the roof and treectops of Wausau,

26, The MARATHON COUNTY LORMAL SCHOCL, southwest ccrner cf
Stewsrt and Seventh Aves,, was the {irst inetltution of 1ite
kind in the United States (see THE SCHOOLS).

20



Newhouse
Kiner Wausau

" 87« MWARATHON COUNTY PARK aend the MARATHON COUNTY FPAIRGROUNDS,
a 7C-acre trect between Stewart Ave. and the C, & lW. rallroad
tracks on the western edge o¢f the city, haes 1ts main entrance
at the west end of Qarfleld Avenue, with a slde entrance on
State 20 (Stewart Ave.) opehing iInto the TOURIST CAMP (SO per
car per night)s It wae donsted by the Marathon County Agrie
 cultural Society in 1923 on condition 1t should aiuaya te
available tc the soclety for feire. Just within the Garfield
Avenue entrance are the white cement BUILDINGS of the Wiscone
sin Valley Falr and Expositicni in on; of these the Wausau
Curling Club meets four times a week throughout the wintcr
for individual and team matchos.

Seyond Shese buildings is She half-mile rece track with
a grandstend. In summer baseball and softbell are played on
th; infield cof the track; in winter it 18 flocded to make one
Er the largest cutdoor skating rinke in the 8tates From a
emall wooden house In the center of the Infleld comes muslc
which sets the tempo for thousands of Wausau people, young
and old; who glide in & milling cirele of colorful costumes
about the rink under the lighte., Since 1926 an ice show has
been held annually ir front of the grandsteand, a feature of
the annual Winter Prollc inaugurated by the Chamber of Commerce
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and the city's recreaticn ccmmittee. MNoat of the park is
covered by tell pines, thelr trunks rising like brown columns
under the cancpy of deep green ghude, Under those treos the
Wausau Archery cludb meets and shoote esch swmer. Plenic fae
cilities and rest roome make Marathon Park an excellent place
for holiday excursions. 7
' 88, RIVERSIDE PARE, bounded by Sherman St., Harrison Blvd.,
and the Wisconsin River, containe the municipally owned swlme
ming pool (10¢) and a free wading pocl for chlldren., The
bathhouse, overlooking the river, opens on its inland slde to
the fencedein pool, which may be entered cnly through the
bulldinge The pool 1tself is 150 feet long and 50 feet wide
and ranges in depth from two and & half to nine feet. Floode
1ights ere provided for night swianling and a guard is 1ln
congstant attendance, Adjeining the pcol le the wading pondj
the bank behind this 1s terrsced ln the form of an amphitheatre,
At the top of the bank are two tennls courts open %o the publlces
Upstream from the pool the park stretches in & narrow styip
along the riverbank, At lte northern end a rustic bLridge leads
to Pionie Island, from which the waters of the Wisconein may be
gseen pouring like a row of waterfalls cver the great power dem
a few hundred yards above, On the lsland 1g a small ekbin
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rented to plenic parties upon request at the offlice of the oity
park commlssioner, A two dollar deposit is charged, but refunded
after a carotaker has checked the primicen to see that no demage
has been done,

20, STACK ISLAND PAFK and OAX ISLAND PARK are on twe adjacent
1slends both acceseible from Stroller's Lane. A4 serles of
rustlo bridges interlocks the wooded traoti, while pathe wind
through the woodss On Stack Island, westermcst of the two,
ferns érow six feet high, ccncesling the city from view and
screening out even the nolse c¢f the nearby milis, rallroad
tracks and breweries. Osk Island, relatively undeveloped, in
1929 1s belng embanked, its shores ralsed elghteen to twentye
four inches} when complete 1t will contain & 20,000 fleld
house, two softball dlamonde, two tennis courts, and playground

equipment.
"POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

30. The WINNIKOGER HOME, Just south of the city limite on
Orand Ave., 1s located bLetween Cawley and Radke Sts., the
third house north of the 8chofleld village halls It 18 a
colonial house with a plllered porch, sbove which are three
dormer windows. Here Frani ¥inninger, founder of a family

famous in the middle west for a generstion for lts travelling

83
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theatrical companies, and four of his scone lived until the
last of them dled in 1084. The fifth and most noted son,
Charles Winninger, spent but little time here, for he left
early to Legin his career in the Fatlion's larger thoitriqal_
centers, :

The Winningar fenlly errived In Amerlica from aAustris in
1861. Pour of the scns, Prenk, Joln, Josoph, end Adclph, were
born in the old ccuntry; Charles, the youngest, was born in
Amorlcas For glx years they lived on & farm in the town of
Johnson, near Athens, where the father earned a little extra
money teaching musics Then he moved to Ashlend, formed a band,
and played at dance halls and theatres, In 1895 the family
came tc Weuseu, where they lived firat at 703} LeXeasurier
Straaé, then at 738 Washington Street, and finally at 715
Forelﬁ S8treets The father took over the management of Colume
bia Hall (gee 8 and 9 above), but within ten years moved to
Appleton, where bis orchestra pleyed in theatres for road
showse In 16800 Frank and Jobn, the two older brothers, begsn
the first tent road show in Wisconein, travelling this State,
Illinols, and Hinnesota with a repertolre of plays., A few
years later Joseplh, Adolph, and Charles began a second tent
stock company, anﬁ in 1910 John and Frank split, each rumning
his own showj thus there were three Winninger tent companies
intensively touring the reglon,.
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They tock this house in Schofleld, which was the family
hesdquarters for many years. Here thelr father dled 1in 1020,
the mother in 19828, As the tent show companles troke up John
became famous es a German dialect comedlan, playing in theatres
and with stock companies throughout the Central States; Adolph
became asscclated with the mctlion pleture industry in Califcre
nla; and Charles acquired feme on Broadway, first in "No, No,
Nanette," and most recently as Cep'n Henry in stage, film, and
radlo versions of "Show Boat," The Frank Winninger stock
company tcok ite final bow in Wincna, ¥inn., in 1931; Frank
himself died in 1034,
3le ROTHSCHILD PARE, 245 ma south at the intersection of US 051
and Kort St., the boundary between the villages of Schofield and
Rothschild, consists malnly of a dense grove of pine, In a
clesring in the grove near the Wisconein River 1s a remdling
pavilion and dence hall, sombre brown in colers A publio
feastival or "jemboree"” 1s held here every Wednesday Iin summer;
the place alsoc 1s often used for privete parties and meetings
gpongored by business men or labor unions. Extending northe
ward from the pevillion is a log stockade surrounding an Indlan
village (admission veries year to year)., Here are displayed
exhibits of Indian manufacture and verieties ¢f wigwems, mogt
of them of bark, either lald over bent pcles or wound clrcu-
larly‘nbout inclined poles,
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In 1008, when the Weusau Street Rallway Co. extended its
car line to Rothschlld, it bbuaht the tract, then called Plne
Park, and bullt a pavilion, which was burned in 101l and
immediately replaced. At this time the trolleys were a nove
elty, pecple rode them for pleasure, and the park served
largely ae a destinatlion for a day of outing.

32, The MARATHON PAPER MILLS CO. PLANT (open to visitors,

None 10«2, Sat, 2; tours arranged st office) S m. south, stands
a few hundred feet west of US 51 in the vlllage of Rothschild,

which was founded arcund the plant when 1t opened iIn 1910. It
extends nearly a quarter of & mlle along the banks of the
Wisconsin River, from which 1t derives much of the electrical
power and all of the water needed for the manufacture of
papers The seven units of redebrick bulldinge are compactly
grouped, thelr low, even lines broken by a battery of smokew
stacks and a bulbous water tank. To the north plles of
pulpwood are stacked mile upon mile along rallroad sldings,
and men with derricke unload bolte from flatcars cr transport
them over the plant'e own syetem of ralls end engines to the
hot pond.

About 1907 & group of Wausau men organlzed the Rothschild
Water Power Company to utllilse the power, deal Iln real estate

and buy and sell logs. Shortly afterward a State law was
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passed requiring owners of water powers to develop thelr
proporties within one year or surrender thelr franchlses.
pr stockholders of the new company, nct qulte sure in whioh
direction $o turn, declided to make paper; cn Febs 13, 1909,
they orgeniged the Marathon Peper Willles Uompany. Ds Cs Bvereat,
only 26 years old but already in meln charge of & Funising,
Miche, paper miil, came befcre them to soll paper making mae
chinery, The directers were sc lmpressed with his abllitles
and his knowledge that they hired bim as general manager of
the new venture. :
Everest had definlte ldeas about bullding the plant. The
new mill was tc use the sulphite process, then in an early
stege cf development. It wae to make high and low grade paper,
and meny epecisltles, from tlseue to tag board, so that the
company would nct have to depend on only a few markets. It
was to have a blesehing rcom to make & whiter paper, though
bleaching waz then in ite Infancy, and 1t wes to have oeilingn
30 feet high to avold the condensaticn of moleture which hed
alwaye caused trouble In paper mills, Thepn, for flexibility
of produeticn, there were to be three different types of paper
making machines: a Fourdrinier, a Cylinder and & Yankee.
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The first sheet ¢f paper threaded ite way through the
drying rclliere on November 18, 1910, Lese than a year later
camne the flocd of October, 1011, when high water carried
20,000,000 feet cf loge through the Wausau bocms to pound at
the Rothschlld dam. The waters rose sc high that a 400 foot
cpening had to be dynamlited at the eastern slde of the dam
to relieve the pressure; basements were floocded, the bouller
gettings were undermined, and the generstors conelderably
damaged, Fardly had the mill been recpened when, in July, 1912,
flood waters again swept dewn tche Wisccnsin. Thls time the
cuoffer dam, bullt to protect the power dem while it was being
repalred, hgd te be dynamlted end the generators were apgaln
injured, The loss caused by both floods emcunted to mcre then
a millicn dollers,

In 1916, tc teke advantage c¢f & war-dborn demand for llight
water-marked papers, & new Yankee paper making machine was bullt
around an extra large dryer. This was then the largest machine
of its type in the world; though 1ts installation stralned the
rescurces of the young company, the demand for 1te cutput socn
proved ite ﬁructlc-billty. In the some year a bleached llnen
board was developed, It was not esegy tc gell at firet for 1t
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was a quality boerd cceting $100 a ton, but Harathon Jjudged
correctly that the trend in food packagling was toward more
attractive and efficlient wrappors.

Mueh of the new product was sold to the Menasha Carton
Company, 0rglnlsod.1n 1912 by Ceorge S. CGaylord, fresh from a
Chicage brokerage house. He had decided to make butter and
cheoege contalners, and haed himself gone to work with plek and
shovel to convert an old shingle mill into & carton plant.

His ririt'waxed papers for bread wrappers were turned cut on
an ordinery clothes wringer, and these samples got him backing
for more elaborate equipment. 1In 1917 the Kenasha ?rint&ng end
Carton Company was formed when Gaylord's Company combined with
the Menasha Printing Company owned by Sam Clinedinst, The new
Henasha Company uiod more and more of the quallty board sas
attractive food packages bLecame more snd more popular, and Ly
1987 was cconsuming 456 percent of WHarathon's cutputs In that
year Marathon bought out th§ Menssha Company, keeping the old
nane, well known in the paper trade. By 1688 elpghty percent
of unrathon'a'paper wae sent to Menasha for converslion to

food packages end paper speclalties, In additicn, Marathon

owns & pall plant in Wausau, a paper mill in Ashland, & sawmill
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at Ironwood, & converting plant in Mllwaukee, and lumensge
cutting rights in Cenada. Over 2,000 people are eumployed in
i1ts divisions, eand its gross sales aversge more than §$11,000,000
a years About 670 pecple work in the mlll at Rothechlld alone.
In 1ts éiaentlnls, paper makling consists ot_separnting
fluffy fibres of eellui%ne from raw wocd, then resrranging these
riﬁreu in erleg~crossing fashlion to interlock in a thin sheet of
paper. The prucess 18 more coapllicated than this summary mlght
suggests About 80,000 ecrds of hemlock and epruce ccme each
year from Michigen and Canada by flatcar to be stacked in the
woodlot and later rolled inte the hot pond. Men with plke poles
guide the loge through the water tc the bull sllide which cerries
them up the Incline and inte the mill, Here flve rctary saws
slagh simultenecusly through each log, ripping it inte six
twoe=foct long sectlicns. A conveyor belt onfriet the short
logs past the splitter, a wedge shaped maul mcunted on &n
eccentric which thumps 1ts wey through logs tco larpe for
oonveniéne bandlings Prcem here the logs ﬂfop intc the barkers
on the floor below. In these great revolving drums, thirty
foet long and a dogen feet high, the lougs tumble and plteh
while the dleludged bark falls through the slotted sides of

&0



Newhouse

¥ iner Wausau

the drums. Next come the chippers, where the logs ere flaked
away with knlves In somewhat the same manner as a pencll by

@ sharpener, Shaking screens remcve the sawduet and over-size
chips, keeping cnly those approximately three guarters of an
ineh square and an eighth of an inch thick.

Raw wcod 18 roughly B4 percent cellulose, with the next
largest constituent lignin. To separste the constituents a
"oocking liquor" 18 menufactured in the acld plant which will
dissclve all but the cellulose, Pale Texas sulphur is first
burned in long horizental retorts; from the flickering blue _
flames rises a ges, sulphur dioxide, which is rapidly cocled
by belng run through water-chilled pipees The gus le then
led into vertical retcrtes fllled wit: limestone; as the pas
rises through the atone 1t meete water trickling down from
above, and calecium bisulphite, the 'cpohing liquor,® lg formed,

Thls liquer is poured Intc the tops Er 80=feot high die
gesters filled with lcose olips. Live steam ls injected through
the conleel bottom, ccoking the mass for elght to eleven hours.
At the end of this time the material 1s "blown"™ from the digeste
ere Ly preseure from underneath Into great "blow pites," 30 to
40 feet across. A false bottom of felt permits the cocking

liguor with 1te dissclved weste materiale to drain off, after
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which water i1 pumped into the pilt to wash the remalining
celiulose, Much cf the 15,000,000 gallons of water used
dally in the paper mill finds its way through the blow pits.

Pollowing this the frcthy mixture of water and cellulose
flows down hundred<foot long troughe with fine screens in their
bottomsy the flbre must pass through cpenings only .00¢ of an
tneh thiok if 1t is to be used for paper. Next the cellulose
goes to the deckers, sereen~covered cylinders whileh revelve
partly in, partly out of the suspension. This thickens the
mixture, for the cellulose lz carried over the top of the
eylinder and the water dralning through the screen 1s plped
away. Next comes the bleachlng process, where for flve hours
the pulp ls treated firet with ehlorine, then with calclum
hypoehlorite. '

The pulp then goes to the Leaters, where paper 1s made Iin
the eame sonse that a cake is made In a =uixing bowl. Each
beater holde about ocne ton of pulp and ecntaine a five foot
eylinder spinning on a horigontal axis over staticnery bed
plates. Fere ccloring watter, resin siging, clay flllers and
other materials are added tc the circulating mase tc blend the
type of paper desired. From here the suspenslon goes to the
Jordan refiner for mcre cutting and shkredding, then directly
to tre paper making machine.
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Paper 1s made at Marathon on three different types of
machines, the Cylinder, the Fourdrinier and the Yankee, In
the first type, wire covered cylinders whirling in a thin
suspensicn cf pulp and water carry the fibres above the water
level whille the water dralns through the screened sides, ' Rune
ning above the eylinders and in econtact with thog 1o & felt
belt, which removes the pulp by cohesive aotlcen, then traveles
on to plck up more from the next cylinder, so that the completed
sheet hae &t many thicknesses of pulp as there are coylinders in
the machines, The felt beit then carries the paper Letween stoam
heat;d rollers untll it 1s strong encugh to continue unsupported
through the labrynthine rcllers of the several hundred foot long
nachine.

In the fourdrinior mnohana the auspennion of pulp and water
flows onto a travollrhz wife ‘$eréer tﬁrcagb which the water
dreins, leaving the rlbreaa ﬁg tha scre&n travele ahead 1t
ghalkes gidoways, matting cnd lnterlocking the ribrea of cellue
lose into « sheet of a single thickness, which 1s pressed and
dried in the same manner as in the Cylinder rachine., The Yankee
employe the moving screen of the Pourdrinier, but the drying is

done on a elngle great steam heated cylinder which glages only
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the slde cof the paper next to the heated surface. Each machine
produces paper for & number of uses; the ccmpany's fcour machines,
two of them Pourdrinlers, turn cut 140 tone of paper in a 24
hour day. '

More than half the ocutput of Marathon scnsiste ¢f waxed
papers for the packaging of foods, tobaccu, and other commedle
tless Many coatings for paper have been developed 1n the
company's research laboratoriess The mcest important 1s known
by the general name of Paraweld, made Ly the mixture of wax-like
materlials with flim-forming materiasls to produce a sheet which
is highly waterproof, has strong heate-sealing properties and
may be made In verylng degrees of toughness end flexibility.
When Paraweld ls cast melten intc a flexible film it is known
as Paraflilm; this hes proven populer for such purpoees as
wrapping neturel cheeges, closing bottle tcpe, wrapolng core
sages in florlst shtops, and for bendage coverings in loepltals,.
Vhen epplied to the surfece of paper, cloth, or other sheet
materiale, Paraweld s known as Parskote, much used for wrapping
process cheese, where 1t has largely supplanted the uese of metal
foll, and for packaging tcbaecco aﬁd frosted foodse Ancther type
of Paraeweld, known as Paraply, because of 1te moleture-resistant
qualities, is used for scap wrapping; still ancther ls Prestix,
a coated tape with high adheslive qualitiea.
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The rapid growth and development of the company 1e
attributed tc the diversification of its products and the
activities cf its research department, An article in the
nagazine Fortune mentioning the Merathon flrm in a review of
the ocountry'es peper making industry, salds

"If ever a paper company mede gooed through sheer energy
end alertness, the company le the Narathon Paper Mlllc Company
at Hothschlld, Wiss «.. Now what makes Marathon exclting le
nelther 1ts slze nor the profits it earne, slthough the profits
are good, tocs What does nake Narathon exciting le ites enter-
prlnea, the speclal producte 1t has develcped in 1ts ocwn
laboratory, and lte felth In technclegy and research. Marathcn
le cne of a small group of explorers that are cpening up the
frontiers of papers It gete its itnbillhy;frcm the fect that
its murkete are go diversifled that it dovesn't have tc depend
on any cne of them,"

Pormerly the materlals dissclved ocut by'the "eocking liquer®
stage of the paper maling process were dumped intc streams,
killing fish and rcusing wide protest cver the polliuticn of the
wators, OState legislation forbldding thies procese ceused firms
to seek means of obtalning byeproducts from this waste, and
Earathen has been a lesder in such resesrchs Its chemlcal |
divislicn, splendlidly equlpped and staffed, 1s constantly seeklng
t¢ recover veluable producte froem the lignin end other non-callu-

losle constituents of the wood.
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The uanﬁc liquor 1is put through the Foward process, &
patented procese developed by CGuy Howard of the ﬁnrnthen firm.
Thie recovers a lime-sulphur product used to make fresh cocking
liquor, and an crganic substance used both for beller fuel and
as & lignin rew materlal from which speclal products are made.
Ameng such products ere a tanning substance used in making
leather, & lignin product for use ln Pcrtland cement, various
lignin sulphcnie acld salts, sand vanillin, a synthetie vanilla.
Provisions are now belng made for the menufacture of lignin
resins for usoein molding compceltions and for other lignin
materlal prcducts. After being thus treated, the remaining
waste liquids mey be dumped intc the river without polluting
the water, '
33+ RIB HOUNTAIN, § me southwoet cf Weusau cn town roads which
branch, cne leading tc the winter sports aren,'cna to the summit
(marked by signe beginning on Third Aves; may noct be open after
gtorms 1n winter), is cne of the State's most prominent land-

marks, visible in places fur twenty-five miles. A rcenadnock,
_or remnant of resistant quartzlite left as the more fraglle
granite of the surrcunding peneplain wae weathered away, 1t
locms hugely over the valley of the Wlsconsln River and 1lts

tributaries near Wausau., FProm every new viewpcint 1t presents
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different outlinoa.. Ae UB Bl passes near 1ts eastern end it
18 meroly an abrupt uphbeaval of ruck and forest, largely
concealed by an intervening fu#tbill. From State 29, running
parallel to~ltl northemm side, 1t seemp llke a monctonously
loﬁg and uniform wall of uptilted wildernése. But from the
eity of Wausau, sufficlently distant to reveal the mountain's
bulk and irregularity, the sloping cutllines unro;d their full
sweep and dimenslons. 5 |

The mountein is more than @ mile wide and three miles long,
and the length 18 augnented by Mosinee and Nardwcood Ilills,
emaller monadnocks at eitﬁer end of the maln ridge. At 1ts
highest point the elevatlion ls 1,047 feet above soa level
and 750 to €00 feet above the riverbed, The entire bulk is
cemposed of a hard, glaes-llke rcek called quartzite, HRipple-
marks on slabe even at the summit indlcate that once this rock
wag oana'oﬁ;thc bettom of some anclent oceans Through tremenw
dous pressures end the passage of ages of time the sand became
erystallized inte rock, and then wae uptlilted by wrinkllngs snd
foldings of the earth's crust.

Ceologlsts estimate that this roek ls among the oldq}t
in exlstence, formed while the planet was stlll solldifying.
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Rib then was a peak in a mountain range that covered all of
what 1s now northern Wisconsine. It was wern down by the elee
ments, then thrioe‘lubﬁarged beneath prehletoric cceans Ly a
sinking of the earth's surface and covered Ly sediments,
Ralised finally from the waves, 1t wis washed clear ¢f the
depcelits Ly still further centurles cf eroslon, then battered
by four successive ccntinentsl glaclers, Dut In contrast to
other places where the glnaierc surged cover slmllar monadnocks,
there is no glacially~borne traln of rounded quartsite boulders
south of Rib Mountain; the lcee~sheets falled to pass 1te crest.

The first cceanic inundeticn cecurred perhape six hundred
millien years agoj the last glaclal descent, soume tens of
thousands of years ago. As & result of this eternal esiege by
@ll the fcrces of nature, the mcuntsln retsins but & etud of
1ts former Alpine loftiness.

All over the slopes great angular boulders jut up through
the vegetuticn, in places eo thlck they resemble & fleld of
fallen monclithe. These rocks have been aplii from the moune
tain by tree rcots, frost, or sudden changes in tempersture,

" natural forces still contlinuing thelr age-old attack upon the
hupe quartzlte mess. Scd on the mountainside is thin, but
suffiglent to suppert underbrush and denee woodgrowth. Since
the days when heavy logging with timber slide and railrcad
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stripped the virgin ferest from its flanks, a small second
gfowth of piﬂa and mlxed hardwcods has arisen. The forest iIn
fall 1s richly cclored; deep red sumacs mask heaps of sunlit
boulders am;d the heavier growth, and the yellow c¢f popple and
bireh and the flaming hues of the maples show vividly against
the green of the preduminant pines, In spring, despite the
destruction of mﬁﬁﬁ of the origlnal flora, there are many wild

" flowers~~squirrel corn, spring beautles, snd, notably, trilliuus.

In 1927 the Kiwenis Club of Waussu acquired title to 160

acres of land at the summlt of what then wes called Rib N1l
and sccn theresfter gave it to the State as & State park area,
The 8tate later purchased three additiogﬂl fortles to Iincrease
the size of the tract to 280 acres. In 1637 the Wausau Chamber
of Commerce was successful In Interestling the Natlonal Park
Service in davuloping e winter eports eres on the écrth slde
of the mountaln, snd the Kiwanis Club aoquired, by public
solicitation, an additicnal forty acres of land and right-of-viy‘
from the Marathen Clty rgad. Today the park has camping and -

" plenlcking eccommodations, with drinking water and senitary
fucllitles, obgervaticn pointe, & good read and parking places,
hikln&‘téniii, and markers designating pointe of geologle or

scenic 1ntorunb.
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The view from the top of Rib ¥ountsin 1s the moet exe
tensive in Wisccneln, Except for ebout thirty degrees, where
the pleteau of the mountain tcp iteelfl intervenes, the entire
eircle of the lorizcn 1s revealed, stretohing Into hesy dlee
tancess The landscape is uneventful, an encrmcug dlisc of
green wocds and lightﬁr green flelds, with such relief features
ag ridges and moraines virtually oblitarated by the flattening
effect of the perespective. Wausau, Lake Wausau, and the guburbs
of Rothechild nﬁd Schofleld are mere incidente, small angular
patehes of occlor and smcke strung along the thread of US 51. |

On the hill ibaelr, however, are many odd roek formations
-=Sunget Peint, Sunrlise Pcint, the Queen's Chalr, Falling Rock,
and sc forths Whet wae formerly considered the highest geow
graphlic polnt Iin Wisconsin i deslignated at the top of a
queerly-balenced heap of giaauy rocks, 1,947 feet above sea
levels 4 remessurement of eome cther Wisconein hills, notably
- Buger«Bush In Forest Ccunty, displecling the roughly-taken
figures of fht early rallrcad bullders, has caet sericus doubt
on RIb Hountain's cleim to be the higheet point. Though the
argumint on thie matter ieo carried on with more 'eat and
partisanship then selence, 1t means little to the sctual
scenic value of the mcﬁnbnin, which remains an cutstanding

landzark regardless of the sltitudes of other crests,
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‘ In the winter of 1987 construction of the winter sports

E development began, Civillan Conservaticn Corps crews oub

é timber and brush from a slope 2,500 to 3,000 feet 1ong‘und

E 3560 to 480 réet wide, then, with trectors chugging, tore cut
stumps and burned the waste., Afterwards, swinging ten or

: twelve-puund nauls, the boys worked fcr weecks smashing down

pho innumerable rocks and boulders te an approximately level
surface. At the conclusicn of this lebor an open slope and
five tralls had been prepared, The open slope h&s 8 meximum
grade of 256 degrees and a minimum of 6 degrees; into it the
tralls enter at varicus levels, These tralls range in diffi-
culty from novlol to expert, uith grudes from twe to 20 degreos,
lengths from 700 te 2,900 feet, and turns of varying difficule
ties. From top to bottom of the meuntalin Le & 8,100-foot
siil-tow (rates vary; 45 to 50£ for 3 trips; §1 bo §1.50 sll dey)
operated by private concesslon and cuqula of earrying 70

persons at cne time. Sklers can get on the tow at the bottom

of the hill or at & point at the foot of some of the tralls
about halfway up.

On ¥arch 6, 1938, thirteen monthe after the CCC boys had
begun the work of imprcverent, the Central U. 5. Skl Assocle
aticn's first slalom, downhbill and combined champlonships were
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run down the RLID Mountaln tralls end slopes under the sponsorship
of the Wausau Skl Club, Since then the Chamber of Commerce and
cther local groups have glven vigorous publiclty to the winter
sporta dovelopment with the double cblect of seeling funds from
the community te further improve the -ren.nnd of attracting
winter sport seekers to come to the mountalne

In the winter of 1988-0 the accommodaticns included a
rough shelter house, the skletow, and parking lots, 8Skis were
oceesicnally avallable for renting, and bus transportation wes
provided when groups c¢f 25 or more notifled the Chamber of
Commerce in advance, A new shelter house of rough stone, with
complete firet ald, lunohrcom, and other facillitles, ls to be
btullt with funds gathered from private denstlons. The slope
iteelfl ie belng sodded by the Civillan Conservation Corps crews
to cover the many projlecting pointe of quertzite that still
obtrude, though with & feoet or mere of wellepacked encw these
are not dangercus.s It ls planned slso to lnstall toboggen
chutes and Junior and senlor lﬁi Jumps. :
S4e and 38, The RED GRANITE QUARRIES of the Anderson Fros. &
Jotneon Cos (2 ms nerth cn US 51, then 1.5 ms east on town
road) and the Rib Mountain Granite Cos (10 m. north on US 51,
then 0.5 me east on a town reoad from a red brick churech) are

among the more acceesible of the granite quarries north of
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the city. Both are lLimense pite cof brillilent red stcne gaping
anld uvrushecovered, rccky flelds. Nountainoue plles of grin-
1te Vlocks, dlscarded because of flaws or discoloration, are
heaped to one utdc; Crance powered from adjoinling sheds 1ift
chunks of stene welghing tens of tons from the bottoms of the
grest holes to thelr brinks, where workmen with alr-drills,
ohiiolu, and wedges cut them roughly inte a size and shape
sultable for tﬁo purpcse for which they are ultlmetely intended,

Koet are used for gravestones.
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LEISURE HOURS

On winter eveninge, when the sun bad slipped down behind
Rib Hountaln and wind sheck the tall pines, covering the clear-
ing kneewdeep with drifte, the woodemen would gather in the
ghacks at Blg Bull Palls. Fere they would smoke for an hour
or so befure turning in, or, on SBaturday nighte, rest from the
strenuous labors of the weeks Frequently a famillar yarn,
tossed from mouth to mouth, would start the evening's entere
tainment, Generally there vni a musiclan in cemp. Then, when
the alr wee rank with steam, the emell of drying socke, and
tobacco smoke that velled the room and hung in blue clouda
around the flickering lanterns, the wells would eche to the
high squeak of & flddle. BSocn a dogen stockinged feet would
be beating time to & shantyboy balled, while a volce here and
there would take up the melody until all the Jacks were bellowlng
out the scong with a volume that drowned the wind's sound,

When the men tired of singing, & dance would begine, Several
husky men wor§ designaeted women by the simple expedlent of tying
‘a colored bandanna arcund thelr arme. Then they lined up egalnst
the wall, awalting the approach of partners and the grotesque
bow thet requested & turn on the dance-floor, OCentlemen and
"ladles" Jigged awkwardly over the crude punchecn floors in
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bare or stocklnged feet, stopping now end then to pull &
eplinter from a focts 8uch were the simple and jovial pleasures
of men alone in the wilderness, dependent upuvn thelr cwn resources
for release from the menotoncus routine of winter<long timberw
cuttiings

Otherwlse recreation toock the slmple and prinmltive forms
of "chawing" tobacco from toothemauled plugs, "rough-house"
antics, or Saturday night toots of whiskey swigging. Although
the bullding of a crude sled road between Btevens Point and
Wausau in 1845 ended the lsolation of Big Pull Falls, and the
wiﬁos, slsters, and mothers of woocdsmen began to arrive, the
aobtlcmonb.fnmalncd essentlally a man's town wlere yarn-spine
ning, drinking, and figl ting continued as the chlef amusements,
For the next forty years the scclal waters were annually
ruffled by rolstering young glants who stormed cut of the
lunber camps in spring and descended upon Wausau wlth & winterts
pay burning in thelr pouckets. With mackinaws cf hlazing‘plulds,
stegged pants, and jeunty woclen cape, they trod the streets
and swarmed the taverns, scarring the board walks and floore
with thelr calked boots end rending the peaceful atmosphere
with the noiaq of drunien brawls. Kven more cbstrepercus were

the rivirmon, who rode the loge down to the sawnille here or
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6§ snubbed thelr rafts on the riverbaenk for an overnight stop.
"A rafteman would just me soon stadb you as look at you" went
the paying in the river towns,

"The old-tlmers," says -one local sccount, "can still tell
steries of the lumberj-okl' ennual invaesion, the practical
Jokes, the flghte, the drinking, the pcker games, the wild
exuberance of men on the locse after & long, bleak winter of
bard toll...It wﬁa the periocd when nh§ Wisconein River was a
thoroughfare for the mighty lumber industry...when a man sho
poured water in his whiskey was an object of derilsion, when
@ bar was & place where men could ewesr end spit on the floor,
when women took the cther side of the street rather than pass
a saloon, when Johnny rushed the 'growler'! to the back door,
usually labelled 'FPamily Intrance!, and when every saloone
keepor dreamed of the time when he could install crystal chane-
deliers and a mahogany bar."

Before regular postal service was established in 1868,
mall ceme haphazardly with any selfeappointed postman who "just
chanced to be goin' north to Big Pull Palle." These arrivals
always created i flurry that brightened the monotony of lonely
dayes 1ott§ro offered an opportunity to share the news with

neighbors, and a newapaper, regardless of 1te age, created a
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sensation that lested until 1t had gone the rounds. Even more
exclting was the occwming of the stageccach., Seversl times a
week the lumbering vehlcle would rell inte town behind e panting
four-horese team, urged along by the snepplng blackenake of the
driver. The drivers were swaggering, besrded, herde-drinking
mén whe wore the practlcal uniform of any woodsmaneeflannel
ablrs, bright mackinaw of fleece-lined sheepskin, corduroy
trousers tucked into high, loosestopped boots, and a battered
e¢loth or fur cep. They cculd swear and fight and drink as

hardily as any lumberjeck and could handle thelr teams and

cunbersome rig with the eklll of a bowle-knife thrower., They
brought into the drab frontier life a romantic interlude whioch
provided the occcesion for feminine flutters; and, more essenw
tially, they carrled information of the cutside world and
brought new personallities to the settlement, sterved for "some-
thing different." :

Oradually, however, the brawling viclence of a purely
magculine soclety was tempered by softer influences, and scclal
life entered a new phase of barn and tuvcrn'danoea, "arounde
the=-gtove" talks in the general etore, soclable whittling on
front door stoope} hhi self-sufflelient, home-spun entertainment

of box scclals, husking bees, chureh suppers, qulliting bees;
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and.the gympathetic got-togethere of funersles, marriages, and
birthe, The women gt first bed little diversion from the many
cares of ploneer home-making. Dovotiomal‘meatlnga, when people
gathered in private homes for an evening of hymneeinging;
temperance soclety meetings; and, at rare intervals, weddings
and christeninge, formed the principsl amusoments in their
quiet dbut busy lives., Later qﬁilting bees and ledlies ald
gsocleties were formed in the churches.

All this time social 11fe had been essy and casual,
revelving around any chance entertalnment that the ordinary
stream of evente cest up, 1In the epring of 1883, for the firet
time, it took on & more formal air when John Le Messurler celes
brated the lnsuguration of Pres, Franklin Plerce at his new
combinaticn hotel and tavern with a dence, and lssued a ﬁrinted
1nv1tnhlons'

INVITATION T0 INAUGURATICON BALL
The company of yourself and Ledy ls respectfully
golliclted te attend & ball in Wausau on Friday, ﬂurah

- 4th, 1863, at the House of John Le Wessurier,

Kusic Ly ¥, Ruuslosu'a bands

All Weusau attended the festivities, the women decked out

in voluminous calico dresses, shawlp, and bonnets, or, if they

had been lucky enough to arrive with their trunks, perbaps a
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8ilk bocpeskirt and embroldered bodlice; the men mostly in
ovornlli, speclally washed for the cccaelon, colored ehirts,
end high boots.

The ladies lipped punch and nibbled at iced gakel. while
- the gentlemen, on good behavicr, kept e; beer and home-made
wines; then togethex they "tripped 1t" on the dance«floor,
Popular music of the pericd included the "Virginia Reel," the
"President's March," the "Irish Trot," the "Devil's Dream,"
"The Irish Washerwomen," "Cheat the.Lady," and "Pop Goes the
Weasel." The promlsed band consisted of Mike Nousseau, his
unbeatadble fiddle, and his resounding velce which called out
the figures of the square dance of quadrlille above the joyous
squeak of tﬁe strings. Hereafter dances were frequent ccour=
rences, and socn the young people had thelr part in the soclal
1life, holdlng parties at which they danced or played such games
as "Pupsy Wants a Corner," "Drop the Hnndkerdhief;“ and "Spinning
the Plate."

By 1858 there were four inne here--the Blue Eagle, the
Lake Superior House, the Forest House and Hall, ind the Rivere
slde House--an indloatlion of Wauseu's transformation from
lumber camp settlement to trading center for the Cerman immie

grants who had begun to farm the surrcunding valleys about 1856,
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As elsewhere in frontler America the Inns assumed the function
of soclal gatheringeplaces for every type of occeslon from
drinking bouts to church services. Although the exacting toil
of pleneering left little time for recreation, Yike Rousseau
and his fiddle were more and more in demend, Activities were
slmple, dcmbcratic, unh-apcped by scelal reetrictions. Everye
one was welcomed regardless of dress, nationality, or 1noumo.'
In sharp contrast with the purely individual enterprise
that bad so far provided mcst of the local entertainment was
the communlty recrdational development that marked the begine
ning of the 1860's. Larly in this decade Columbla Park, with
plenie grounds end e small dance<hall, was opened in connection
with CGeorge Ruder's brewery, 8con 1t became the recreation
center for all Waussu. Later, when the close-knit bonds of
frontier 1ife had locsened and scelal lines began to be drawn,
it became, and for almost S50 years remalned, the park of the
working populaiion-ﬁhc familles of mill«shande and laborere
in the 1ndﬁltriou now developings In 1867 B, G, Plumer and
August Klckdusch, eager to extend improved farming methods in
the surrounding trede area, deeded a tract of land for a
falrground, The next year the grounds were partislly cleared

of loga and stumpa, and a rece-track wes lald ocut. Nere on
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the Fourth of July, 1868, was held the first raece meet, when
¥e De Coursey's "Thunderbolt," Jule Posey's "Blue Devil," a
horse called "Sleepy Kate,™ and other horses presented "one
of the most exclting events held in the community.” In
September of the same year Wausau cltizens enjoyed a "gentlee
men's horse race™ between the filly of W, D. Nelndoe and
August Kickbusch's colt "Prince."

Another chink was mede in the wall that eircumsecribed
the village's fun when Jacod Eolter erected Nuslc Hall at the
corner of Third and Waeshington Strects, three blocks from the
river, in 1869, Kolter was laughed at for locating bils "house
_of p;eanuro' so far from the main settlement, with 1lta bumpy
roads and lots full of pine stumps; the men used to say "You
can't get anything wet at Jeke's; he's too far from th; river.”
Nevertheless, for wore than 85 yesars thls hall wes a focel
peint of the scolal, intellectual, and politicel llfe of Wausau,
becoring the community meeting-place for everything from lectures
on "Woman's Rights® to the purcly mascullne song festlivals of
the Liederkranz. An old lecbunt whick describes the opaning
indicates the nature of the soelal activities that flourished

theres
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"One had to go out Into the night when the stars were
shining, when the wind was soughing through the pines of that
black pall in the east, and the river wss moaning In the west,
to have the aense of an almost overcoming loneliness pressed
home with tremendous powerwethe 'muslec of the wilderness' was
nlﬁtyl good and heavy. Dut the afternoon of that long September
day in 1869 wore on to twllight, The carpenters had completed
the finlshing touches.., the keroscne lamps were lighted early,
and early, too, came the little band of musiclans,..The soclety
element of Wausau in '69 had been on tiptoe for weeks and as
soon after supper as we could get the paper collars buttoned
around our necks we started for the party. Men, women, and
children in all kinds of clothes, but with clean hands and a
slick 'halr comb', some dogs and maybe a wolf or a wildcat
pald thelr reapects to the new bullding and the proprietor A
that night, The men inspected all the 'departments'! thoroughly,
the women gossiped as only women can on extraordinary oncnai&ns
of this kind and the children fell asleep or got lost, Two or
three of the women folks had pretty big hoop skirts for these
parts and they were tremendous swells, One beautiful young
damsel (a grandmother now, whose saintly face we see not
infrequently on our streets) we remember dilstinctly as the

belle of the ball, But all good things come to an end and
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80 that night,..the hall was started on its journey of thirty
odd yaarl.or pain and pleasure, prosperity and poverty, through
youth, maturity and decay to demolition,"

As Wnugau acquired the semblance of permanent settloment
and 1ts cltizenry gradually shed the more uncouth aspects of
lumbertown soclety, recreation took a turn toward regularized
activitles under the influence of formal soclal organizations,
The earliest and most important of these was the church, In
Wausau the lack of regular church bulldings and pastors teme
porarily limited the activities of congregations to religious
sorvices; in 1809, however, the lMethodlsts erected a church,
Other congregations soon put up their own bulldings, and by
the 1870's village soclal life revolved around church-sponsored
baszaars, partiea, plenics, lcecream socials, and dimmers, One
of the early peaks of such entertainments wes reached in 1878,
when the local Cathollc church sponsored a falr at Music Hall,
with three days of community singing, cdancing, ind cating,

The 1870's saw a typlcal ploneer American soclety, flavored
by soclael instltutions which the Cerman immlgrants brought from
Furopes In the latter part of the decade Frank Schubert, locsl
musicemaster, took over the management of Colunbla Park, giving
it his own name, For many years, under several managementa,

this continuned to provide Cerman food, beer, and music, In
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1875 the Wausau Schuetzoen Vereln, or Sharpshooters'! Soclety,
waa formed by'-ovaral men, a liat of whose names reads like
a German telephone directory: Hueller, Mehl, CGritzmacher,
Werhelm, Volz, Plscher, Kolter, leuman, The aoolat}, which
had edopted the slogan "lit Cood," soon bullt a B0e=acre
shooting range in the southwest part of the present Marathon

- County Park, where 1t held practice tournamentas, In 1890 the

85hnetgoe Verein became s membor of the Horth Wisconsin Shooting
Union, It ocontinued in existence until it disbanded in 1028,
With the rapld increase of wealth there began a clearlye
maried stratification of social life, and cliques, circumscribed
by wealth, family, and education, arose, Many of the fashionable
masquerade balls, dances, and lawn parties, brightened by the
new game of croquet, were limited DLy invitaetion now, Neverthoe
less, the greater part of the populatione-immlgrants, laborera,
and seasonal lnhabltantse-continued to enjoy the old, free,
pleasant camaraderie of becr gardens, taverns, parks, end the
community halls And speclal occasions still called forth the
traditional rustlc festivities, Narrlages were regularly
grected with rousing charivaris, despite the Central Wisconsin's
admonition that "We really do not think 1t 1s the proper thing

to make so much nolse, because a newly married couple needs

eympathy and quietness,”
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Although the ralilroad diminished the city's dependence
upon its own amusement rosources, for some years outslde
influence waa onlyrcn&ually felts The local appearance of
the %, W, Coles Tent Show and Menagerle in 1079 provided the
first entertalnment sensation from the outside, In 186€1 an
exhibition of the Edlson phonograph and of a balloon, which
refused to ascend on the day the town turned out to watch
it, left the whole population overwhelmed by the lmport of
modern, news={angled ihvanticna. Although formally a city
eince 1872, Wausau'a first cleaneup came 1n 13&1 when
Mayor Carl loeflinger directed a campalgn against the
gaudlly decked women, who rode through the streets behind
liveried drivers, tralllng the scent of musk and patchoull
and ogling the rustic youths This clean-up marked the turn
into maturity of the young lumbering town which for 40 years
had been sowing 1ts wild oats,

By thls time the Wisconsin Valley Hellroad had maehed.
Herrill, 20 mlles upstream, and Wausau had become the focal
business clty of the upper Wisconsin River wvalley, MNore
forms of commerclalised rocreation appeared, though the entire
emphasls was still on partlcipation rather than mere watching.
In 1868 the Delils Hotel installed the first pool tables, and
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in 1867 Emmet Darden opened the first oxcluaslve pool and
billlard hall, Samuel Switzer had an lce skating rink,

"a beautiful place™, in 1880, though the old custom of
shovelling or flooding a large open ﬁlaca on the river and
skating around huge bonfires had by no means vanished,
Shinny games, masquerades on the 1ce, and sketing races all
enlivened theao outdoor rinks, Coasting parties assembled

on the Pourth Street hill, where, according to one report, '
fthe long run and beautiful night made cacoﬁing a pleasure,”
By 1886 bobogganinglhnd begun, aend the Central Wlsconsin
called it "perhaps the most healthful of winter sports,
It is the lmproved method of comsting. We should organize
a club,"” Slelghriding, too, was popular; people bundled
up, snuggled under the hay, and rode along einging to the
musle of Jingling sleighebells, In 1864 Mesars, Dana,
Alexander, and Johnson built a roller rink, and during
these years walking matches on the half-mile track at the
falrgrounds also were popular, Meanwhile the increasing
tuﬁrara in connection with political campigns made torche
"light parades, barbecues, bands, and rallles a major sourse
of comaunity enjoyment,

The old forms of amisement eonéinued on an evor more

ambitious scals, Dealdes the racing tracks and shooting
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mng;n, skating, swimming, {lshing and ixunting, new amusement
opportunities speedlily multipllied, In 18686 Andrew Warren, Jr,,
bullt one of the largest amusement parks in the State, south
of Garfleld Avenue, Beneath plne tréea were an 1mmena; dance
hall, plenlc tebles and benches, a merryegoeround, a sunken
woll, a band stand, and a large shooting gallery partly
enclosed by a stone wall, Though Warren is supposed to
have intended giving this park to the oity, the buildings.
were burned, presumably Ly someone opposed to such forms of
recreation, They were rebullt on a smaller scale and a
baseball park was added, J. P, Werle purchased the park in
1889 and operated 1t until 1905, when most of the tract waes
platted into eclty lota, There 1s still local speculastion as
to which house 18 now located over the home plate of the
l famous Wausau Lumberjacks of preewar years,

The Grand Theater became the scene of pugllistic
encounters, In 1884 the first fight on record featured
George Flnney, lightwelight champlion of Vilsconsin, who
knocked out hias man in four rounds, Another bout of about
the same time was hardly satisfactory, for the newapaper
reported "The prige fight held at the Orend Theater last
night was more or less of a flzsle, Two of the cloverost
lightwelights eparred six rounds, A couple of our boys gave
an exhibition of side-hold wrestling,” Nevertheless the

e =



Dieter :
Jenson Leisure Hours

aport prospered, In 1885 Burke and Chandler drew a blg ecrowd;
in 1888 Jannett and Davis put on "a sharp encounter, Janett
being the winner," A Nr, Johnson of Michigan thereupon was
brought in tb test Mr, Davis, but Davis beat him and took
the entire purse of $100 besides all the gate roceipts.

Woanwhile the Schuetzen Vereln was holding annual
game~hunts that included. the shooting of wild turkeys, and
whist had come into vogue, Two business men's whist clubs
annually strove for the lacal champlonships the losors had
to provide the winners with a lavish oyater supper at the
Wirlght louse, |

The Germans, as before, vigorously supported any publie
celebration, local, reglonal, or National, So greal was
thelr zeal for observing the becentennial of the first Gorman
settlement In the United States in 1683 that they celebrated
the occaslion a whole year ahead of time, To the blare of a
band the Clorious Fourth Germania Cuards paraded through the
streets to the plenle grounds of the Sclumetzen Verein for a
day of feasting, spoocches, and g:ﬁou such as sackeracing
and pole~climbings A gala dance at Music Hall ended the
celebration, When the proper date did arrive, the German
population,.now in fine fettle for becentennial fentivities;

celebrated even longer and harder, According to the Wausau
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Review of September 9, 1883, 1t was ",..the unanimous voice
that the street procession was the grandeat ever wltnessed
;t Wausau and would have done honor to a place tén times the
population of our place, As 1t was, it proved a sublime
affalr and the day will long live green in the memorles not
only of our.Germnn fellow cltigens, but of the poople of
other tongues, and native-born Americans as well, who are
only sorry that they were gussl, only guests, and unable to
more asslst our Cerman fellows, okaapt by thelr preasence
and taeking part in the general armsements,”

The procession had been organized unostentatiousaly,
almost secretly, and when revealed left the spectators stunned
with 1ts magnificence, Behind the flag~bearer and hls escort
of two lancers in 16th century costume, twelve knighte 1n
full armor rode on horsebacks Then, Interspersed among troops
of lanoors; mounted Indlans, patriclans and burghers in 16th
contury costume, bands, and athletic groups, came floats
represonting Arminius leading the Teutons against Home,
Columbus discovering Amerlca, Germania surrounded by Indlan
éﬁrla, Pocahontas, the United States surmounted by the CGoddess
of Liberty and the I8 states, Germania and Cerman burghesses
in 16th century costume, and Preciosa and the Daughter of the
Regliment with four girls in Cerman peasant costume, When
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Columbus' vessel capalged at the corner of Third and Vashington
Streeta, committeemen calmly explained'fhat the incident repre=
sented his mishap at the Canary Islands, Then followed a
number of wdigons representing vaerious local Iindustriesy that
of George huder, the brewer, displayed King Gambrinus and six
husky brewers malting and making beer in the old German fashion,
using nothing but barley and hops; behind tagged a car showing
"Nilunuﬁoo beer” being concocted by a chemist dressed as
Mephisto, who with gless jars and druge converted ordinary
well water into alleged beor within a fow minuéea. After the
parade the oommunity‘oelobruted 311 afternoon at Schubert's
Puék with mausic, beocr, and ipeanhea, and all evening at
Music Hall with tableaux, songs, and more speeches,

In 1882 John.C, Gebhard helped to organize anothsr.
typloally German institution, the Turnverein, or gymmastic

club, In 1885 the members attendsd a !hrnfasg at lLa Crosse,
winning tourth‘priao, and in 18387 the State Turnverein
Festival was held at Waussu, More than 1,000 visitors came
for the three«day meeting, After 1887 a professalonal ine
structor was hired, and monthly clsases were conducted in
Muslc NHall, where boys, girls, and adults mot on different
days. Four years later the Soclety moved to Schubert's Hall
on Grand Avernie; but when in June of the sane yewr the bullding
burned, the organization dlsbanded,
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During the 1880%'s horse-racing attained great popularity,
drew hundreds of people to Waussu and gave rise to big betting
rings, In 1881 a few prominent eitisenﬁ Incorporated the
Driving Park Assoclation to encourapge the bre=ding of fast
trotting atock, BSoon everyone in Weusau spoke wihhlpriae
of "Gertrude C,," "Jimmy Oreen," "Maggle K ,® and "Sip
Davis," Otto Klcikbusch's "Dayton Belle" won firet prige in
a famous match race in DePere, and, acecord’ng to newspaper
accounts, "would have shown her importance at Oshkosh and
Janesville, but races wore postponed on account of rain,"
Cutter racing also became popular, and a cutter race between
Kickbuach's "Jimmle Oreen™ and James Fdee's "Croy Cloua",
with the latter victorlous, attracted great excitement, For
one year, 1886, Wausau even hud a polo team, which lost a
2 to 1 game to Stevens Point. In 1897 the Marathon County
FPalr and Agricultural Soclety became a member of the North
Wisconsin and Minnesota falr circult, organized to provide
continuous weeks of horse racing at the variaué county mects}
the heavier purpes thus péovidad began to draw 1n outslde
entrice, and the local Driving Park Assoclation eventually
was abandoned,

During the "Gay Ninetles" recrcation in Wsusau continued,
for tho_moat part, along llnes alrendy.astﬁbliahcd, with the
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gradual development of formalized sports, Interost in bosing
waxed particularly strong, and in 1894 FPinney opened s fiatle
school here, ﬂoilar akating was popular, and at a benofit
party held at the MeClellan Street Bink the Ladles Rellef
Socloty ralsed Y100 in a single night, Any new mode of-
entertalnment ;vna quickly accepted, and when the bicvele
craze struck Wausau 't became the fad of the decado,

In April, 1893, a pumbor of local men:organized the
limusau Wheelmen's Club, ecstablishing tholr headquarters in
the shop of a blcycle dealer who had offered to it out a
clubrooms Two years lator the organization felt sufficiently
well=prepared to undertake a tournament, It decided on a
uniform conalsting of maroon cap and sweater, corduroy
trouser, black stockings, and black shoes, and set the course
for a 17-mlle handlcap race, at the same tlme passing & resoe
lutlon agalnst fast riding, or "scorching," on Third Street,
For aeveral years thereaftor the cross-country race was an
annual event, and the Wheolmen'a Club regularly participated
in such ooccasions as G, A, R, WMemorial parades and Decoration
Day activitlioes,

in 1696 the Marathon County Falr offered priszes amounting
to $250 to contestants in a half-mile open race, a halfemile
race for boye under 17, and amateur mile, twoenile, and
five-mile handlicep open races, For the third annual road
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race, in 1897, prizes ranging from a $100 Andrae racer to &
dollar's worth of lce~croam sodas were offereds There were
soveral participants from other citles, but, perhaps due to

the way the handicaps were diatribuﬁoﬂ, local entrlies usually
won most 5: the priges, Vomen, as well as mon and ehildren,
took up the sport, and peledtrians of the 1800's often had to
scramble out of the path of bleycles carecring down the streets,
propelled, epparentl-, by a palr of dark bloowors attached to

a white middy,

Soveral clube soon arcse, and the State divislons of
the League of American Wheeluen sometimes held thelr meets in
Wausaus The arrival of automobiles brought about a decline
of Interest in bleycleeriding; all of the local organi#ationn
disbanded, and 1In 19014 there was not a single bieyele shop
licted in the ecity directory, In recent years, however,
several dealers have set up business in roaponse to a
resurgence of interest in cyecling,

The nhhlptio history of Weussu High School began in
1807, when the first football team was formed, Under
Professor Wilson the boys, elad 1n thelr fathera! panté
stuffed with padding, lost to Orand Rapids 42«0 and Stevens
Point 18«40, In the next gameo iith the Raplds, Prof, %ilson
lined up with his puplls "to sort of balance up the teams,"
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but the locals lost anyhow, 32«0, 'ﬂr 1899, however, Wausen
claimed a "cham>ionship” for having the beat record among
nelghborlng teams, then won another in 1908 and ran second
to Merrlill in 1912, Until World War.t;mea the high eschool
scheduled such opponents as the Wausau Buslness College and
the Stevens Point ﬂofﬁnl Schools In 19018 the Wisconsin
Valley Conference 'aarorganiaed arxl since then Wausau has
won slx champlonehipe, with the undefeatoed 19805 toam probably
the greatosts Basketball, meanwhile, hed begun in 1008 but
had been a very minor sport until 1926, when sultable gyme
nasium facilitles were provided, 8Since then Weusau has been
fornideble in conference competition and won two Staté Class A
chanplonships, In 1920 and 1938, Hockey, which begen in 1081,
haa had increaelng popularity and now rivals basketball anong
interscholastic winter sports; boxing also has been introduced,
Although 1t was not untll 1928 that organirzed curling
tournaments or bonsplels were held in Weusau, tho game hos
long been a favorite winter sport among Loth young and old,
Curling scoma to have originated in Scotland, where In feudal
times 1t was the custom for onc baron with Mis tenantry %o
challeﬁge another, later, the parishes or dlatricts played
against cach other, competing for the prize of a boll of
meal or coals for the poor of their regions, Pennant, the

felsh naturallst, spoke of this game in the doseriptlon of
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his famous tour of Scotland in 1771: "Of all the sports in
this part, curling is the favorite, It 18 an emusement of
the winter and 1s played upon the lce by sliding from one
mark to anothere-great stones from forty to seventy poundas
in welght, of hemlspherical rorm with a wooden or iron
handle at the tops The object of the playor 1s to lay the
stone as near the mark as possible and guard that of his
partner which has been well lald before, or to strike off
that of his antagonlnst," lie negloctad, however, to mention
one of tho most curiuua aspects of the game: playara‘rush
nlongijuat in front of the slowemoving stones swiftly sweeping
the lce with brooms In order to gulde them toward or away
from the mark.

Nany of the mlnor Scottish poeis have honored eurlingt‘

Keen, kconer still, as life 1tsell wore staled,
Eindles the friendly strife. One points the line
To him, who, polsing, aims and silus againg
Another runs and sweeps where nothing lles,
Succeas alternately, from side to side

o8, and qulck the hours unnoted fif.
T1ll 1ight begins to fall, and deep below,
Til1 pln{;r &8 he stoopa to 1ift his stone,
Soen, ha -increduloue, the rilsing mocn,
But now the final, the decisive, spell
Begina, Near and more nesr, the sounding stones
Come winding in, and some, bearing straipght along,
Crowd Jostling all around the mark, with one
Just slightly touchling, Vietory depends
Upon the final aim; long awings the stoncwe
Then, with full force, careening, furiously
Rattling, 1t strikes aside both Priend and foe,
Maintalns 1ts force and takes the victor's place,
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‘Dnring the 1870%s interest in the game was spreading,
encouraged by the UGrand Natlional Curling Club, Among the
Scottish settlers of Columbla County curling vaé rmch
fancled; there were many skilled players about Poynette,
Caledonla, and Otsego, and Portage had a speclal curling
elub and rink In the 1880's, Not long afterward the
sport was teken up in Wausau, where it has continued to
hold iti own up to the present day, The city has three
curling rinks and twelve teams,

Before the twentleth century several new sports, far
removed from the simple and rustic divo;niana of two decades
before, had already found favor in Weusau, There wero amatour
teams representing the schools and industrial plants in come
petitive football, baseball, and basketball; tennis was
replacing croquet in popularity, In 1899 a golf club was
formed, encouraged by L. A, Pradt, who had dlscovered the
game in Washington, D, C, The first enthusiasts played in
an ordinary pastureelot, conveniently vacant except for
soveral cowa which served as hasards, By 1908 the game had
attracted enough devotees to warrant the organization of the
Vausau Country Club, with 40 charter members, A 60-acre
tract was bought from the Marathon Paper ¥ills Company, and
a golf course, with the orthodox hazards of water and roughs,
was laid out,
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But dominating ell other sports in the first decade of
the century was baseball, There 18 record of local clubs
having played in 1871 and 1872, The first mention of an
intoreclty game came in 1@7?, when the Wausau Forestors
beat Waupaca 27 to 10 and Jenny (Merrill) 38 to 16, In
1083 two local teams were competing, one of which, tho Jinm
Orows, was defeated by Merrill 26 to 9, The next year,
after defeating Merrill 17 to 5, the local club went into
recelvership. Though it was revived on an inter-city basis
briefly in 1886 and again in 1902, baseball mainly was
relegated to a plenle sport, where moustachloed playors
nomuﬁimnu rauﬁd a beor keg at first base and another at
home plate,

In 1904 the cltles of Weusai, Oshikosh, Fond du lLac,
Green Bay, La Crosse, Beloit, Madison, and Precport
organized the WisconslneIllinols league and Wausau entered
into ite greatest baseball glory. After playing good ball
the first three years, the Lumber jacks took second place

in 1907 and won the champlonship in 1908, The "iron man"
feats of those days 8tl1ll atand amagingly on the record

bookss On August 18, Frank Lang, Wausau piltcher, hurled
both ends of a double<header agalnst Madlson and won two
shuteouts by 1«0 acores, After setting a league record
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for 16 strikeouts agalnst Fond du Lac in the same year, Lang
went to the Chicago White Sox. Another Wausau pltcher,
Clarence Dunber, also won a double~hesder, beating Roclkford
6«3 and 4e~l, Ward Miller of Wausau, the league's leading
batter with a ,383 percentage, was signed by the Chicago Cubs,

Though its financlal contributions to the league were
satisfactory and its buseball superb, Wausau was dropped thu'
year after winning the champlonship., It has always since been
claimed that Wausau "wag thrown out of the league for its
supposed presumption to play good ball and win the pennant
agalinst cltlies twice its size," The Lumberjacks then Jolned
such ¢itles as La Crosse, Hau Claire, Rochester, Duluth,
Superior, and Winona in the Wisconsin-Hinnesota lesgue and
plnjed first division ball for four yeara, after which they
re-entered the Wisconsin-Illinols lemgue in 19128, The league
was disbanded the next yeoar, however; three of the Wausau
players were injured in a train wreok; and the excitement of
the World Waer put a permanent damper on local baseball
enthuslasm, FPFor the past fifteen years Wausau has been
represented in verlous temporary Wisconain Valley or other
Intra-atate leagues, with softball becoming a serious rival
for popularlity in the 1930's,
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Thus in place of the old pasttimes, in which tﬁe main
emphasls was upon participation, the success of high school
sports and baseball Ineugurated the perlod of spectator sports,
in which most of the people watched the most highly skilled
few perform, Hockey, baseball, softball, football, and baskete
ball ell have thelr rabld devotees crammed with lore of the
record=books but only vaguely famillar with the actural
techniques of plays For thelr own recreation, local sportsmen
turn prinelpally to golf, tennis, or swimming, and the demand
for municipal tennis facilitles has never quite been satisfied
desplte the construction of courts in many local parks,

Meanwhile the popularity of the automoblile and the
construction of good romds after the World War brought an
entirely new phase into the local recreational ploture,
Tourists thronged in swiftlyeincreasing numbers to the
foresterimmed lakes of northern Wisconsin, and Waussu became
a maln gateway to and the principal supply socurce for the
northecentral lakes reglon, one of the oldest and beste
developed of Wisconsin resort districts,

Located strategically on US 51, one of the State's
prineipal vacation highways, Wausau derives considerable

direct beneflts from the stream of recreationeseeking
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touriste, It offers its tennis courts, golf courses, riding
stables, boathousecs, municipal swimmingepool, end tourlst
park, R1b Mountain State Park attracts thousands, and the
dalles of the Fau Claire River, 16 mlles east, provide a
:piuhicking ground beside the beauty of rugged rooks and
seethlng waters, PFor fishermen there are trout in the Little
Rib and Plover Rivers, bass in the Big Nau Claire, and pike,
bass, and the mighty mskellunge in the Big Rib, all within
ensy driving distance. The Chamber of Commerce offers vigie
tors such services as making reservations and supplying
information sn sporting facilitles, sccommodstions, and
prices in the nothern resort ragion. Throughout the summer
gay touriats, wearing dark glasses or sunevisors, carclessly
dressed in slacks, shorts, sweateshirts, sandals, and straw
hats, stop hore for lastemlinute supplies as they hasten
northward, 'And Vausau benefits even more indirectly through
its great wholesale trade with other commgnitiea in the resort
areca.

Winter brings a changes By the time the first flurry
of snow has whitened the crest and slope of Rib Nountailn,
the casual ecase of long summer days has dlsappéared before
the new enthusisam that aharbar woather brings, Window

displays change: skls, ice skates, and toboggans roplace
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the tennis racquets, golf clubs, and fishing reels of summer;
gabardine windbreakers, tweed jackets, gaudy wool shirts, ski
pants, boots, and rough woolen mittens replace the tennis
shorts, swimaing sults, and bright bandannas, PFor winter
here no longer means the lonely lsolation of pioneer days,
With summer's pasaslng, Wausau becomes not Just a stope=over

on the road to the northern lakes, but the destlnstion of
hundreds of visitors who crowd the city for the annual Winter
Frolic or for a weekwend of winter sports,

This interest 1s recent, however, Until about ten yoars
ago winter to the average Amerlcan was merely a cold period
to be endured with chattering teeth until'spring came again,
But in the late 1920%s, as the public turned morc snd more
to winter sports, Wausau began to advertise its naturnl-
advantages, In 1926 1t held ita'flret Winter Frolie, which
has since become an annual event that draws both state and
out-of-state fans and contestants, Today this Frolic is
the highlight of the winter sport seagson, offering a varied
program of speed and fancy skating, curling, tobogganning,
hockey matches, broomeball contests, snow modeling, asnow
shoe races, and skilng competitions,

Por a long time skiing in northern Wisconsin was & mode

of travel for snowebound cltizens; as a sport for youngsters
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it ranked behind skating and coasting, and only a few
Norweglans developed asklll in such variations nﬁ Jumping
or slalom running. Nevertheless, as far back as January, 1886,

a group cf sklers bearing such names as Oloaen, Honningstad,
| Hjermstad, and Mikkel NHemmosvedt, Norweglan ski champion,
organized the Aurora Skl Club of Red Wing, Minnesota, the
first of 1ts kind in America, This club held its first
skiejugping tournament in February, 1887, formally introe
dueing the new sport to the American publie, Later it gave
exhibitions at La Crosse and Eau Clalre, Wisconsing at
Ishpening, Mlchigan; and at Stillwater and St, Paul, Hinno-
sotas Though skiing fans organized amateur clubs after
seolng these exhibltions, the Red Wing Club, for the most
part, remalned the chlef exponent of the new sport until
1804 when eastern skiecludbs began to orgahino‘

By 1981 skling had won popular support in the east,

and interest in the new sport began to reach into the middle
weat, lWausau became awarc that Iin Rib Nountain 1t possessed
facilities unparalleled In the central states for downhill
sklings In 1937, thercfore, the Wausau Chamber of Commerce,
the State Conservation Commisslon, and the National Park

Service, working in cow-operation, began to develop 150 acres
of Rib Mountaln State Park into a winter playground, In
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1038 some 8,000 poople attended the highlight of the winter
sport festival, the first champlonshlp slalom and downhill
meet of the Central United 8tates Ski Assoclations Each
winter, when there 1s sufficlent snow to provide good skiing,
poople come to Lauseu for a weekesénd of fun, arriving either
by cars loaded with skis and poles or by speclal snow trains
from Millwaukee and Chlcago,

Hobody enjoys these new recreatlional facllities more
than the Wausau people themselves, Even those who soldom can
borrow the cquipment- and make the fiveemlle trip to Rib Hountain
share tpc onthuainaﬁa New terms appear in the local sporting
vocabularyws"telemark," "Christiania," "stem turns,® "etralght
downhill uliaoa,' "slalon," and the "Arleberg method," And
other winter aports sharo in the revived interest, The elght
lighted sketling rinks in the city proper are crowded overy
night, sometimes with as many as 5,000 people on u single rink,
Bven before thy first froeze clothes closets are rummaged, and
parents learn that "my feet have grown too blg for last year's
shoe skates," PFor here almost everyone who can walk ocan skatej
even the tinlest toddler, too young to go to the rinks, can
always £ind a frozen pond in hls own or his neighbor's backe

yird to scoot over on double-edged runners,
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. THE RURAL RUIGION
1  DBREAKING THE GROUND

Before white men came, forest coveved all of Harathon
County., In the spring trilliume, hepatice, Indian pipe and
Dutchman's breeches thrust up thelr hesds between the pine
needles on the forest floor, In the wintor evergrecns,
whitened by new rﬁllon snow, beceme thick darkegroen again
as boughs dlpped gently toward the ground and shed thelr
 burden, .Maplq, oak, birch and ash, hickory and basswood
8tood bare in winter, lﬁarod in summer, White, Norway and
Jackpine, spruce, balsan, henmlock, cedar, and fir were green
the year round, These trees grew to the very banks of the
Wisconsin River and its. tributaries; grasces sprung f{rom
the bottom lands, and in the marshes and valleys berries
grew lush and wild,

Today the western half of the county and a Lelt running
along the northern border is gentlﬁ rolling farmlaend turned
to pasture and feed crops, This is the reglon of the older
drift, where soll deposited by the eariler flaclers was left
untouched by the last descent of ice, Colby 8ilt loam pree
dominates here, an excellent scll for graasses and graing,

In the castern part of the county woodlots cover a largor

proportion of land than in the western, The ground here

b
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is broken and hilly, the soll run through with gravel and
stone, This, the terminal moraine of the Groen Bay lobe of
the last glacler that covered Wisconsin, 1e¢ meinly Kennan
loam, a s0ll of limited agricultural value, Plat, oven
ground, broken only by the abrupt and massive R1b and Mosinece
hille, covers the southecentral and centrsl portions Qt the
county, a driftless ares untouched by any of the recent
glaciors, Contained within the boundaries of this unglaclated
reglon is an ares of sandy soil whioch borders the Wisconsin
River from Wausau southward,

A fow relics of ploneer days are not yet destroyed or
roplaced; anclent pine stumps rot in the partlal gloom of
second=growth timber, and log outbulldings still remain on
modern farms., The land 1s comparatively new to agriculture;
in the flelds plows no longer snag on deeply buried rodts,
but cows 1ln pasture atill nibble close to glant, ragged
stumps, brushing scattered mullen that grows stirfly on the
close eropped ground, The farmhouses, because they too are
new on the land, are generally in better repalr than those
in southern WiQeonaln. Frame houses are more spacious and
better insulated, and brick homes are vitho;t the high,
narrow-arched windows common to early Wisconsin bulldings,
thelr brick and mortar not yot weathered into a uniformly
time~steined surface, Throughout the county log structures
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are used as sheds, as outbuilldings for a variety of purpoaes,
and, now and then, as homes for people., There has not yot
been time for wind and rain to rot these buildings to the
ground, nor has there been time for them to outlive their
usefulness,

Thore is almost no ferm without a barn, Some of the
barns are grost bulldings with ventilators standing in a
sentinel row along the peak of @& Mansard roof and the namegn
of the farm and the farmor proudly painted on the wallo,
visible from the highway, Others are merely adequate to
keep inclement weather from the cattle, HNature apreads
sunshine and warath over Marathon County with a thrifty
hand, for the growlng season averages 120 to 130 days, and
the moud'teuporutnre lles, on the average, betweon 42 and 45
degrees, HRainfall is plentiful, and the average procipitation
of approximately 30 inches a year is usually concentrated
between May and July, Thus the weather 1s roasonably kind
to man and hls beasts, and the county 1s one of the best hay
and grass growing reglons in the State,

: Marathon County's fertillty was not suspected when the
State wes first settled, The possibilities of southern
Wisconain had been prniqaﬂ by soldiers returning from tho

Black BHawk War, but agriculture in this northern dairy belt
had to prove the fertility of the soll by actual demonstration,
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Indians and fur treders, through ignorance or selfishness,

reported that the land in this reglon wase atony; barren,
mountainous, marshy, and unhealthful for clvilized people,
Dense foreat cover on soll with such a poor reputation easlly
protected the county from an early invaslon by settlers looking
for farms, The lumbormen who worked about Wauseu in camps and
sawmllls bad little time for farming, and agriculture was
limited to cutting the blue joint end red top grass growing
thickly on river bottoms and islands, the only crops cone
sldered worth harvestings As early as 1840 little gardens
were tended on Plumer's Island, but that was all, Plve years
later, dalrying made a mild beginning whon John Le Messurier
led three cows from Portage to Wausau,

Wausau at first was not regarded as a permanent settlenent,
A tree crop, once harvested, could not agelin be reaped for many
years., But when clover and timothy sprang up where manure had

been dropped on the logging roads, the pinery men realized

that fodder at least could be ralsed here, Land was cleared

for farming in scattered places within a fow ulles of Wausau,
but only 226 acres in all of Harathon County were under
cultivation in 1850,

- In 1864 Wausau mlllwrights and mechesnlecs started the
first ferming community in the county, Along Mechanica' Aldge
they cleared the land 0xt¢nding northeast about seven miles
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between Wausau and Nutterville, and here settled with thelp
familiea, Cows weore brought to those fnrma-rrom the COreen
Lake country near Herlin and Princeton, But fitting the .
wilderness for the plow proved dlsappolnting as a vocatlon,
or too hard as a hobby, and Mechanles' Ridge soon lost mosat
of the famlillies who had settled 1it, Thay.sold thelr farms |
a8 land values rose with the immigrution of a few ploncers
who trickled north into Marathon County during the middle 1880%s,
Germans from Hesse-Darmstadt, a few of the many seecking
asylum from civil unrest at home, were the first 1mmigrants
to arrive here In a group, They came in 1855, settling to
the north within twelve miles of Wausau, Another group of
Cermans, goaded by their insecurity as laborers in the face
tories of Pittsburgh, formed a homesteader's socloty, They
sent roprescntatives west to Stevena Point, where they were
persuaded to buy 3,000 acres of land eleven milles west of
Wausau, Béliaving in a prospectus that plctured a steamboat
docked noar thelr new land and told of easy settlement and
passable roads, they sat in a Stevens Point hotel room and
platted larathon Clty, Zach member of the scolety was to
recelve elght acres of farmland, one village lot, and three
acres of outlot bordering on the villace to be uased for
kitchen gardons, But when the settlers arrived in 1887,
the steamboat carrled them no farther than losinee, and
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they were forced to ocut a path through fifteen miles of forest
and swamp to reach thelr tract, MNany of them were dislllue-
sioned by the mlsrepresentations of the land agents and
unprepared for the many hardships of ploneer farming, Those
who could left; those who had no other recourse remalinod,
patiently endurlng privations and slowly subduing the
wlldernoss,

Onlj with stubborn endurance could the ploneer forece
the rootematted land to yleld to cultivation. Standing harde
wood was cut, plled, and then burned, for 1t could not be
floated oué and consequently was unmarketable as lumber, Each
year a fev more acres of cleared land were roady to be farmed,
Not all the stumps were removed, it 1s true, but there wao
some noillthat could be broken to the alr and freed of shadow
80 that sunshine could work the miracle of light on growing
plants, ¥Even so, the farmers could not relse all thelr lfood,
much less buy livestock or earn their living from the land
they were clearing,s Many of them worked in sawmllls or
lumbering campa, cut grubstekes, or peeled bark for the
tannery, Thus they earned the money to keep them until
ﬁhoir land could produce more fully,

Though year after year the clesrings grew larger,
agriculture was still primitive. Potatoes were planted
among troes and stumpa, They were dug in the fall and
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burled bLeneath deep plles of straw, leaves, and dirt as
protection against rroot1n3{ it was years before many of
the settlers had root cecllars for storage. Whatevor livee
stock there was roamed for forage, Rye and wheat were
harvested with a soythe, threshed with a flall, and winnowed
by belng thrown againast the wind, A few of the pioneers
owned hendeturned gristmills which ground their grain in
 the fall, , After 1868 thﬁro was a powereoperated mill in
Wausau; then, one after another, mills were bullt at other
places In the county,

Though at firet oxen were used in cloaring end cultivating
the land, they were grodually replaced by horses. Cattle also
increased in number, Poultry was brought from southern
Wisconsln, and the people began to sell and trade epge for
other commoditiecs, In the spring maple sugar and syrup were
made as sap was drawn from the trees through home-nade wooden
spouts, stored in wooden troughs, then bolled down in huge
iron kettles over an outedoor wood firec,

Yoar after year more farmers arrived, Though they pree
forred to group themselves abﬁub ¢stablished clearings, they
atruck out into the wilderncss if they had to, Host of theipr
tools were hand tools, though there were a few open«cylinder
threshers in the county, It was 1866 when Charles Zastrow
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brought the first modernetype threshing machine into Marathon
County, Lumbor camps and boarding houses wore a roady markot
for whatever produce the farmers could offer, Agricultural
products brought prices conalstently higher than could be
fetohed in southorn Wisconsin, and the cqnnumer.pnid less
than he would have had to pay for suppllies hauled overland,
The interdependence of town and country was in fact so close
that men of means in Wausau took great concern in the devel-
opment of agriculture in the region, _

Such a one was August Xickbusch, Arrlving in Wausau in
1860 a relatively poor man, he had Lecome a aederatoly DIrOG-
perous storekeeper by 1867. In the spring of that year he
returned to his homeland, Pomeranias, a province in the kingdom
of Prussla. Iis coming created @ mild sensation among his
fellow Pomeranians, and the tales he told stirred them from
thelr homes, le told them of Wisconsin and Marathon County;
he agssured them of employment at wages sufficlent to permit
eventual purchase of farmland, tarmland that was rich end
good. With little heslitation a few hundred of his countrymen
went back with him to Wansau,

Paith in the agriculturél possibllitles of Marathon
County was not confinéd to Kickbusch, A number of Wausau
businessmen and merchants conducted farms that were models
for the community, B, O, Plumer imported a Durham bull in
1860 to improve cattle, and Sam A, Quaw began to 1mprove
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sheep as early as 1873, Such men wished to prove, as they
~wlshed to lmprove, the agricultural possibilitlies of land in
which they had genuine faith, Their names recur agalin and
again in the history of local farming as loading experimenters
and innovators, as crusaders for better stock, better crops,
and a deopoer understanding of the possibilitier of the soll,
Their first concerted activity began in 1867 when an agricultural
soclety was formed, B, G, Plumer and August Klckbusch deeded
elghty acres of ground just southwest of the village limits for
& falrgrounds, Supporters contributed supplies #nd labor for
the first bulldings end helped with the clearing of the grounda.
A falr was held that 8aptambaf, the beginning of a continuously
expanding activity. Its premlums totalled §243,503 in 1929
they exceocded §16,000,

IXI THE COUNTRY FILLS IN

By 1870 12,000 acres of lend were cleared snd in farms,
The ouphaaiq at that time was upon cash crops, Graing-<hay,
oats, and wheatespredominated here ag in southern Wisconsin;
potatoes were an everepresent staple, Scrub cattle furnished
milk and beef; sheep were used both for wool and mattony swine
were ralsed for pork, In thet year only 53 pounds of cheese
were produced in all of Marathon County, and butter wes manue
factured only for home consumption, There was prosperity in

town and county alike, and a local newspaper one day in
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Jamuary, 1871, reported the Wausau streets crowded with
farmers importing and exporting produce, for 21 teams had
been counted at one and the same time hitched in front of
the Klckbusch and Parcher stores,

So 1t continued through the soventies, In winter the
farmers came to town, thelr sleighs banked high with wood or
billowing heaps of hay, the plopping of their horses' hoof's
aocompanying the smooth sound of sleigh runners sllding across
the snow, When they returned home at dusk they carried goods
purchascd or secured by trade, Falrs came every Septembor
now, offering premiums for exhibits 1h-r101d and garden
produota! household products, domcstic manufacbure, mechane
lcal exhiblits, millinery and fancy work, meat cattle, horses,
shoep, swine, poultry, fruits, and flowera, There were
plowing matches, drawing matches, and horse races too., Dut
the respite in town, at market or fulr, was but a alight
interval, for work on the land was never done, PFarm buildings
mst be erected, improved, repaired, or enlarged; the land
demanded attention, the livestock care, and year after year
the farmors whittlad at innumersable gtumps just as loggers
whittled at the forest,

Toward the end of the decade scttlers ceme more awiltly,
The whack of axos as men cleared the land and the hias of
green wood as farmers [lred surplus logs were no longer
unaccustomed sounds, When the Wiacona;n Central Hallroad
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was bullt north along the western boundary line of Marathon
County in 1871 and 1872, Spencer, Unity, Mann, Colby, and
Abbotsford were founded, Seltlers, clinging close to the
line of the road, spread west into Clark County and east
into Marathon, Detween Weuseu snd "The Line" was a wildere
ness that £1lled in slowly,

When Wausau was incorporated as a city In 1872 thove
were 6,088 cattle, 2,231 sheep, 1,851 swine, and 084 horses
in the county--many more animels than people, The Wisconsin
Valley Railroad, which had come to Weausau in 1874, had been
glven 200,000 acres of county land, 140,000 of which were
immedlatoly offered for sale at 2,50 to $5,00 an acro,

Pour thousand acres were sold by 1876, That year 18,000

acres were under cultivationesS,500 acres In grasses, 5,060

in oats, snd 4,500 in whoat} barley and potatoes occupled

650 acres each, Though thé short growing secason remalned a
continuoua obstacle, the ralsing of corn was hopefully tried,
and in 1876 occupled 366 acres, %ild oranberries wore gathéred
by men, women, and children wadlng through the river msrsheas,

Depressions had a stimulating effect on agricultural
setilement, When work was hnrd to find In the city men
turned to the land, for surpluses had not yet boecome a problem
in farm aress, Thua Marathon County benefitted by colonigation
during tho‘difficule 1870%s, As prices for land were higher
in the southern part of the State, prospective settlers tended
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to come norths A&n interesting development took place at this
time, Fred Reltbrock, memver of a Milwaukee law firm, came

to wauséu in the apring of 1276 on a business matter and
purchased land in the western Marathon County town which now
bears hls name, At the same time a number of Polish families
formerly employed at the Bay Viey gfistmills near ﬂilvuuke§
had been left jobless by the depression. In 1877 and 1078
forty of these familles exchanged thelr Milwaukee homes with

- Reltbrock for some of his Harathon County land, The community
of Ponlatowskl was thus founded, Reitbrock d1d much for the
communitys at his own exponse he extondeod the Wausaneiid Falls
‘road to the land and provided extensive crodit,

Later Reltbrock extended his operations westward and
Athens became his center, Ilere he bullt a log building to
shelter arriving settlers until they could got locsted on
places of their own, le and his partners widely advertliaed
thelr Marathon County holdings, and as an inducement to
settlors mentioned that therc lmd boen placed "numerous
polanders on these lands at very reasonadble torms, These
people readily prove the worth of the land and make settloment
easler," Neighbors In the wlldernosa are a& luxury, and the
presence of these "polanders" undoubtedly served as an
attraction to other scttlers, Reltbrock extended his rosd
to Athena, then atill farther weat to Dorchester, When his
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partners refused to aoﬁept the terms of the Wisconsin Central
Railroad to extond a spur line to Athens, Heltbrock Luilt his
own rallroad line in from Abbotsford. He also started a
lumber and ahingie mill at Athens, but wﬁen 1t was suggestsd
that he bulld a company store, he rcfused bocause he disliked
ono=man towns,

In 1878 the State board of lmmlgration publiciged
Wisconsin lands in this country and abroads Pamphlots which
included a description of Marathon County wore published in
Gorman, Swedish, and lNorweglan, These parphleta were sent
by settlers to thelr kin in Europe, they were dlstriduted by
the board to persons embnrking for the Atlantlic passage, and
they were passed smong new immigrents while they walted in 7
the temporary crowded roosta of thelr ports of entry,
Marathon County, advertised in thils goneral way, recelived
its share of secttlers, But even more important were the
offorst of J, M, Smith, who came here as a contractor for
the Wisconsin Valley Raillroad, The railroad had paid him
partly with land, and he later bought uwp additional large
tracts of the rallroad grants, He then cstablished a numbeyr
of branch offices, and st rallroad statlons and other pointa
likely to attract attention he dilstributed hundreds of little
wooden boxes containing semples of Hnrathnﬁ County grain,
Acting as an agent for others as well as himself, in 1878
he threw 170,000 acres on the market at $2,50 to $6,00 an
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acre, This land he continued to advertise honestly and
intelligently, bringlng in new settlers every year and
encouraging them alter they had arrived by his ressonable
terms and long-time credit, DBetween 1870 and 1880, 8,308
farmers sottled in the county, stimulating depressed business
activity in Vausau., The arrival of the railroads mesnwhile
had added a further inducement to settleras: the formerly
‘worthless hardwood lumber now could be shipped out by rail,
The mills took bir;h, maple, oak, and basswood for sawing,
end the timber on each farm, instesd of being merely an
obstacle to clearing, now became & salable resource,
Hevertheless, by 1860 uattlers_acill had not ventured
far from elther the railroads or the rivers, Lastewest strips
of settled land, :ollowiﬁg the rivers or through roads,
connectoed the Wisconsin River settlements with those on "The
Line," The greatest oéﬁoentrntlon of rurel settlement wos
within a 12emile radius west and northwest of Vausau, But
thin bands of settlement followed the banks of the Little
Eau Plelne, the Big Hau Pleine, and the Big Ald Rivers; another
followed- the roed that ren from Wausau to Big Alb Falls and
then on to the Reltbrock property; still another ran parallel
to the northern boundary of the county out to 1ts northwestern
tip. Except in the vicinity of Wausau there was comparatively
little asottlement east of the Wisconsin iRiver, but well
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defined groups occupied lMechanics! Ridge, and settlers were
sprinkled along the banks of the Big Bau Claire River,

Between these ribbons of settled land were large une
occupled areas, Some of 1t was taxefree rallrosd land which
was not pressed for sale bLecause of the sure prospect of
rising prices, However, after the taxeexemptions wore cane
celled in 1880, the railroads offered many inducements to
prospective scttlers in an effort to liqnidate thelr holdinga,
In 1886, for exemple, s man desiring lend for a farm was
provided free trﬁnﬂpovtntian by the Wisconsin Valley Hallroad
from any point in theo State to Marathon County if he bought
80 acres, ono~half fare 1f he bought forty, and a reduced
rnré home 1f he bought nothing, When he arrived in the
county he was provideéd a conveyance and a "land~hunter,” and
if he bought lend he was extended $285,00 in credit upon
clearing five acrcs, lNew settlers arrived stosdily, but
though competition from southerh Wlaconsin was lessening,
newly opened lands in the West were bldding against Harathon
County for settlers, A rather plaintive statement in a
Wausau paper admittoed that Harathon County land wea hard
to elear, but that once dloarod, "1t 1s worth more than the
time and trouble compared to land value in the west,"

Though it was many years before all the good land was
taken up, this perlod of Intensive advertlsin: marked the

beginning of the transition between ploneer and modern
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agriculture Iin Marathon County, Wwhen new settlers arrived
they found that State agencles were becoming activalf engaged
in farmer-education, The Agricultural Experiement Statlon,
founded in 1883, was a constant source of information and
-ua‘nvnilqble for consultation on specific problems, In 1084
seed corn of tested samples and first cleass sced were furnished
to Marathon County farmers by the Station in an effort to
improve the crop, Parmers' Institutes, begimning in the late
eighties, also brought information directly to the farmer,

A significant factor in this period of tranailtion was
the lmportation of farm mechinery iﬁta the county, At the
falrs the shlny, redepainted lmplement took 1te place of ine
terest beslde the prize bull, the bundles of timothy and
clover, and the pens of blueeribbon poultry, with a salosman
present to point out its numerous virtues, Binders, stump-
pullers,'lnd_othor machines were sent on tour, and fleld .
demonstrations were given first at one place and then anothor
in the county; sometimes, es a climax, contests would be held
between machines manufactured by rivel concerns,

| The woodlot retained its importance 1n the farmers!
economy., There were times when winter work in the woodlot
produced more income than the crops and llvestock. Wood was
used for railroad tiles, tan bark, shingles, posts, staves

and heading, spoke and hub timber, and fuel.
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The sparse scttloment was not without 1ts advantages,
for the prices of farm produce were higher than in southern
Wisconsin, In 10688, for example, the Marathon County farmer
received ¢ more per dosen of eggs, 25¢ more per bushel of
potatoes, 8¢ more per pound é} turkey, chicken or duck, and
10¢ more per pound of buttor than d1d the farmer in the
souths The shorter growing seasson had ite dravbacks, but
the nearly virgin soll yioldad_hanvily. A Nr, Yunt, in 1886,
‘announced that be expected a harvest of over six hundred
bushels or.potataoa from less than two acres, In 1000 P, K,
Wilcox claimed that he hed raised 116 bushels of corn ears,
165 bushels of poﬁntoau, 76 bushels of ocate, &6 bushels of
buckvheat, 1 bushel of onilons, 10 bunﬁala of beets, and 13
bushels of tomatoes from only 4} acres of land, This harvest,
which was registered in a year of drought, wes on exhibit for
a1l who needed visual proof,

III DAIRYING BEGINS

Heanwhlle wheat growing throughout ﬁho State had been
encountering rave difficulties for numbers of years, The
80ll was becoming exhausted, for wheat taxcd 1t heavily.
Chinech bugs added their ravages to constantly decreasing
ylelds, nnﬂftho better wheat lands of the west were offering
new and serious competition, At this time W, D, Hoard was
urging farmers to turn to dalrying, and Marathon farmers,
reallsing that the county ccould ralse magnificent gress
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erops, took his arguments to heart, Though in 1886 hay, oats,
- wheat, potatoes, beef and pork were still the leading products,
mllk products alsc were becoming lmportant; that year 288,450
pounds of butter and 4,317 pounds of cheese were manufactured,

In October, 1887, Marathon County farmers were invited
to Parmers! Institute held at Stevens Polnt to hear lectures
by "talented and successful farmers and men of experience”
on crops, cultivatlon, stock, and dairylng. There was imnee
dlate agltation to hold similar meetings at VWausau, Two
years later the first Instituto was held here, and thereafter
they were presented perlodically at varlous places in the
countye The maln dlscussion centered on the advantages of
blooded over scrub stock for dalrying,

Before the Babecock test was devised the dalry Iindustry
was chaotlcally lacking ia standards, PFarmers were pald by
the welght of the milk they sold, regardless of its richness
or quality. Some persons watered thelr milk or extracted
cream before delivery, yet recelved the same price as those
who had, with effort, patience, and expense, been improving
thelr stock and watching foed, The dalry factory pald a
minimua price, which gave the farmer little reason to atteupt
the production of rich milk, Daboock's test, which furnished
@ quick, cheap, and simple method of deteraining the buttere
fat content of milk, was announced in 1890, and thereoualter
both the marketing of milk and the improvement of herds were
put on a standardlszed basis,
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By 1808 five creameries in Herathon County produced
718,076 pounds of butter, and 10 cheese factories manulactured
81,114 pounds of cheeses Though the quantity of cheese Prow
duced was one=fourteenth the quantity of the butter, ti
reprosented only one-thirtieth the vealue, The fact that
more milk 1s needed to manufacture a pound of butter than
a pound of cheese accounted only partially for their differe
ence in valuej some of the diffurence was due to the poor
quality of cheeso manufactured, for haphazard methods of
mamufacture resulted in a product of unpredictable quality.
Though Marathon County possessed a cool climate advantageous
for cheeseemaking, the lack of éc&eutitie methods of molsture
and temperature control made 1¢ imposalible to standardize the
curing of cheese,

In thoée days cows, wuostly gerube, were considered exe
ceptional nllkers 1f they produced 250 to 200 pounds of butter
in one geason, Factories operated only six or seven monthe
of the year, for at other tiues so many ©f the cows were dry
that there was no surplus milk on the form for salo, nbmastic
manufacture of millk pfoducta, which had been going on since
ploneer days, gave more slgnificant competition to the factories
in butter-making then in cheeseemaking, Though anyone could

 own a churn, it requirpgd too much time end care for individual
farmers to manufacture ecach day's supply of milk into cheese,
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and the vats in which the milk was slowly heated were too
large for an ordinary farm kitchen, Cheese-making in Mara-
thon County therefore was a factory process from the moment
1t reached any significance, while 1t was many yesrs boefore
creameries roduced the domestioc manufacture of butter to
relative unimportance,

Whlle dalrying expanded, agricultural progress along
other lines contirued, 'The use of'sgricultnrnl.machinery
wes facllituted by a drop in farm implement prices betwoen
1680 and 1890, A self<binder which cost {515 in 10880 sold
for $130 in 18903 a corn planter which cost 980 1in 1880 sold
for helf that price ten years later; the cost of a riding
cultivator dropped from §45 to §25; and many other machines
wore reduced in price from 85 to 50 per cent, :

This meturing agriculture 41d not yot mark the end of
ploneer settlement, though a man could now buy his acres
partially improved, and cleared farms were for sale, Unbrbkun
land could be bough for §5 to $10 an acre, but mich of it was
sandy soll, fit for "potato growing” as a newspaper commented,
"through knowledge of land treatment,” As in previous years,
settlers were offered the double inducement of salable timber
on thelir land, and the chance to work for {30 a month in
lumber camps during the winter, or for $75 a month 4f they
brought a team to camp,
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The State started an exporimental orchard on the k4
8ingle farm, In the spring of 1896, 600 trecs of carefully
selected stock adapted to northern Wlsconsin climate and soil
were planted, and'nnothor 160 trees were added the next spring,
Sugar-beet ralsing, encouraged throughout the State by the
Agriculturel Experiment Station in an effort to provide another
cash crop, falled and was soon abandoned, There was always i
certaln amount of experimentation in erops that falled to
become successfully established, As early es 1883, 664
pounds of tobacco were reported ralsed, but during the 18001g
only E, Hoimenn was able to ralse the plant, and tobaccoe
growing in Marathon County never progressed beyond the hobby
stages One of the first group efforts to improve livestock
occurred when the Marathon County Breeders Amsoclation was
formed in 1692 to improve the Quallty of draft horses,

In 1895 the county had 5,142 farms, 103,543 acres of
lmproved land, €2,500 cattle, 17,500 sheep and 7,000 horses,
Hay was the leading crop; oats were second with 22,000 acres
- devoted to thelr growth, Whaat was reduced in fmportance
to 4,600 acres, Approximately 8,000 icrea were In ryse-an
indilcation of the growing use of sandy 801lesand 1,500 acres
in barley., Corn growing had increased to 1,000 acres, bBeans,
poas, and apples were planted, and a variety of -miscellanvous
‘frults grew in the farayards throughout the county,
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Marathon County products were now able to compete with
those from any welleestablished county iIn the State, During
these yeara larathon County farmers captured the firet of a
long serles of prizes. H. B, Parcher, a "gentleman farmer,"
received a bronze medal and a diploma for his exhibit of
Japanose buckwheat in the Chicago Columbian Exposition, as
well s honorable mention for the color, quality, and uniforn
slze of the peus ho showed, Harathon County agriculturel
exhibits at the State falr took first prize in both 1899 and
1900, 'In the 1900 exhibit ﬁhe lumber Industry was represented
by sixteen different kinds of native woods, panels of polished
veneer, a bale of excelsior, and a refrigerator of quartere
sawed cak rilled with cheose and butter, 23 varleties of crad
apples, 37 of apples, 12 of plums, 4 of grapes, and many cans
of small fruit, The exhibit was embelllshed with decorating
paper made from Marathon County wood at the Wausau Paper
Company's new paper mill at Brokaw,

The sclentific approach to the problems of agriculture
continued to become increnslngly 1mporbhnb, though‘;ot withe
out opposition, ‘Bven the Babeock test at first encountered
some who resented the "aoddllng,“‘nnd a local newspaper
objected to the State's testing farmers' milk bocause the
teat was "very misleading and very incorroeb; Hilk in the

same can will show a veried test depending on the condition
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of the milk," Dut this attitude 'ha not general, The
creamories desired instruction, even 1f augpoations d1d come
from "bookefarmers," as University agricultural exports were
called; in Septenbor, 1900, some of them hiréd experts to
Judge thelr butter, By 1900 there were approximately 30
cheese factoriecs in the county, Home butteremeking was in

part supplanted by factories owned by combinationa of farmers,
' and four of the eight creameries were co=operatives, The
cheese factories were usually small onceman plants, and though
the -creameries were outnumbered four to one, butter prciuction
was greator than that of checse,

The use of mechinery continued to increase repldly aa
Wausau dealers sold fifty mowers and binders in June, 1900,
This year approximately 200 farm machines were sold, twice
the number of the previous year, Seolentific néleation and
broeding of stock paralleled the dlsplacement of primﬁtivq
mothods of cultivation, By 1908 there were many breeds of
reglatered livestock in the county==Shorthorn, llereford,
Aberdeen-Angus, and Red Poll beef cattle, Cuernsey and
Holstein mileh cows, Shropshire and Lelcester sheep, Angora
goats, and pureebred draft and coach horses, The Wisconsin
Dalrymen's Assoclation held its thirty«thisrd annual convention
in Wausau in 1008, a recognition of Merathon County's importe

ance as & dalry center,
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The varied educational efforts were not without thelir
effects HNHarathon County livestock and produce begen to compete
successfully in the internetional fleld., Yeksa Sunbean, a

- Marathon County Ouernsey from Heltbroeck's HNelendale farms at

Athens, was the first cow in the world to produce the equiva=
lent of 1,000 pounds of butter in one year, Marsthon County
grasses, competing with grasses from all over the world, took
the grand pfize in their fleld at the Louisiana Purchhau
Exposition, St, iouia, in 19056, Marathon residents began
taking thelr stock to fairs in surrounding countles, and in
some instancea captured priges, Taking ndvnntnga‘&r the
growing interest In prizeewinning and competition, in the
fall of 1908 the Wauseu Merchant' Assoclation decided to give
$1.00 credit prizes to farmers showing the best produets in
a glven class on weekly market days, :
The double purpose cows-middling good both for beel and
for milkeswas repldly losing favor., Cows were bred for milke
production ulpno, and were further specialized as ylelders
either of large quantity or of high butterfat content, At
first many farmers had belleved that increased feoding would
multiply milk production almost without limit., %hen Noard
had preached selective breeding throughout the State many
yoars before, and a farmer would say "the brecd is in th‘
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corn erib; there 1s nothing in breed and everything In feed,"
Hoard would rotort, "tell me how to feed a long, rasor backed
hog 8o as to make a Poland China of himl" By now the idea
that feed alone affected milk production wes abandoned and
breeding assoclations were formed., Hecause en association
could purchase and support a pedigreed sire thst no individual
could afford, many farmers thus could have the use of an animal
otherwise beyond thelr income, Heltbrock, particularly, cone
timally stimulated the intorest of farmera in pure-bred
Guernsey stock through the showing of his animals at local,
State, and internstional livestock ahown,'una in September,
1909, a Guernsey Braedaﬁ'n Assoclation was organised, '

The Univeraslty of Wisconsin at Medison was a rich scurce
of instruction in other flelds es well as dnlrying.‘ The
County Asylum farm was selected in 1909 for demonstrations
of lmproved cultivation of crops already grown and for testing
new crops which might possible be introduced 1Into this soll
and climate, This assurod continuous experimentation and

demonstrations instead of such sporadic trials as the orchard

planted on the Ed Single farm 1n 18906,

Another effort to lmprove dairying was the State drive
to eradlcate bovine tuberculosis, When Harry L, Russell came
to the Agricultural Experiment Station his education had already
led him through the foremost bactericlogical laboratories in
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Burope, especlally that of XKooh in Germanys It was from Koch
that he lesrned the principle of the tuberoulin test which
distinguished healthy cows from those sich of tuberculosls,
fussell was convinced that dalry herds must be clesnod of thé
disease, - ‘

lost of the farmers found it hard to belleve ﬁ Normale
appearing animal was slck Just because 1t ran a slight fever
soon after a tuberculin injectlion, They naturally resisted
the drastic remedy of butchering infected animals to save the
rest of the herd, Demonstrations were held to prove the '
nocesslty of lighting the disease, At a Farmer's Institute
held at Wausau in 1909 a tubercular cow was killed in the
market plac:, and 1ts diseased internal parts were exhibited
for all to see, A'nownpnpor wrote, "A number of people have
suddenly lost thelr appetite for mest,” Just a few months
before, thirteen head of full-blooded Hed Poll cattle, cone
demned as tubercular, had been killed, The State had helped
the owner bear the loss by paying twowthirds the appralsed
value of the sleughtered animals., This was not an exceptional
cases In the early days of the test, 25 hoad of the thirty
in the prize herd of the Unlversity ltself were found to be
reactors and killed., OSometimes only a few animuls went to
thelr death, sometimes all in aherd but'ons or two were
killed; but each year a greater number of disenscefree
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animals stocked the barns in Harathon County,

The dairy Industry in the county had now assumed undisputed
leadership over other agricultural pursuits, Of the 59,089
cattle on Marathon County farmas in 1910, 31,284 were milch
cowswwa lofinite decline in the proportion of beef cattle,
Though other livestock had increased, they in no way threatened
the dominance of the dairy herd. In 1610 there were 24,000
sheep, 18,000 swine, and 12,000 horses on the farms, '

The use to which milk was put had ohangpd by the end of
this transltlional perilod, and in 1909 more uhaesé than butter
wae manufactured, That yeer Marathon County produced é,i?ﬁ,??‘
pounds of cheese and 2,202,780 pounds of butter, The domcstic
manufacture of butter dropped frpm 62 per cent of the total
county output in 1905 to 44 per cent in 1909, Domestic manue
facture of cheese dropped from a mmre'.7 per cent té less
than ,08 per cent of the total production in the same period,

By the end of the decade, though large areas of the
county stlll were forest, cutover, or swamp, 50,000 acres were
in grasses, 58,000 in oats, 12,000 in barley, 7,000 in potatoes,
4,000 in rye, 3,500 in corn and 210 acres in fruits and borrles,
while more than 7,000 apple trees bore witness to the success ‘
of the orchard experiment begun in 1896, Peas, which had
covered 4,500 acres 1in 1900, were grown in incressing quantitics
during succeeding years, As strains ;dnpeed.to the northern
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climate were developed, more corn was planted, Wheat growing
had’paaqod into permanent insignificence by 1910, oven yellding
place to corn. From 8,000 acres in 1900, wheat plgntinga wore
reduced by half in 1906, and in 1910 there were less than 2,000
acres, In that year not only wheat but the entire locsl grain
supply was inadequate to fill the demands of two elevators at
Wausau, due in a measure to & severe drought whilch ruined the
pea crop and wiped out the marketable surplus of hay, oats,
barley, rye, and corn, So scarce was feed that although some
farmers had receilved as rmch ag (85 a ton for hay in early
summer, many were forced to sell thelr cattle later on, To
prevent a wholesale liquidation of herds Wausau merchants
extended unusually generous eredit. terms and Wausau banks
offered to loan money for the purchasec of feed,

In 1010 there were 5,080 farms, an increase of 19 per cont
over the number in 1900, In the same interval the county's
populatlon had Increased 27 per cent, reachling 55.054;'rarn
acreage had Increased 20 per cent to 532,876 acres; and
improved farm land had increased 27 per cent to 184,163
acres, The value of all farm property had Increased 136
per eont, of farm land 147 per cent, of farm bulldings 149
per cent, of implements and machinery 166 per cent, of domese
tic animals 72 per cont, and of farm land per acre 106 per

cent,
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IV IMPROVEMENTS
An establlshed dalrying signified the successful

. application of 1dcas which had been morely exporimentsl a

few years before, DBut dgriuultural experiments continued,
The contact between new ideas and farm actlivities grow
closer as crops, livestock, and rural mechanical, economic,
soclal and cultural problems were selentiffcally investipated,
The relatively short perlod during which land had been t1lled
in Narathon County had not permitted the development of ine
grained, traditlonal methods of husbandry, insensitive to
changing needs and methods, Allalfa, first grown successe
fully in gpil reglon by Anthony Vetter in 1010, was planted
and ralsed by numbers of farmers within the next few years,

A large bundle of alfalfa with fourwfoot stalks wee exhibited
in Wausau in 1914 to influence farmers to ralse this quice
groving dairy feed, Though not yet lmportant in the
agricultural economy of Maerathon County, leaders are still
trying to establish 1t, '

Seientific alds for arriculture took a new turn as
farmers themselves suppllied data to be correlated at the
Agricultural Hxperiment Statlion, At a meeting in April,
1915, the Marathon County order of the Wisconsin Experie
mental Assoclation declded to hold two meetings a year
rathor than ones At that time farneremenbers were experie
menting with growing coertifiled potato seeds and the planting
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and cutting of soy beans. Agltatlon for proper land use
recelved attention. Crop rotation did not relieve all the
straln on the soll, and the extension service of the University
was urging proper fertilization, In 1916 some farmers ordered
limestone cowoperatively, buying in ecarload lotss In 1917
S. M, Quaw, continuing his long, valuable career, experimented
with rock phosphate, finding that 1t improved the corn crop
the first year, though producing no discernible resulta on
other crops. In April, 1917, the Harathon County Parm wa;‘
organized and cows and a;ine were purchased, The intchtion
was to maintaln a farm on which feed would be raised for the
cows, milk would be fed the hogs, and the hogs sold.

Meanwhile a new type of farm had been begun, one which
reached its most noteworthy development here, In 1909 the

four Fromm brothers, Henry, John, Valter, and Edward, who

lived in the town of Hamburg about 20 miles northwest of

Wausau, bouglta palr of red foxes to raise for furs, Theif
father had refused to help them get black foxes, but on one ’
occaslon whgn he was away rtom home they persuaded their
mother to mortgage a farm she had inherited for {6,700, with
whlch they bought three full-blooded 811'vera, two vixens and
a fox. For a time they crossed thelr reds and blacks, but
by 1917 had completely culled out the red strain and owned
59 pnir of silvers, DBy 1921 this number had increased to
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260 pair, Other tracts were purqhaandnubraodzng ranges,
rearing pens, and open rangoeeand the Promam fox ranches became
the largest in the world, On more than one occaéﬁon single
sales totalled more than $1,000,000,

The swift prosperity and publieivy given this ranch
stimulated the ralsing of foxes and othor fur<bearers thrbughn
out the State, until Wlsconsin now produces <40 per cent of
the Nation's silver blaeﬁ pelts,. In 1036 the iromus held an
auctlion at their farm, the first time any lerge-scale selling
of polts was attunpbad.outaxda of' New York, The sale was a
- great success, and the annual Fromm auctlon 1 now one of
the principal events 1n the fur trade, Neanwhils the “rommas
had exporimented early with the medicinal root, ginseng, under
the persuasion and guidance of J, s Koehlor of Wausau, an
authority on the subject, whose own investments in ginseng
wore larges Though recently the markot has Leen serlously
impaired by wars in China, the crop for years was valuable,
-and the Fromms bocame leaders in its growth,

The entrance of the United States into the fiorld War

. produced a shortage of farm labor, Wheat rulsing inereased
when in March, 1918, the State Council of Dofense asked
Marathon County to plant at loast 480 wore acres of the
graine iTh. iar cauased also an incresse in the price of
lind, and by the spring of 1918 farm values were very high,
Hany farms in the county were purchased by men who had sold
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thelr southern Wisconsin property at $150 to $200 an acre and
moved north to cheaper land, But the close of the ﬁar brought
with it grave economlc difficulties affecting Marathon County
farmers. From its peak in 1919, within the next few years
thelr gross income dropped more than a third, The cost of
living, which had closely followed incresses in income, did
not drop so shafply, and agriculture entered a period of
difficulties,

Untll 1918 various officlals such as teachers at the
County Agricultural Sehool had bsen engaged partetime in
disseminating information about new processes and better
methods among farmers, In 1918 a Mr. Swobode, hired on a
full-time basis by the county, became the first official who
migh be called a county agricultural agent. In the same
yesr a Mr, Nolell Lecame the county's first fulletime 4eil
club agent, dolng work which also had previcusly been sporadlce
and relatively unorganized, The activity of the 4«H clubs
grew rapidly and continmuously from that time onward.

At about the same time the coe-operative movement began
its Incressingly significant role in the agricultural economy
of the State. The co-operatlive butter and cheese factories,
when they first arose In Marathon County, were the natural
result of the need of individuals to group thémaelves 80
that the aspeclalized function of milk manufacture could be
hendled at one place rather than ‘n scettered rarﬁa. Later
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the vigorous Sponsorship and support of co=operatives became
@ baslc part of the programs of éonQ large and influential
farmer organizations such as the Americen Soclety of Equity.
Related iIn spirit to the marketing, producing, and
buying co-opcratives were the breeding asasocclations which
concerned themselves with atoek improvement, Another
co-operative effort toward herd improvement grew steadily
through the second dccade of the twentleth century, The
Spencer-Unity Cowetesting Assoclation, formed in 1918, and
the Wausauelarathon Coibtetting Assoclation, formed in 1919,
attested a recognition of the need for careful and accurate
inowledge concerning each cow. Under the slogan "Cet rid of
the boarder cow" records were kept of each animal so that
farmers could cull indivual cows producing less than the
cost of feed and labor, This not only brought Increased
direct returns but raised the value and reputation of the
county's breeding stock. A small fee to the cow-testing
assoclation would obtein the service of a specislist who
would test aend roport on & farmer's herd,
e At this time 2;2?3 pure=brod animals were registered,
and the varied errorta-to improve stock, crops, and marketing
conditions had s decided effect on the dairy industry. Dairying
supplled three forghs of the farm income, and in 1920 Harathon
Oounty renked sixth in the State for the value of its dairy
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products, a value which had tripled since the previous decade
to reach {7,185,167. In the number of dairy cattle 1t was
the third ranking county in the State with 54,284 head on
the 6,058 farms. It 1s possible that the proportionate
discrepancy in the two rankings was due less to poorer cattle
than to the fact that a conslderable quantity of milk was sent
for mamufacture to other counties., The concentrated rural
population along "The Line" in the western part of the county
sometimes patronigzed Clark County factorles, and rarme;s in
the northern part of Marathon frequently found the shorter
haul to Lincoln County convenlent, Convenience was not the
only determining factor, for Marathon County was so predomine
antly a cheese-producing region by this time that milk for
butter was often sent out of the county,.

Creamerles had reached their pesk of 29 in 1910, then

declined to 14 in 19203 1n 1921 only 406,124 pounds of factory

butter were manufactured, Farm production of butter, still a
significant proportion of the total produced in the county,

had amounted to 174,614 pounds in 1919, There were 143 cheese
factories in 1920 and cheese production manifested great vital-
ity, having incressed almost nine-fold since 1909; in 1921
18,899,940 pounds wnrb produced, fha home mamfacture of
chooa; paralleled this incresse to a degree, though only the
negligible quantity of 14,455 pounds was manufactured on

farms in 1919,
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Ploneer days had disappeared by now, With the vanishing
of tho'ffontier surp;usel rather than crop shortages became
the great problem, and the farmer began turning his eyes from
the sky to the market bulletin, Yet pine stumps, whose resinous
wood had resisted decay for decades, were still sbundant, A
new incentive for clearing these stumps occurred when surplus
war explosives -ért offered to the farmers st low cost. As
early as 1919 4,000 pounds of government explosive was
avallable for purchase at the county agent's offlce in 100
pound lots for a mere elght cents a pound plus freight charges.
Again in 1922 pleric acld, safer than dynamite, was offered
to the farmers, the government charging only for crating and
transportation, About 2,000,000 pounds of pleric acid,
sodatol and pyrotol were dlstributed by the county agent from
- 1919 to 1827,

The sssorted alds which the State offered dairying wvere
angminted by the efforts of the rnrﬁern themselves under the
leadership of the county agent, Dairy production reached g
peak in 1925 which was not surpassed for a nunber of years,

From milk received from the 6,717 farms in the county 26,157,447
.paunds of cheese and 2,349,197 pounds of butter were manufactureds;
_ the number of cheese factorles reached 150, By 1927 Marathon
County ranked third iIn the State in total gross Income recelived
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by farmers with $12.?59,000. Sixty-one per cent of this was
from the sale of milk and only 14 per cent from crops; livee
stock and llvestock products other than milk accounted for
the remaining 25 per cent., Yet the newness of this rich
development was attested by the fact that there were only
57 sllos per 100 farms in the county, less than the State
average of 65,

Though dairying was more stable than most other speclale
i1zed forms of agriculture during the 1920%s, the collapse of
1929 severely affected that enterprise. The average price of
milk dropped to 847 a hundredweight, the lowest figure in
decades, and cheese productlion dropped to 15,991,870 pounds,
Furthermore, though the price pald for milk Increased after
1833, a very severe drought affected Marathon County that
year, Farmers drove their bellowing cattle over the highe
roads, vainly searching for avallable pasturage, As foed
crops failed herds that had been bullt up by years of breeding
and culling were sent to the slaughterhouse, and the work of
decades frequently had to be begun over,

In 1935 the 7,039 farms included 783,199 acres of Marathon
County's 1,000,408, an average of 111.3 acres per farm, That
year Marathon County, the State's largest, hoed more land in
farms than any other county; it ranked third for land in crops;
and was first by far for land in pasture, with 53.4 per cent
of its farm arca in pasture and 35,4 per cent in cropland,
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In 1924 s new market for milk appeared when the first
- oondenpery in the county opened, and by 1986 three large
condenseries were operating in Wausau, Stratford, end Marathon
City. They manufactured 4,541,304 pounds of sweotened and
unsweetened condonsed whole milk, sweetened condensed skim
milk, and p&!ﬁornd milkes In the same year 907,000 poundas
of casein, a new milk derivative used as a substitute for
rubber and bakelite, were manufactured,

. Today the cheese factories use most of the county's
milk.s In 1936 they mamufactured 20,496,009 pounds of American
cheese, 497,500 pounds of brick and MNuenster cheese, 122,863
pounds of Swiss cheese, and 117,403 pounds of other checses,
Though there has been a tendency for cheese factories to
consolldate, more than a hundred are sprinkled throughout
the county in villages, towns, or at crossroads., In early
days the farmer who took hils milk to the cheese factory
would return with whey for the pligs., Uhey contalns a great
deal of fat, and after 1t had been proved that the fat could
be removed and trcated, whey butter wss placed on the market.
It 1s valued, priced, and sold much the same as creamery
butter. In 1936 seven creameries manufactured 2,147,725
pounds of creamery and whey butter,

A tremendous emount of milk supplles the cheese factories,

creameries, and condenseries; 35,477,000 hundredweight were
produced in 1937, an average of 52 hundredwelght per cow,
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This nilk brought an aversge price of $1.56 per hundredwelight,
almost double the low rates of 1988, Preliminsry estimates
for 1938 gave Marathon County 108,005:éatt1e, of which 75,200
were dalry cows, About half were Holsteins, a 1ittle less
than a quarter were Cuernseys, end the remalnder were malinly
mixed breeds,

'Othnr livestock has Increased 11ttle or not at all since
1900, The preliminary estimates for 1938 gave Harathon County
22,200 swine, the blgszest group in the northern diatrict; the
number of sheep had dropped to 8,000; and there were 14,300
horses, .

In 1936, 310,561 acres were in crops, 94.4 per cent of
them feed grains and hay. Clover and timothy hay still led
in ﬁcreuge, accounting for I2,7 per cent of the land used;
oats were sown on 20.6 per cent of the cropland, corn on 11.5
per cent, and tame hay other than timothy and clover on 10
per cent, Indicating the decline of cash crops, barley and
potatoes, though occupying tulce the acreage devoted to rya,
peas, or alfalfa, were grown on less than five per cent of
the total crop land,

The total gross income of Marathon County farmers in
1936 amounted to $10,827,807. Livestock and livestock products.
accounted for 78 per cent, crops for the remaining 22 per cent.
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Incqnn from millk amounted to 51 per cent of the total gross
income; potatoes, the largest cash c¢rop in the county, proe
duced only 6.2 per cent; and 13 per cent was derived from
sources other than livestock, livestock products, and the
20 pfincipal ¢rops. Though the county ranked third among
the State's 72 countles in total gross farm income 1in 1936,
i1t ranked only thirtyeninth in income per ferm and thirty-
second in i1acome per acre of farmland,

Heanwhile a change in rursl scelal life also had
occurreds Of primary importance wss the development of a
system of good national, State, county, and town roads,
keepling pace with the increasing popularity of the sutomobile
and providlngirnczlitiea for soclal gatherings and visits,
church activity, educationsl opportunity, and the other
functions of communal life, The 4@l clubs, with their byoad
programs of better practical farming, homemaking, recreation,
beautification, and soclal dovelopment, grew to have 1,600
members, the largest in any county in the State, The Puture
Farmers of America, an organization seeking to develop farm
leaders, established branches In Wausau, Athens, Stratford,
and Colby, each with about 50 members, In 1939 the Farmers?
Institutes were replaced by a series of meetings on the general
sub ject of "Farm Management,” hold throughout the county under
the sponsorship of the State University's College of Agrlculture,
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Under W, J, Rogan, county agent for many years, the
activitles of the University's Extension Division have
c:pnhded into a great varlety of services, The county employs
full-time a home demonstration agent and a boys'! and girls?
cludb leader, and alsoc a part-time dairy leader, At the
beginning of each year a speclal Marathon County Agricultural
Committee, working with the Extension office, meets with these
county leaders and sets up a progranm of projects, or goels to
be attained within the year, Among thelir more important
activities are encouragement of co=operative marketing, de-
velopment of breeders! clubs, improvement of livestock and
dairying, poultry work, and the organzzntion of 4=H and
women's clubs,

~ The principal farmer orgeanization in the county is the
Farmera®' Equity Union, formed when the previously=doninant
but waning American Soclety of Equlty merged with the Parmors?
Union, which had entered the County in 1932, Partly as a
heritage from organiszational work, partly thrcﬁgh the exigencles
of thelr economic situation, there are a number of co=operatives,
most of them concerned with dalrying and particularly with
eh&esu-uaklng. Other noteworthy co-operatives are a WOOlw
growers', which markets 1ts product in Portage; an oil and
gas co=operative; and a co-operative burial sssoclation in
Spencer., The Stratford Livestock Shipping Association 1a the
second-largest of 1ts kind in the State,
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Accordling to the 1930 census 6844 per cent of the farms
wore mortgaged to a value of {13,666,529, second only to Dane
Gounty@ Ihr;than Co&nty is relatively new on the agricultural
aounn,‘ao the amount of mortgage debt that has accurmlated is
an indicatlon that its farms are good rilsks rather than an
indication of decline. Farm tenancy, elght per cent in 1936,
i1s lower here than in many other parta of the State. The
percentage of farm operators working off thelr farms for pay
or income i1s more significant in revealing the economic cone
ditlon of the farmers. In 1929 37 per cent of Marathon County
farmers worked off the farm for pay or income at a time when
the State average was 24¢.6 per cent, Dy 1934 51 per cent of
the farmers in Marathon County worked off their farms and the
State average rose to Sle.5 per cent,

The farmer of years ago heard only the lowing of his own
cattle and was connected with his nelghbor by a rutted road,

a river, or a aingia rallroad traeck, In 1938, 90 per cent of

the farmers of Marathon County owned their own automoblles,

Farm and Home programs came to the 63 per cent of the Marathon
farmers who possessed radlos; 59 per cent of the farmers!? wives
owned power operated washing machines. Many farms, however, did
not possess other Important modern convenlences, More barns than
kitchens were piped for running water, and only elght per cent

of the farms had bathtubs,

The rivers and the marshes are 8till here, as they wore
when John LeMessurier tramped north to Big Bull Falls, when
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the Pittsburghers, dlsappointed and biltter, hacked their
way to settle Marathon City, and when the "polanders," with
new 11fe given them, opened farms. But by and large the
acres of clover and timothy hay, and the cattle graging in
stumped pastures, have taken for their own the land that

forest once covered,
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In its pollitical thought Weussu has always
manifested a certain insularity. For four decades,
from before the Cilvil War, when Harathon County
stubbornly voted against Lincoln, to the hectic 1890's,
when it finally reruaéd to be stempeded after Bryan
and bimetalllsm, 1t wes a staunchly Democratic oute
post in a gencrally Republlcan State, This was
largely due to the fact thet here particularly éioi-
Goermen" immigrants had penetrated in large nuubora
bofore raliroads and other communications made the
progess of assimilatlon easy, They began as a fairly
homogeneous and isolated community, wanting only to
work out thelr lives according to theiyr oun.trnditions,
which they rolinquished with reluctance, :

If there is any clue to the rether erratic
shiftings of local political sentiment, 1t lles in
the conservatism of these German farmers, Their
opposition to Lincoln's Republicsnism wes based on
stubborn rosishaﬁoo to the changes demanded by the
abolitlioniste and the prohibitionists, Lven whsn

they supported reform movements they were manifesting
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an essential conservatism, When they went solidly Green-
back in the latter 1876'3, they sought not currency reform
80 much as retention of the syaﬁem they found when they
arrived and to which they had become accustomed, And

later thelr acceptance of Robert M, La Follette originated
a3 a proteat against the.teehnologieal and financial .
changes impacting ever more directly upon their rural,.19th-
century lives,

I Things Take Shape

The earliest governmental institutions were

formed and refined to mest the needs of the developing

community. Walter D, McIndoe is regarded as the firstf man

to accept Big Bull Falls as a home town rather than merely

| as a fleld of economic operations, When he arrived in 1845
the settlement had but the semblance of organized government,
being ineluded in thg vague, far reaches of Portage County,
MeIndoe undertook the task of organizing the State Constitution
which gained Wisconsin membershiip in the Union in 1848,

Statehood had its effect, and the rucleus of

organized local government was formed on Octeober 10, 1849,
with the establishment of the Town of Big Bull Falls by
order of the Portage County board., In the resulting election,

John Stackhouse was chosen town c¢hairmen, E, A, Pesrson
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and Hiram Nartin supervisors, Levi Flemaing overseor of
highweye, D, R, Clement clerk end treasurer, and lienyy
ingler asscssor, In the same olection four Justices or the
peace and two constables were elected, but only Charles
Shuter, justice, and Alva lewton, constable, took oath and
wont through the other formal itics necessary to qualify,
The rest werd fined ten dollers @ach for their negligence,
but there is no record orf thelr having paid the fineas,
Helndoe, electod to the sesembly as a ¥hig in 1849,
introduced & blll for the organization of Marathon Coﬁnty.
with boundaries ineluding all the territory north of the
presont Marathon County, The village of Big Bull was renamod
¥Wausau and designated as the county seats In e special
election held on April 2, 1860, called to rilllnounty offices
until the goneral election of that year, John ¥iggington was
slactod sberirf, Pimothy Soper, ooroner, Joshua Fox, clerk
of eirculit court, clerk of the board of supervisors, and
register of decds, lienry C, Goodrich, county surveyor, John
Stackhouse, county treasurer, and John Q, a, Kollins, district
attorney., In tho general election, however, when officers
were elected for the first rééulur two yeesr terms, Charles
As Single became #hcrirt, Timothy Soper coroner, John A, Corey

elerk of the circult court, clerk of the board of supervisors
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and reglstor of deeds, Morris Walrad county treasurer,

and Henry C. Goodrich surveyor, At another speclial electlion
Thomas liinton and Milton M, Charles were elected supervisors
of the Town of Marathon, which at that time inecluded the
whole county, There were then four election precincta In the
oouﬁty, the polling pleces being st the homes of Thomas
ilnton on Jackson Street, Dennis Warren on Plne River, George
J. Good hue on the Iau Claire, and George W, Kollock at Little
Bull Falls,

Until 1852 county business was transacted in any
avallable room, usually at the home of some official, In 1861
Thomas Hinton had begun a county bullding; when he failed to
complete it the Job was turned over to Hirsm Calking andAsa
Lawrence, who finished it late in 1852 at a cost of 325,
This structure, howuyer, was little more than an office for
Gounty Clerk Asa Lawrence, :

Marathon Oopnty &t that time was attached to the
third judiclal circult of Wlsconsin, which included all the
territory of the Wisconsin Rlver valley. Court first convened
here on August 25, 1861, There after court was held in
in ﬂluaau several times befors the crestion of the seventh
Judieial circuit in 1854, but either through lack of & courte
house or lack of crime, the terms were limlted to one dayj at
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oneé period no session was held for over & year, The election

of judges was set for "town meeting day" of the spring
elections, Although such elections wére frequently contested
the candidates never claimed ﬁarty affiliation; they were sither
nominated by the bar or proposed by the people themselves,
George W, Cate was slected first Judge of the seventh eircuit

in 1854 and held the office until 1874,

Not until 1868, when the third county building was
completed, did the circult court have quarters of its own,
Until then halls were rented whenever sessions were held, The
minutes of the county board for Aug, 18, 1851, record that
four dollars was paid the "Sons of Temperence” for the use of
their hell for a courtroom, In 1859 M, D. Corey was allowed
$33 for the same purpose, After this Charles Single's Forest
Hall was rented by the county board at $100 a year,

In 1852 the town was platted within the 1limits of
Forest, Fifth, McClellan streets and the river, thbugh the
settlement did not f1ll out these boundaries until a?out 1860,
- Wausau was gradually becoming an important river towﬁ and a
trading center for the surrounding country, and the need for
public improvements was pressing., On April 5, 1853, the county
board passed its first road tax, and in August 1t voted to
build bridges over Moore Creek, Bull Creek, Trappe River, and
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Plne Eiver, Thereafter various patihlc;;?rdr smell roads or
luprovements were granted, Eevarth OIIJ fhe need for a good
main highway remained unsatisfied, |Im August, 1854, 1t was
"ordered that a notlce be published in the snwms Point
wzacgg in Pinery for four succesaive weeks, anlling an oloction
‘of the voters or Harathon County, fbr the purpose of testing
the sense of said voters in reletion o loaning the credit of
sald county, for the purpose of coslsting in the building of
thé South Line and Wweusau Plank H.iﬁ. Also that notices be
placed 1h each election precinct fbf the samo purpose.™ At
this clection tho bond lssue was l’i:;'ﬁd 77 to 8.

This rorerrzng of an inﬂé'tlnt putlic question to
direct decision by the peoplo is t;paenl of the contenpornry
conception of local ealf»governllﬂﬁ_ The officlals were
consldered largely as administrators to carry out policles
declded by the people themselvess In Yausaeu the period was
brief; from this tzmo anward iha delegatlon of powers and
pollcy-mnking zuthorlty dnuoiently inereased with the complexity

 of governmental arrairl. ‘A lste as 1872, however, the

eatablishment of a hl‘g 8chool was declded at a speclal mecte
ing of taxpayers oalxqﬁ iw the school board,
In 18564 th“l‘Unty levied & tax of $3,802,28, which

, paid for salarles, ecourt sxpenseas, bridges, and a small smount
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of office furniture, At the same tlme it was declded to sell
the little county office for $50 end bulld a courthouse and
Jail, W, D, MecIndoe had sold the county the tract which still
is the courthouse squere, and upon it in 1855 Charlss Philbricik
bullt a $950 fail and Charles and Thomas Single put up a
V650 office bullding, Lven these new quarters were too small
to house the circuit court, Next yeer the county divided
itself into the four towns of Weusau, Zau Claire, Hosinee,
and Jenny., Later other towns were ¢reated, and in 1861 the
county was divided into three voting districts, each to elect
one commisslionor to & thresce-man County Bc-rd.

Local political organlnntian was further facilitated
by the incorporation of Wauseu as a villaga on April 6, 1861,
Péavidualy the sottlement had ﬁeen merely part of the Town of
Wausau, The rirat'viilage officers were F, A, Hoffman,
preeldent of the bosard of trustecs, Thomas Single, clerk,
Henry &, anrwnco, street oonm&:eloner, Ce Ay 31ngls end
b, C, Wyllie, fire wardens, and Fo A, Farnham, surveyors other
village board members included Jacob Paff, Join Irwin, and
John C, Clark,

Until 1860 uho only politicel machinery was a general
csucus at which cendidates were nominated more on thelp qunlitlea

as individuals than in partisan terms, With the growth of
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population, the advent of nowspapers, and increasing consciousness
‘of party allignments, however, came a stronger organization of
political parties., Barly in the 1860's the Democrats began to
call party conventions; since the Democratic nomination was
tantamount to election, the only means by which an opoosition
condidate could'ba'auoéeasrul was to run as an independent,

Though McIndoe, Single, and others of the earliest
elected officers wore‘Whiga, the slight influx of German-born
voters between 1850 and 1852 was sufficlent to turn the party
balance toward the Democrats. The county remained stubbornly
Democratic for the next forty-four years in almost total dis-
regard of what went on inthe State and Nation at large, Not
even t he intense excitement of the slavery_issue,uf the Civil
War could swerve its allegiance,

The Democratic vote had a demonstrasble and explicable
correlation with the proportion of foreign-born in the populations
while they constitutgd a third or more of the people, the vote
was Democraticy when they drobped below a fourth, the Republicans
~came to power, Theso Germans had come to America desiring
religious freedom and greatar‘opportunity to meke a living.
Democracy as a political and social ideal meant littls to themj
the& willingly Followed the*leadership of their pastors and their

spokkesmen, And there were several aspects of Whigism, and later
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of Bepﬁblicanism, that repelled them; The hastern Yankees
who dominated the Whig Party had a tendency to conslder them-
selves the only true fmericans and to look down on immigrants
as allens of foreign cultures. This attitude crystellized in
1852 in the rise of the American or Enow-Nothing Farty, which
sought to restrict public office to netive-born Americans and
to withhold the ballot from any immigrants who had been here
less than 21 years, The ¥higs, furthermore, were generally
regerded as the party of wealth; the Democrats tended to be
favored as the party of the common man.

When the Republican Party was formed in 1854.1t
attracted ﬁany former leading ¥higs, a number of prominent

Enow«lNothings, several Prohibitionists, and, of course, most

Free-Soilers qnd abolitionists, The new ﬁarty wooed the more
roc?nt German immigrents by carefully avoiding mention of elither
abolition or prohibition; in 18564 1t exultingly pointed out
there was "not a wor@ sbout temperance in the platform;™ but

the opihions of individual Republicans could not be overlooked,
The Republican stand on the all-engrossing issue of slavery was
sufficient to attract mosﬁ of the "*48;ra“e-the cultured German
liberals who had fled to Wisconsin following the political
persecutions of 1848 in Germany, But the slavery issue had

little appeal to the Marathon County "low Germans", who knew
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little and cared less about the fate of people a thousand niles
sway from thelr own struggles in the tough pine forcast. Local
Germans resented attempts to intorfere with their beer-drinking
fully as mueh as attempts to deprive them of cltiaenship, both
identified with Republlcanism,

By the 1860's the provincialisnm of this attitude
relaxed gomevhat without chenging the result, Slavery was
debated before capacity audianeoa. The first newspap;; was
Whlg, then Republican, 8t111, most of the local leamders inall o
flelds remained Democrats, controlling local political thought

| by thelr personel influence &9 much as by their politics; and,

;- led to & large extent by its pastors, the county gave Douglas

| & substentlal majority over Lincoln, :

B&-pnrtisan'politioal machinery was rudimentary until

1872, vhen, ot a nominating conventlon held in the courthouse,
the right of one of the delogates to be present was challenged on
the ground that he wes a Republicen end a supporter of U, 3, Crant,
Adﬁithing his affiliaticn, the dele@ntd.nevertheleas pointed
out that the convention was for the nomination of county officers,
and had nothing to do with politicas, The asgomblage wee then
told thet the convention hed been called by and for Gresley
supporters onlye. Three dolegatca thereupon withdrew; a

Fepublican convention was called; and the system of goneral
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nﬁnnpartisan meetings was permanently ended, Until 1906, when
the direct primary was inaugurated, party conventions were the
core of local politics, :

¢ fublic improvements in the ¢ity and county 1nggéd
behind the fastelncreasing needs of the growing community, In
1859 the County Board had arranged to have the courthouse
. square cleared of stumps in anticipation of its use as a site
for a new county tuilding, though construction was deferred for
-oight years, Finally, in 1867, the Board voted to build a new
eounty bullding, wh}oh was completed by August Hett on Septemnber
‘25, 1868, at a cost of $7,500, This building had room for
sessions of the circuit court,

One of the first acts of the new village‘board was
to divide the community into £wo,firé diatricté,'each under
the charge of a fire warden, Thé'ravenue from fines and license

fees was set aside for the use of a fire department, and a crew
of volunteer fire fighters was enrolled, Pails, poles, ladders,
and cable were acquirsd to equip a hook and ladder company,
but not until September 1, 1868, did the village purchase its
first fire engine, a little hand pump. The following year
an engine house was bullg, the second fioor of which was
used as a community gafhering place and e meeting room for the

village board,
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II The Torchlight Era

Wausau wes incorporated as a city on March 18, 1872,
when the citizens secured a special charter from the leglslature
providing for the asnnual election of a mayor and other officers.
The first election under the charter was held April 9, 1872,
with the population of about 1,500 casting 425 votes, The
village board, presided over by President Carl Hoeflinger, was
in session in the o0ld engine house when the newly elected mayor

~and hls city council appeared in the room. After Hoeflinger

had made a short speech congratulating the mayor and council,

the board gave up their seats at ﬁhe council table and the eity
officers took their places. The council was then called to
order and Mayor August Kickbusch gave his Inaugural address.

The new officlals--John Patzer, city clerk; John Ringle,
assessor; and Bartholomew Ringle, police justice, all Democratse=
'eré then installed in office,

Under the new city goverrment plans for long needed
improvements quickly:took shape. Three thousand dellars were
appropriated for grading tﬁe crude streets, bridging the slough,
and making other improvements., To help ladies avoid muddyling
their skirts, planks were laild scross some of the principal
crossings. In 1872 the ﬂnited States Land Office was brought
here from Stevens Point, A boom in both population and business
began with the arrival of the first railroad in 1874, providing
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both new problemn_and‘new revenues for the generally alort and
active locel officials. The local Democratic power remained
unshaken in the presidentlel selection of 18763 Tilden waz given
an unprocedented majority in Marathon County and Bartholamevwﬁ%‘
Ringle was olected mayor.

But then began the period of dspresaloh. humbar
pricea began‘to fall, collections on bllls were slow, and the
hopes of the newly born city shrank with its treasury, Ringle's
adalnistration could barely maintaln the streets sa business
conditions bocame steadlily duller, | :

The election of 1877 came at the very pit of the crisis;
¥ithout abandonlng their alleglance to the Democratic Party,
the peopie of Wausau elected an administration which ineluded
a conspicuous number of ilmportent business men--J, C, Clark as
mayor, and as auparvlaoré, Bs G, Plumer from the first wa;ﬁ,
Jacob Paff from the second, Carl Hoeflinger from the fourth, and
Alcxander 3Stewart from the fifth. The city treasury was
virtually empty, itas principsl resource being §4,000 worth of
county orders, bassd on tax-delinq:wnt property and worth but
70 to 75 cente on the dollar, Littlw.coulﬁ e done but keep
tha streets and bridges in repalr, with the administretion
barely managing to prevent the city from golng into debt, The
administration” Olérk ended in a serles of court fights in

. - .
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which actions were brought ag,a.tnat both city and county
governments seeking the cancellation of tax debts,

Hany people blamed the panic primarily on a contraction
of currency preparatory to the resumption of specie payment,
and the Greenback Party, founded in 1874, au&daply became
wldely popular, In 1877 Sammel F, Carey, orator, artist, and
actor, came to Wausau to talk on behalf of the Groenbaci
progran, 7Tho effect of his specches was elsctric, e completely
overvhelmed his audience with word pictures of universsl harde
ship, vividly predicted the ruin and distress to follow. A
Greenbsck club organized immedlately and ostaeblished & weekly
paper, the Torch of Liberty, with M, H, Barnum as editor,

The election of 1878 was the most bitter contest of
the city's history. Friendships of long standing betwaen
politicians were Lroken as the éntire political al:gnment of
county and city was upsets Out of the turmoll all parties
emerged with partial victories, but the Gresnback Party, hesded
by some of the strongest elements in both older partles, was
sspccially successful in the loecal fleld. Its leaders included
De L. Plumer, August Kickbuseh, and F, W, Kickbusch, erstwhile
Democrats; B, B, Parcher, Jemecs KeCrossen, and Conrad Althen,
former Republicuns, end such orstors as Barnum end bLobert

Schilling of Milwaukee, not previously prominent in pollitics,
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The Republicans, ignering local offices, concentrated
-all thelr efforts tc elect T. C. Pound tc Congress and J. A,
Kellog: to the State senate, The growing Democrat-Creenbeck
coalition, less strong elsewhere in the Gls‘picts than in
Marathon County, fallcd largely beceusec of bitter personel
dissension szong the leaders, In the county elections Green=
backers and Democrats divided honors four to four, the for—er
electing O, W, Ghoca, sheriff, Henry Miller, counfy clerk, and
A W, Schmidt, register of deeds, while the Democrats elocted
J. R. Bruneau, county treasuror, Bugo Peters, clerk of ecircuilt
court, snd Willism ¥, Allen, county surveyor, esnd eusch party
~elected ome sssemblyman--the Democrats, John Eingle, snd the
Greenbackers, F, W, Kickbusch, For city offices the entire
Orecnback ticket hsaded by Do L. Plumer was elocted by & big
n-Jorlty. The complex campaign thus emphasized the city's
politieal insularity, for the farther from Wausau thc vote
nxtended, the less was Oreenbsck influence menlfested,

Teax litigetion was rampant, and the new administration,
already willsd an empty treasury, was forced.to fece an
incresasing number of ta- cancellation suits, To make ngtters
worse a decision of thes State Supreme Court in 13872 seriously
threatensed the whole taxation procedurs, and Mayor Plumer had

as many as twenty court actions served agalnst him in one daye
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Plumer refused settlement or comproaise, had the statutes
scrutinized for loopholes, and eventually made complete
collections., For the tize being, however, public enterpriba
was az badly stricken as private; the only notablse achiovemcnt
was the draining of the marsh on the east side of the river in
the southern portion of the setilement, which had long been an
important contridbutory causc to the city's appalling child
mortality rates '
Heanwhils incressing settlement along "The Line"--the
Arce near the rallroad on both sides of the boundary betwesn
Clari and Marathon Gountloau-brought about a movement to create_
a new county. The 1877 leglslaturs was ready to pass the billg
nelther of the old counties Opposed it, for the region wae
then thought distant and poor. Colby, centor of the best-
populsted diagyicta, was to be the county seat, But represents=
atlves of Spencer, Unity, and other suwmill sottlements with
relatively large seasbnal Populations combined to demand that
the county secat be selected by ballot. Ihe two rivel groups
Stalenated the b1ill untll the end of the session, By the
following year the dispute had made both erathon and Clark
Countles sware of the potentlalities of the region, and they
strongly opposed the division, 41though introduced seversl times

thercafter, the Ssparation blll was never so much as favorably
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reported out of committee, and Marathon County consequently
remalns the largest county in the State,

The year 1879 saw a rovival of tusiness. The Croene
back Pﬁrty. its obJectives partly attalned, collapsed with the
-return of good times, and its leaders drifted back to their
old affiliations, Schooled in the art of showmanship by the
fire-ecating Greenback campalgn, they gathered ruli strength for
the presidentlal elections of 1880, The Democrats, somewhat
weakened-porhapa, nominated W, C, Silverthorn for Congress in
the elghth congressionsl district and steged s huge rally and
barbecue in the courthouse square. Crowds of people filled the
strects to listen to the speeches of Genersl E, S, Bragg and
Coles E, Juessen, a brother-inelsw of Carl Schurz, who spoke in
German. Then a wagon bearing a whole roasted ox wag drawn into
the aqueare, followed by other wagons full of bread and apples,
At the height of the festivitles Gen. Bragg was handed &
telogram from which he dramatically read to the asscmblage the
nows that Maine had gone Democrstic. The ¢rowd, in a high pitch
of excltement, contimed celebrating throughout the day and
into the evening, wen speeches were given in Music Hall. Not
to be outdone, the Republicans soon countered with a barbecue
of chicken and geese, and with speeches by the congressional
candidate, T, C..Puund; end a locel German speaker, S. Koslowski.
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Thereafter both parties held more meetings until the day before
the election,

Again the county proved different from its nelghbors
-by going solidly Dcmoefatic. Though the Greenbackers threw
what little strength they still had to the Democratic ticket,
and though Silverthorn received a me Jority in Marathon County,
he was defeated by Pound, who carried a Republicen majority
in the other counties of the district. The entire Democratic
county ticket wus elected, however, and in the city J. E. Leshy,
a Democrat, began the first of three successive terms as mayor,

By 1880 the Milwaukee, Lake Shore and Weatern Railway
reached the city and a general industrial expension was well
under way with new factories being built and old ones enlarged,
Tax levies in Wauseu for elty purposes, not including the
State, county, or poor taxes, rose from $19,406 in 1881 to
$48,288 in 1884. In the latter year the people voted in favor
of municipel ownership of the proposed waterworks, which were
comploted in the fall of 1885 at a cost of $115,000,

The cenrus of 1880 had given Wisconsin one additiénal
~ seat in Congress, and Marathon County was transfafred to the
new ninth congressional district of sixteen count#es, about
one third of the entlre State. Although the new éistrlct was

generally Republlcan, charges of corruption in connection with
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the nomination of Isawc Stevenson for Yongress over two highly-
favored rivals hampered the party in the clectlon of 1882,
Though Stevenson won by a scant margin, the Democrats slected
John Mngle as State senator in the 2lst senatorlsl dlstrict,
sent Leshy to the State asseambly, and captured the entlire

- county ticket. _

By 1884 the torchlight ers was 1n full swing. Politlcal
clubs were formed by both parties. Local speskers held mest-
ings in all of the surrounding towns and villages, and party
rivelry extonded even to the number of torches carried in the
processions. The Republican Blaine Club opened 1ts campalgn
with a parade and & mesting, with Luclus Fairchild, candldate
for the United States Senate, as speaker. In répIy the
Democrats staged a larger procession with cxz-Senator James R,
Doolittle as speakere. JHockets and red lights accompanied the
mestings and speeches were given in German and “nglish, with
Joseph Brueker stumplng the German towns for the Republicans
as the "silver tongued pinery boy." Agaln Harathon County went
Democratic in the Natlonsl, county, and olty elections, glving
Cleveland and Hendricks 3,358 votes to 2,144 for Elslne and
Logan. %hen the news arrlved in ﬁaﬁsau of Cleveland's election
a huge bonfire was built half way up on Zast Hill.

In the spring of 1885 the controversy over the county
division bill, which by that time had become & perennial matter,
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resulted flmelly in sn open bresk smong the county board memberss
The chairman of the board had appointed a comittes to lobby
egainst the dill, Vhen the board met that spring after the
adjournment of the legislaturs, s motlon wss made to pay the
chairmen of the board the sum of §114.60 for expenses incurred
by the lobly. This motion was bitterly opposed by the members
from the towns on "The Line™ who had favored the divislon,

ﬂﬁay introduced an amendment "to pay the towns of Spencer,
Brichton end Hull the sum of §40.00 to relmburse these towns
for thelr axp/ensea in lobbying for the bill." Uuring the debate
which followed & member drew a parnl;elbétwean this cisim and
Civil %ar debt, using the words "rebels" and "sccessloniste"
throwing the meeting into complete disorder, The amendment

R E

defeated, however, and the motlion wa:z [inally carried,
adding & final blow to the csuse of county division.

' By this time local considerations were becoming sube
ordinate to State or National i1ssues in political thought,
Though local leadership and the local viewpoint retained e
greater or lesser welght throughout the next decade of transition,
as exemplified in the Bennett law controversy, still the old
tendency to sec public affalrs purely in terms of tﬁe individusl
baernyard was gradually breasking down. Cleveland's position on
the tariff outweighed Hari Barnum®s plea for s single standard
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of morality. When the Gorman, Irish, and Seandtﬁgvim farmers
loft their clearings on Friday nights to talk around the stove
in store or saloon, they dlscussed ﬁot the virtues of the fathere
land but the President?s veto of the dependent pension Lill.

Thus by 1888 the tarlif question was uppermost in
populer intersst, and although 1t brought sbout Cloveland's
defeat, he retalned his mjarlty in ¥grathon County, partly
through the wily debq_;ing tactics of State Senstor Neal Erown.
The Republilicans bmu@t John F. Scanlapn from Chicago to debate
the tariff issus egalnst frown. Vhile he quoted volumes of
ststistles, Brown won the debate with the remerk thet "sccording
to My, ;Scmlm's notion, when whiskey was low in price times
_te‘i;:: good end when whiskey was high, times werc bad, and it
mey be that thesc facts msy have influenced Mr. Scanlan®a
notions as to what were good and bad times."”

In 1890 the locel Democrosiic mujority ceoasted slong
with the 3#&!:0--1:‘.6_' landslilde resultiog from tﬁe Sonnett law
controversy. This law, passci by the legislature of 1389 under
the HRepublican administrstion of Cove ¥, U, Hoard, provided
in part thats "No school shall bo regarded us & schéol, under
this act, unless there shall bLe taught therelin, as part of the
elementary sducation of chlldren, reﬁiing, writing, a;'_'itmtic.
and Unitsd States history, in the Znglish Vlanguagc," and also
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stipulated that children must attend the school in the
precincts in which they lived. 7The law was resented by foreign
language speaking groups, Lutharana,rand Catholics as an
attack upon their languages snd their parochial schools. In
the State conventions the Republicens promised amendment of
the law, but the Democrats declared for its outright repeal,
¥hile the Eepublicans attempted to defend themsclves with

the slogan"for the little red schoolhouse," the Daﬁnornta.
rode to victory on the rectort "for all the schools!" So
strong was the feeling in Harsthon County that CGeorge ¥. Peck,
Democrat, received 3,500 votes to Hoard's 1,391,

The Democrats :ere still in power during the election
of 1892, when the county gave Orover Cleveland a large majority
‘over Benjamin Harrison, and the Democratic county and city
tickets were nlected'along with the congressionsl and State
gssombly posts. “he financial panic of that year, however,
i thi: Denavitis Tasay; sot 8 1094 the Bepebiscans, vute
voted foi thirty years, begen an ilrresistible resurgence,

They captured the congressional scets and split the local
offices with tho Democrats.

The panic had caused the city to fall badly into
debt. The more than sixfold increesc in population between
1870 and 1890 had necessitated large smounts of constructlone-

schools, waterworks, sewers, and pavements., During the great
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flood of 1886 an asccidental washout had provided drainage for
a large tract of East Side swamps; though this added much
potentially valuable lend to the urban area, the city now had
the task of cleaning and improving the grounds and repalring
the damage. So extensive were municipal obligations that
during the incumbency of John W, Miller in 1894 it was necessary
for the city to borrow'ﬁﬂs,ooo from the banks. Wiith only a ‘
few short stretches of business street having even cedar block

pavement, and the others as muddy as country lanes, it became
necessary to macadamize., A high school was imperatively needed;
machinery had to be bought; the water supply at the ﬁeW'watar-
works was found 1nadequat6 and a growth of algse was choking
the mains, In 1895 Mayor H. E, McZachron directed the con-
struction of the Séventh Street sewer, a new main sewer outlet
servicing the middle and easstern portions of the city, and
drained some mgrshas, adding to the chronic depletion of the
treasury a bond issue of $12,000, Six successive city adminis-
trations struggled with an empty treasury, until in 1898 the
municipality had bonded itself to the statutory limit and
‘borrowed an additional §50,000 from the banks,

Business began reviving in 1894 and local politics

were completely enﬁeloped-by Nationasl issuves, During this

period William J., Bryan and his demands for bimetallic currency
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dominated the Democratic Party, while a loose third pevty, the
Popullst, had entered the fleld in 1891 with a program of
bimetalllsm and government ownership of public utilities, The
campaign saw a decisive breach in the Democratic ranks, the
older Democrats st:nding feithfully by Eryan while the younger
men supported the Republican candidate, William McKEinley, In
Marathon County the Democratic power was finally broken., The /
immigrants, now better assimlilated, were less preoccupled with
their peculler religious or netlonallstic vicwpoints. 4bove
all, the back of Democracy had been broken by the financisl
panic. As the county obtained incrcased contsct with and
appreciation of outside opinior, the exsmple of national business
leaders, driven more firaly than ever toward Republicanism by
Bryan?s currency prégrnm, made their party seem the representative
of stabllity and prosperity. Though former “tate Sens'or J, E,
Leashy canvassed the county for EBryen and the famous "Horr and
Eapver' debate was distriduted in thousands of circulars, the
bright outlook which launched the Demoeratic campaign faded
with the coming of the election, and for the first time since
its existence Marathon County gave a Hepubllican presidentlsl
cendidate a slim majority. 'lcxinloy recelved 3,958 wotss to
Bryan's .3,829,

The rise of the Populist Party was significant loeca)l¥
in only one election--that of 1896, in which E, J, Anderson was
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elected mayore. During his edainistration Anderson menaged to
reduce the clty's indebtedness somewhat, though a new Lridge
was ordered and plans were made for the druinagelof the eastemn
and southern portions. Wausau had long been clemoring to have
some sort of State institution located herej now, heving lost
the State Normel School to Stevens Point, it was demanding to
be granted the State Home for the Feabl&-ﬁlndad. Anderson's
administration, however, was mercly a qpnapzcuously isolated
period of economy in & general tendency toward greater municipal
exponditures, énd by 1800 the city debt hud reached $195,000.
Nevertheless, & contract wes let for macadaamlzing Grand Avenue,
bridges were bullt to McIndoe Island and to Barker and Stewart's
- mlll, end Seventh Street was opened from Franklin to Orant Streets.
On July 1, 1902, the city by ordinance pluéed itsell under
the Genersl Cherter law of the State, and theresfter officers
were elected blannuelly, as in other Wisconsin clitles. Vausau
thus becaua‘a city of the third class, comprising an #rea
substantially the same zs today.
III The Lerger Scene

The Bopubliccn ascendency continued in the slections
of 1898, though the Democrats agiin salvaged the larger number
of the county offices. %he election of 1900 revesled an
increase in the strength of the Hepublicans, who won even a
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majority of the county posts. But the victorlous Hepublican
governor was Bobert M., La Follette, whose popularity is Marathon
County and in Wisconsin represented a gregter departure from
traditional Republicanism than Democracy had meant since the
Clvil War,.

The election of 1902 brought little change in the
general politicsl situation. La Follette carried the sloction
in Marsthon County on the Republican ticket over his Democratic
opponent, David S, Hose, and the partlies divided the bounty
offices. In the district ERepublican convention there was
bitﬁor opposition by Clark County delegates to the renomination
of State Senator &, L. Kreutzer, for they considered 1t thelr
turn to name the candidste, So intense was the feeling that
the Clark County delegates threastened to bolt the conventlon.
Senator Ersutzer was nominated, however, and-won the elsction
despite the fact thet the Democrats named a Clark Couniy
candidate, exﬁecting to profit froam the quarrel.

In 1904 the Republicans for the first timec succeeded
in electing every cendidate on the county tickets This was
the last campeign in which candldates were seloct:d in the time=-
honored conventions, for the direct primary law, passcd in the
lest term of Ls Follstte as governor, took effect in the 1906
elections. i

Despite the fact that Marsthon County had been glving
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Gove. La Follette majoritics for six years, they were voting
not for him and his reforms so much as for the ERepublican

label he bore. In 1908, with La Follette secking nomination
for the presidency, Wausau sent to tﬁe Republican Kational con=-
vention the only Taft delegate from the entire State, Alexander
Stowart. Yhen Taft was nonminated Marathon County gave him a-
majority of 600 votes over the Democratic caﬁdidaee Bryan.

La Follette and his followers constitutsd one of two
sharply different wings of the Rapublickn'Party -hosé struggle
dominated State ﬁolitiés end was fought out in the primary
elections, For State office, nomination in the hotly-contested
Republlican primary was tantamount to election. In this intrse
party stnuggle thé Pfogresslva wing soon became established
in NMarathon County. E;ia; Morge, clected to Congress in 1906,
1908, and 1910, wes one of th¢ cariy followers of La Follettes
he was followed b Eﬁtnrd E, Browne, another Progressive, -
"hosO'long career extended from 1912 to 1930, when he was
repleaced 5y CGerald J., Bolleau, niao 8 Progressive. ©But though
La Follette's antlemonopolism appealed strongly to the
individualism of the German farmers, they were by no msasns his .
complete disciples. Thus vhen Isaac Stevenson, an eeriy
follower of La Phllétte, Joined the conservative wing of the

party on hls election to the Unlted States congress'ln 1908,

142



Hiner : Government and
Moore : Politics

he neverthelcaé held his constituency; and Jamecsz 0. Davidson,
vho filled the vscsney left by Gove La Follette when tt:e_ latter
entered ;’:;-e Senate 1in 1508, drew the .Rumt:hon County Progressive
vote in two mecea:ai.v& elections thersafter though he had
joifmd the Stelwart renks during the intsrvel, The Democrats
were generally unmportanﬁ during this perilod, though they

did sond %William W, Albers to the Staﬁe Senate in 1906 and
Eicholas Schmidt to the assembly in 1206, 1908, and 1910,

Heanwhile the city debt of Wausau was Leing reduced
st an aversge rate of $10,000 per year, permitting the extension
of water and sewer facllities and edditionsl street improvements.
The tex levy for 1904 was §112,205; for 1905, $106,793. In
19004, under Mayor E, C, Zimmermen, the city erocted its own
street lighting system and bﬂught olectric current frorn the
locel utility at 2 3/10 cents per kllowatt, But under the
adminlistration of M. . Duncan, from 1906 to 1808, demands for
clvic improvements became incressingly pressing. How wells
woere dug for the watsr system, a sater tower was erected, and
m four miles of streot were macadamized, By the close of
his term in 1908 the city debt had risen to {220,000; the tax
lovy for 1906 was §136,467, for 1907, $161,070.
During the administration of John F, Lamont, 1908-1912,

the city erected two fire stetions, added to its sewage -
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facilitlies, inecressed the water plping, and paved more streets,
Moreover, 1tJtook steps to install its own municipel lighting
plant, but wes restrained by a decision of the State Commission
of Public Utilitles that current was being furnished the city
at a reasonable rate by the private utility.

In the latter part of 1911 a movement arose to adopt
the commissicn form of government, under which the city would
be governed by a mayor and two commissloners. In accordance
with State law, a petition was circulated and filed., The
movement was opposed, however, by the strong Germen Alllance,

a central organization representing several German societies,
which believed the commission system an absolute form of govern-
ment capable of becoming oppressive, At a public discussion

in the Opera House the Alllance was represented by John Ringle

and Anton Mehl, while the system was upheld by R. P. Wilcox of

Egu Claire and A, C. Schmidt of Veusau. It was clear before
the debate was finished thst public sentiment was sagainst the
proposal, and it was defeated at the polls on Febfuary 12, 1912,
by 2,000 to 738. '

After the elections of 1908 it became obvious that
the Republican farty in the Nation at large was badly divided.
The effect of this breach was felt immediately in Marathon
County, where between 1910 and 1917 the voters approved only
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eilght out of 21 Republican candidates for State or Eational
office, and four of these eight were Progressive. The
district's representatives at the 1912 Republican “ational
Convention were pledged to support Senator La Follette for
Prosident. Thls convention was highlighted by the nomination
of Taft over Theodore Roosevelt and the latter's Independent
candidacy. The split resulted in the election of the Democratic
candidate, Woodrow Wilson., Marathon County gave Wilson 4,443
votesy Taft, 3,033; Roosevelt, 1,274; and Bugene V, Debs,
Soelalist, 597, an increase of 322 from 1908, The Democratlc
gubernatorial cendidate, J. C. Karel, received 4,374 votes in
the county to 3,865 for Franclis McOGovern, his victorious
opponent; county offlices were divided.

Meanwhile the city, having reduced its Tavtes o
drastic economies in 1909, was once more faced with financlal
problems, The total tex levy for all city purposes for 1908
had been §204,456; for 1909, $130,353; for 1910, §154,262;
and for 1911, $168,823, In the spring of 1912 the net bonded
and State dedt of the clty wes $255,000; in October an additional
1ssue of $40,000 in waterworks bonds wes floated, Damage
ceused by the flood of July 24, 1912, made necessary extenslve
street repalrs and the replacement of brldges, At the same
time the people hed voted declsively to bulld a new clity hall,
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an undertaking which had been delayed since 1906; By 1013,
despite an increase of the tax levy to $210,718, the intebeste
bearing debt of Wausau approached $375,000. |

The ¥orld ¥War was a perplexing time for the Gsﬁnan, ;
people of this region, Though they strove to live down tﬁq .:
implications of their obvlously Teutonic culture by surpaaéiﬂg
themselves in menifestations of patriotism, there was?i s§§idy
undercurrent of resentment at the suspiclon vith-which'théy
were often regerded, their enforced registratlion as nlienféﬁemies,
and thé hatred suddenly poured upon their most harmless and
cherished institutions. La Follette and Victor Berger, ﬁ
Eilweukee Soclalist lecader and congressman, at thls time won
many friends for understending and volelng their vieupoinf, and
for opposing the war before 1ts declarstion and the intolerances
of wartime afterward, on the grounds of sane Americanism. In
1918 both Marathon County sssembly districts elected Socialists,
Charles Zarnke and Herman 4, Marth; though C, E. Blrd of ¥Yeusau,
running s a Republican, was electod to the Statec “enate, he
lost Marathon County by a slight majority. By 1920, however,
this feeling had largely subsided; the county shared the Hatlon's
reaction against ecverything connected with the war, and in 1its
new Republican zesal even gave majorities to a fow enti-La Follette
candidates.
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Except during the Repudblican division and the war
period Marathon County gave 1ittle support to Democratic State
or Eational eandidates between 1896, whon the party lost 1ts
local power, and 1932, the beginning of Frenklin D, Roosevelt's
liow Deal. Up to the electlon of 1934, when the independent
Progressive Party was first tested, its wvots in extra-local
clectiona‘waa entirely Republican save for the majority. given
the independent candidste for governor, Charles B, Perry, in
1926, During the same interval the Progressives made substantial
geins, Though in the poste-war 1920 landsllde the conservatives
captured State Senate and aaaembly'poats, the Progressives sent
E. B, Browne to Congress and Dr. Joseph Barber to the Fepubllecen
National convention in Chicegoe. In 1922 the Progressive
candidate for governor, John J, Elaine, swept the county with’
10,6562 votes, and the Progressives captured the congressional,
State senstorial, and sssembly offices. Dr. Barber was clected
to the State senate, J. W. Salter to the assembly from the
first district, and ﬁenry Ellenbecker to the assembly from the
second district. | ‘ :

The 1924 elc¢ctlion was much the same, except that Nilss
Hildred Barber, daughter of Dr. Barber, replaced Salter in the
aauinblr. In 1926 two chenges occurred, with Matt J. Derres,
Progressive, replacing Hildred Barber, and the conservstive
wing sending Otto Mueller to the State Senate to begln eight
years of service, Between 1926 and 1932, though there were
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several changes in office holders, the general party alignment
remalned much the same, with the Progressive faction becoming
firmly entrenched in the county.

In the Roosevelt landslide of 1932 the county.gave
Democrats majorities for all State and Natlonal offices.
Albert G, Schmedeman received 15,462 votes to Walter J. Kohler's
8,680; Frank J. Shortner and Frank E, Bachuber, both Democrats,
went to the assembly with substantial majoritiaa.l In 1933 the
Progressives formally abandoned the Republican label and set
up their own third party, and in the 1934 campalgn regained
much of their former strength. The veteran conservative, Otto
Mueller, was replaced by Roland K, Kannenberg in the State
Senates Rudolph A, Meisner, electgd to the assembly from the
second district, was the only Democratic survivor. Still
heavily Progressive in 1936, the county gave Franklin D, Roosevelt
17,898 votes for President over Alfred M, Landon's 7,328, 1In
1938, however, the Rppubllcan resurgence completely captured
Marathon County, with only one Progfosaive, John Dittbrender,
assemblyman from the second district; surviving the uphéavai.
Otto Mueller was returned to the senate to begin his fifth
biennial term.

' Wausau and Marathon County have thus felt the influence

of most of the major political parties in the history of the
United States, Starting with Whig tendencles, they soon fell

148



Miner Government and
Moore Politics
under the influence of 'Jacksonian Democrgcy. From 1852 to the
panlc of 1892, Democratic Party supremacy in local politics
was disturbed only bj the Greenback flareup of 1878 and 1879.
Thereafter, until 1934, when the Progressive factiﬁn split
from the Stalwarts, the Republican Party became the dominating
political influence, conservative at first, but leaning ever
more toward progressive influence, which became doﬁinant during
‘the World War. |

And while running the gamut of: parties, the community
has also sampled most Yankee political institutlons--town
meeting, caucus, convention, primary; town gbvernment, village
corporation, and two city charters. Into less than eighty
years of political identity the community thus compressed an

entire evolution of the phases of self-government.,
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The Schools

In 1848, two years before the orgenization
of Marathon County, Miss Katherine Livingston began

. temehing a private schocl at Big Bull Falls., The

exact nature of this school is unknown, thou@h
prosumably Miss Livingston was brought here by
parents who contributed Jolintly toward paying her
an $8 monthly salary and took turns at boarding
her, No more is known of this first formal sochool.
In March, 1864, the board of the Town of
Marathon passed a school tex of half a mill and
established the first public schvcl at Wausau. Its
original teacher was either "a young beardless youth
named Rousch, who had six scholars,” or W. A. Gordon,
who was preparing himself to practise medicine,
Quarters were rentedy the first classes were held

ina rough log building owned by Thomas Hinton, and

‘the next year were moved into Louis Holter's vacant

tallor shop on the uouth-udt corner of Third and
Jackecn Streets. A fow years later school was held
in the west half of the Louman'Shuvena bulilding at
211 Porest Street, the east half of which was occupled
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by 81las Stoddard's shoe shop. From 1858 to 1863 the
schoolroom, pepered with newspapers and furnished with
plain wooden benches, was used for Fresbytorlian Church
services,

From 1866 to 1867 the upper floor of M. D, Corey's
carpentor shop at 207 Washington Street also was enllsted

for school purposes, classes belng taught by lilas Hurylm.

Slosson (later ¥rs, John Tuttle), the flirst woman teacher

in the publlec schools, for a sslary of $4 a wesk and board,
She was succeeded by Mlss Loulse Dexter (Mrs., John Peters),
who 1n 1887 was furnished with an assistant, Miss Caroline P,
Halsey, elder daughter of the Presbyterlan minister, Charles
F, Halseyj, Other ocarly teachers were lrs, Daniel Kline,

lies Perry and lilss Cole,

Shortly before 1860 select schools began to epring
up, the flrst taught in 1868 by ¥rs, Harriet wylle, wife of
Dre D, B, Wylle, 1q a bullding on the southeast corner of
Washington and Second Streets, Classes were held 1n the
front room on ého first floors the rear room was a carpenter
shops end lMr, Oudsole, the owner, lived upstalirs, In 10569
a fire broke out, and two small boys sleeplng upstelrs were
suffocated by smoke,

A second school was oconducted by Mlss Ellza Dexter

in the basement of Judge Bartholomew Ringle's bullding at
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213 Jackson Street, Other private schools were established
by Krs. Ceorge Cesterline in her home on the southeast
corner of Third and Washington Streetsy by the Reve Thomas
Green ln the bullding now occupled by the Dudley-llrsch
Provision Company on the corner of First and Jackson Streets,
which then stood at about 206 Scott S8treetj and by the
Revy Emil Schultz, Universallist minlater, and hls wife and
hil sister, in the residence now standing at 516 HcClellsn
Streety The first school on the West Slde stood slmost
opposite the present site of the transformer statlon of the
Wisconsin Publlic Service Corporation on Harrison Boulevardj
the Rev, Js T. Caskill, & Methodlst minister, was the teacher,
S8itting on long crude benches with desks in front,
the children learned the multliplicetion table to the tune
of Yankee Doodle: "Five times five 1o twenty-rléo, and five
times slx 18 thirty.," Hentsl arlthmetlic was standard on
the currioculum, W;dp-cyed boye and glrls read in geographles
imported from the ast that here in the West Indlans were in
constant confllict with the whites, wild mustangs were laken
by lasso, and large herds of buffalo roamed the pralries,
But most universally remecmbered by ploneers are the lcCuffey
lieaders which were in use from the 1850's to the 1890%s,
Historical America sprang vlvidly colored from thelr pages,
Washington, Tlconderoga, the executlon of Nathan lale, and
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Paul Revere were there, and resding really wasn't so bad

an adventure with heroes. Spelledowns were often more fun
than worke Yvery other Saturday afternoon tha'glrll would
hilp the teacher scrub the floor and the boys would carry
buoketn'of water to them, When any boy committed en offense,
every boy in school was made a party to the crime, and ell
had to write penitential letters home,

In 1862 the 01d White School House, the first
public school bullding erected in Wausau, was bullt on what
is now the playground of the Washlington 8chool, The largest
and most pretentious structure in the entire county, it was
an lmposing two-story edifice set on the edye of the village
smong the stumps and rottes pine logs, Here school was
taught in 1862 and 1863 by Dr, Wa'ﬁo Soarles, a young man
Just gradusted from Lawrence College, After him came
James Pound, an unpopular ﬁed-goguo who reacelved rather
rough treatment du%inﬁ his two years of sorvice, Occaslon=-
ally he was waylald by disreapectful youngsters, once he
was hhroyn out of a window by an 1nﬁ4§nant cltisen, Following
Mre Pound came six other princlpals within the next ten
years, In October, 1869, the school census showed an
enrollment of 57 puplls 15 the primary grades, 52 in the
intermmediate, and 67 in the grammar department, "Hetter

school accommodations sre necded and the poople must soon
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see that they could gein much by making necessary lmprovew
ments," the Central Wisconasln warned,

In November of this year John Palzer opened an
.advanocd evening school conducted in the German language
with Woodbury's Oerman and English Orsmmer as & text, "It
18 very desirable that Wsusesu should have a high school
where people can educate and prepare thelr children for
college,” the Centrsl Wisconsin commenteds "We are glad to
see our Germen friends moving in this directlon and wish
them success,"” In 1872 a class in penmanshlp was organized
by De J¢ Cole, and sbout this time slso the Wauseu Seminary
opened, offering English, French, end German in R20-week
courses under the guldance of Mles Schultz and Miss Smlth,

Meanwhile, in 1871, & committee consisting of
W, Ce Silverthorn, R, P, Manson, and R« E, Parcher had urged
the establishment of e high school, saying "It is folly to
crowd into the common schools the higher branches of learning."”
They recommended proouring a State loan of 5,000 and ralsing
an additionsl $4,000 by taxation, 1n 1873 the School Board
" called a speclasl meeting of the taxpayers at which establighe
ment of & high school was approved, The next yesr the graded
system was established, presumably with hilgh school courses
included, though the date of establishment of the first high
school cannot be definitely ascertalned, There were no high

school graduates for another decadse,
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Untll 1874 the schools of Weusau were conducted
under the County Superintendent's difoctian. fiowever, after
the lncorporstion of the city in 1872, the City Board of
Eduecatlon and Clty Superintendent, both elective offlclals,
took over control of educatlons

*  From the first the city and 1ts orlginel superine
tendent, B, 4, Jesmes, were taxed with the problem that
persistently pursued subsequent sdminlstratlions for many
ycnrlunovorc?oudlnsp By 1873, with all departments of the
Write School jammed, the clty flosted a §10,000 bond lssue to
builé the §28,000 Humboldt School on the grounds of the
prnn.nt Central Schools It was the fiprst brick bullding in
Wausau, and had an-t&&u capacity of 500,

uoaﬁ-hllo the citizens were Ly ne means satlisfled
wieh'tholr schools, In.1874 a letter 1n the centra;‘wxaoonuln
argued: "we have long folt as 1f the course of studles in our
schools might be much improved 1f some of those which are of |
l1ittle use in after 1life, as algebrs, @pnmatr§, rhetorlc,
the dead langusges and some others, should be set aslde, and
mofe attentlon given to the natural sclences, such as botany,
chemistry, climatology, matonnloay-(aio).-a!hlah have a
bearing upon the pursuits of rural 1ife.," This letter
expressed a growing trend of oplnlon 1n_r¢vor of more practical

studles,
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¥hile thls protest was gathering force, an attack
from another directlon threatoned the very existencoe of the
school system, In Harch of the panlc year 1877 Dartholomew
Ringle, who had previously served as pollce Justice, mayor,
and county judge, proposed to close the schools as an economy
measures "The amount to be saved,” retorted the Torch of
Liberty, "sould have been ssved on printing for the clty or by
eliminating some other form of public graft or lncompetency."
A little later the ssme paper reported that Ringle "now
proposes to do away with a principal, stop the teaching of
nli branches exocept those taught in our common country schools,
and mekeé such departments independent of the othersy thus
destroying the grude of the school, reduclng our school
system to the level with the backwoods log schoolhouse status,
depriving one=half of our children of any further chance to
advance and totally destroying the chance of any and all poor
children to scquire such an educatlon as would ex:x-ble them
to enter the"uapeothble.riold of teaching, in which so many
poor boys and glrls have found the means to fit themselves
for useful and honorable situeations in soclebye.s.sThe 0ld man
1s in his dotage, his second childhood 18 upon him, and he
ought to be relieved from further officlel ceres.”

The threat had no consequences, In 1881, W th a

comblned attendance of 1,000 as compared to 868 in the previous
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yoar, the Bchools were recorganized, The hligh school
princlpnl became oibyluuparintendnnt ox officlo, thus
preciplitating a controversy that lasted many years as to
wvhether the combined jobs wers too much for one man, The
curriculum was lald out in a course of twelve years, three
of which were primery, three intermedliate, two grammar, and
four hlah:sohool. In 1862 German was Introduced in the
school curriculum with Professor Philip Imig teaching 1t,
He was followed Ly Hens J. Helse, who soon turned to
Journalism,

¥hen the establ ishment of a new Stete Normael School
was decided upon in 1083, Weusau bld for it aggressively,
"Prom this region,” sald the Torch, referring to northern -
Wisconsin, "are gathered the prinelpal revenues of the
government and yet the appropristions of Covernment monles
for internsl improvements are given to the lower Wlsconsin
end Fox river, and the shores of Lske Michigan, Nearly all
of the public school funds are gathored from thls vast wooded
dlqtrich and yet the Normal schools are all locaﬁod in the
southern part of the State, Why should nol Stevens Polnt,
Wsusaa or Merrill have a Normal School a8 well sa Platteville,
¥hitewater, Oshkosh or River Falls?" Ironicelly the paper
won its argument but lost its fight: Stevens Folnt got the

schiool,.
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The first senior high school class under the new
system was greduated 1n 1084, It was composed of two puplls,
Hiss Flizabeth C, Hhodou‘an& John E, Eggers, HReporting on
the commencement exerclses, the Central ¥Wisconsin of
June l4th declared: "The only criticlsm to be offered was
that the two pupils graduating lecked training in elocution
and oratoricel studles and practice, The gradusting class
certalnly exhibited strong minds and dOOp.thought and research T
in the toplcs they h;ndled, but . both the subject and effect
were Injured by lack of just what was needed at that time,"

‘In_iéai the free high school system was voted by
the common councll, snd in 1885 Waussu iiigh School was
placed on the accredited list of the State University., DBy
the following yesr instruotlon was being given in Cemman,

- readling, grammar, literature, arithmetlc, ancient and
modern history, geography, and bookkeeplngs In 1886, also,
an ungraded elementary night school was establlished for
those unable to sttend during the day but who wished to

“ #ontinue thelr studles, It was especlally useful because
boys of grade~school ages frequently worked in the millsj
it had an enrollment of 86 1n its first year,

‘The olty was badly ln need of sdditional grade
school facilitles, The Ilumboldt Annex, cslled the "Foundry
school™ bocause of 1ts proximity to the foundry, had been
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built in 18803 in 1881 the Crant School hed beon erected
on the site now occupled by the Pled Piper Shoe Compsny; end
in 1883 the Frankllin School w.s erected, Hevertheless, a
survey made by the Centrsl Hlsconsin in the lntter‘yunr
showed that "all depertmente are overcrowded, MNany of the
‘teachers have from 70 to 90 scholars snd sre crowded three
in a seat," The seating capaclity of the six schools was
less than 1,100, slthough the city udnts;nnd 2,000 children
of school ages Classes were belng held in an sbandoned
carpenter shops -

In the face of this conditlon the City Councll made
an appropriastion for the construction of two schools, The
Board of Bducatlon, howover, used all the money in bullding
the Columbla School in 1685, This sction by the board brought
a wave of protest, The Torch complalined that ite business
was "arranged by a minority of members,"™ and that 1t had
"little or no interest in the schools.” On March 19, 1885,
this nowspeper revealed that "gearly one fourth of the
children (on the West side) growing 1nto manhood are none
attendants of the publie schools, some on account of the long
distance to the schoolhouse, but most of them because there
was no room even 1f they could attends Children now sttending
the schools on the west slde, are only allcowed one«half

days'! attendancO.see
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"But then, ignorance breeds submisslion to 'Ring!
rale like filth does disesse; besldes the shining intellects
of our local bosses are not supposed to look further than
a glass of beer and an sppropriation from the City fund Dr
some solfish scheme of their own, DBut we npgeui to the
fathers and mothers of our cltys OCuard your little ones,
by insisting on more libersl nppropriutlong to the common
schools end less waste in City government,"

Mesnwhile the allied subjocts of compensation for
teachers and the quality of teaching had been thoroughly
dilouused.‘ As early as 1878 the Torch had bewalled the lack
of ebllity among teachers, writing "It should be the aim of
our school board to increase the greade of teachers, It 1s a
mistaken 1dea thet a person who simply knows the slphabet
is by virtue of that knowledge, comp@bnnh to teach the alpha=
bet; Lt 18 & misteke to think that s mastery of the comwon
branches i@ sufficlent qualification to teach those brancheogw=
our teschers neod more than these," The salarles of teachers
in primery and intermediato departments were still only (33,33
per maﬁth, while thet of the principael, G, W, Witter, was
sl,OdO. The principel's salary was increased $200 the
followlng year,

While the public schools were righting for better
equipment, private tultlon schools became numerous and

flourishing, filling, in a messure, the need for higher
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educetional feclilities, In 1082 Mrs, K, O, Hughes and

Miss Fannie LeGross opened a select school in the ruuitsti&n
poom of the high school bullding, charglng @& tultlon fee of
$200, Other private schools were those of the Misses Clara
and Lute Judson, who set up classes ln the White School 1n
18865 of Hies Lute 8ingle, who opened a school for children
under twelve years of age the same year; of Miss Imma Brlggs,
who opened & school to fill in the sumer vacation periodsy
and of Gesrhert and Bardeen, who opened the Wauseu Telegraph
college in 1883,

In the meantlime, parochlal educatlon was developling
along a number of lines, Though psstors end church members,
especlally in earlier years, had always done some clementary
toaching, the establishment of formal classes and schools hed
to ewslt the growth of congregations with sufflclent resources,
As oarly as 1871 the Rev, I, T Briggs had natubllihod 8
class of 32 in the Nethodlst Tplscopal Churchy In 1879 the
zion Lutheran congregation established the first parochial
school, with a Hr._Do;nroldt as teacherjy this school acqulred
a bullding in 1884, when the congregation erected a now
church bullding and turned the old cne over to the school.
St. Stephan's Lutheran congregation organiged a Chrlistlan
Day=school under €, Golse 1n 1888, only a year after the
founding of the church; the followlng year the lev, F., Kern,
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pestor of the Bvangollcal Sty Paul's Church, oponed a night
school at ﬁho churehi Io 1883 the Cathollie Society of
Weusou dodicated St lary's School under the management of

: Pathor R&qhardl; aaupondiqg to the dénnnd for a more
practical curricalum, ln ad&itlon to the ususl publlic schoel
subjects St Mary's School gave lnstruction 1ln sewling,
knitting, gnd other useful ;rts. Pour Slsters from lllwaukee
taught 100 students the flirst yoar,

: The fast development of the parochlel schools, and
the teaching of forelign langusges in the publlu'qohoola,
aroused dissatisfesction In many parts of the Stnﬁe. fven
here, desplte the old-country treditions of the people and
their loyalty to their churches, the Torch argued Iln 15773
"That would the advocates of Cerman 1o our public schools
thiink of a froe school system in Germany where Llhe publlc
monlies were taken Ea defray the expenses of temchling the
Dnglish language to the children,..Thls 18 Americas" In 10689
the Republican State leglslature passed the Bennett law,
‘requiring children to attend schools in the districts in
which they lived and stipulating the use of Fnglish in the
exem;ntury schools, The Torch defended the law, saylng "The
~ frec schools are for the education of Americansss. In the
English we all meot on common ground and here we want to say

in plein English thet right, truth, common sense and common
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honesty demand that the teschlng of the Oerman or any
language othor than the E&gliah stould. be at once and
forever stopped in our froe public schools,”" But the
people saw in the law only un ettack upon parcchlsl schools,
a plece of Know-Nothinglamj the Republicens were vengefully
trounced the next year, snd the BDennett law was ropesled,

In 1889 the historlec 0ld White Bchool, 1ts former

. glory now reduced to shabby dilapldation, was cold for (226,

tho boerd of educatlon keeplng the bell, After that school
wes held for a time in a part of the bullding now the home
of John F, Montay at 302 B, Randolph Street, During the
ensulng decale the school system was conslderably ﬁndernlaadu
The comblned office of city superintendent and high schéul
principal was dlscontlnued, and two superintendents were
chosen, one for the high school and the other for the grades,
thus providing "two strong men &t the hesd of the schools,”
The efflcacy of birchlng as anlaid to study and good bshavior
was questioned, and new subjocts eppoared ln the curricula,
In 1890 an orsl school for the deaf wss started, In 1801,
following the success of Mrs, Lillle G, Craven's private
kindergarten in 18069, a kindergarten braneh was added to

the public schools, In 1302 the ‘oard of Hducatlion placed
music permanently 1n the program, argulng that 1t could be

"l ecarnéd when the puplls were wearled from thelr other
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work and not able to do thelr best," Drawing was sddoed
in 1897,

In 1009, after two years of newspaper campalgnlng,
¥illlam Re Johnson of the Lincoln School purchased equipment
with his own money and, without walting for the sanction
of the school board, established the first course ln manusl
trainings 18 move was 80 populer that the board sent him
to Chicago for a course of study in the work, The following
year domestic sclence and manual training equipment were
installed in the High School bullding, and Mr, Johnson became
principal and director of manual tralnlng ln the Llncoln
Schools "If nothlng more 1t has awskensd an interest in our
schools where that intorest was most neoded,"™ the Central
wlnodng&g ;hnouncld in January of 19034 "It has brought
home to the minds of many parents, who previously looked
upon the schools as a sort of naooséary ovil, the fact that
the school i1s for thelr children,”

: in 1890 commerclal nlnd physicel education departments
wore added to the lligh School ocurriculum, whereupon, iu the
opinlon of the Centrsl Wisconsin that instltutlion became
"a model of 1ts kind and the envy of cilties that have less
progressive and up=teigte people,”

The 1890¢f;:1ao saw a continued expansion in
achool buiiding. By 1807 it had become necezsary to rent
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ciaasronal in the Baptist Sunday school, the basement of

Ste Peul's Church, and M. ¥. Pertridge's store bullding.
Accordingly the Weshington School was bullt in 1889, the
Lincoln in 1892, the Longfellow in 1894, and s new Hilgh
School in 1898, '

: Heanwi-ile Interecst in sdult educatlon was becoming

more active as the State provided faclilitlies, In 1894 a
committee was orgsnlzed to secure a Unlversity of Wisconsin
extension lecture course, At a meeting presided over by
School Superintendent W, R. Moss, it was agreed that Wausau
and Nerrill people should sponsor the preject jJjointly to
ghare expenses, From & broad list of courses offered the
citizens chose one on astronomy under Professor George
Comstocks, The admission fee was £1.00 for adults and 50 cents
for childrens |
In 1886 the Teussu Business College, now known as
the Wausau Institute, was cstabllshed by Professor C, M.
Boylea, with llive students. In 1888 the business college
and the high school cooperated in introdacling lecture courses
in Weussu. Instructers from both lnstitutlons gave lectures
at both schools. Among the subjects thus taught were
chemistry, peamsnship, muslc, polltlcal economy, soclal
sclence, government and forelgn countrles. In comment, the

Torch stated: "We fully believe that the signs of the times
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indioato that a great revivel in education 1s soon to take
poassesslon of the United 3tates, that the coming man 1s to
be learned, that Lhe almighty deller 1s to be, with him, a
seccndary conslderation, a means, not an endjy that the
American 1s to lead the world in 3clence, Art, Musiec, and
Literature." Unier Professor B. D w1dmar,iuho took over
the management In 1908, the business college came to be a
noteworthy Iinstitutlon throughout the entire north-central
rogion of Wi sconaine

In 1693 Gillberry and Right, woodecarvers fronm
Boston, opened a aschool of carving in Wausau, and Professor H
Glucksohn opened a school for Jewlsh chlldren in the Business
Cellege bullding, giving iRstructlion in the Bible and in
the Hebrew languages

In 1095 the NWorthwestern Tralning 3chool for Nurses
waa organized and incorporated by some of the leading women
of w.uniu;- Operated in connection with Dr. Douglas 3Saueprs
heringts Riveralde Bosplt#l, it offered lectures by
Dre Fs Re 201t of Medford, Drs Os Te Hougen of Crand Raplds,
and Dra. W. We Wilson, P¢ J¢ Taugher, L. E, Spencer and
Sauerhering of Wausaus 31x pupils were admitted for the
first year and thereafter the enrollment was 1imited to tens

Meanwhile county educational authoritlies had been

working for a number of years on & plan to train rural
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teachers, Hitherto country schoocls had been supplied by
graduates from the high schocl's course in teaching methods.
A hint of the 1nnd¢quney of this system is glven by the fact
that in 1889, amnng the high school graduates who passed the
examinations for rural teaching certificates, some were
refused permita becauge they were under 16 years of age.
After 1895 County 3uperintendent John Fe Lamont
spent two years or more investigating problems of rural
teachings His report to the County Board 1s of historie
importance in Wisconain education. He found that the current
lack of bopular interest In rural schocl work was caused, not
by a reluctance to spend sufficient money, but by a conviction
that such expendltures were unjuatlriqd in view of Lhe poor
quality of teschings Lamon® thought that the remedy lay in
betteor teacher trainings It had been realized for a long
time that the 3tate NWormal 3chools were unabls to supply
competent teachers for rural schoolss They graduated 400
students annually from the advanced courses and only about
200 from the elementary courses.  Tha ¢city schools of the
ata:§ employed an estimated 2,000 teachers, the rural schools
9,9003 there was a turnover of 2,500 teachers each year. In
view of these facta 1t scemed olear that the 3tate Normal
Schools would be unable to supply enough teachers even should
the rural school districts pay saleries sufficient to hire
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their graduatess Lamocnt's sclution was a county normal
school, which would provide properly trained tesachoers from -
within the communities themselves and would give loeal
young people facilitles for higher education.

In 1898, upon recelving Lamont's report, the County
Board passed an ordinance establishing a County Tralning
School for Teachers and appropriasting £3,000 a year for its
supports This ordinance was illogal becnusé the county then
had no power Lo set up such an institutlion. Therefors
Assenblyman G. E. Vandercook of Marathon County introduced In
the 1899 leglslature an enablling act, drawn up by 3tate
Superintendent L. Ds Harvey, glving an annusl State ald of
£1,250 to such schools. Backed by As L. Kreutzer in the
State 3enate, the bill wa=z passed and the "Marathon Plan® went
into effect the same year. The school cpened 3September 11,
1899, In the new high schoel bullding, wlth O EZ. Wells
as principal and Miss Rosalia Bohrer as assistant. It gave
a 40-weeks course of instruction. Thirty-four pupils
enrolled the first quarter, 40 the second, 40 the third and
44 the fourth,

Dunn County socn organized a segend county norumal
schoole Both Institutlons were closely studled by educa-
tional authorities, for they were the firat of their kind in

the United Statess 7The success of the plan was manifest in
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the first annual report of the school, which announced that
at least five more countles were proparing to estadlish
similar institutionss Commenting on the first commencement
in 1900, when 23 teachers were graduated, the Central
Wisconsin said "It may safely be sald that the school has
successfully passed through the experimental stage, and that
alﬁost all that was clalmed fcr it has been accomplished."”
In i90§ Superintendent Lamont declared "the work of the
gradvates of the Marathon Cocunty Tralnlng 3chool for Teachers
is far better than the work of those who have not had
special preparation for the profession of teachings Il 1s
refreshing to note the clean cut, progressive work of the
training school teachers."

In 1901 the legislature passed a bill providing
for the establishment of county schools of agriculture which
were %0 bear the same relation to the educational system as
did the countiy normals. Still enthusiastic over the whole
idsa, Marathon County 1n 1302 established the Marathon
County Schcol of Agriculture and Domestic Economy, and
Foster & Son of Ashland built a structure to house both the
Normal School and the Agricultural Schoocle HMs Re Bs Johns of
Madiscn was engaged as principal of the Agricultural School,
and Miss Emma Conley became assistant in éharga of the
Domestic Economy department. Boys were taught treatment of
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solls, plants, and animals, blacksmithing, mechanical drawing,
carpentry, and rural architecture; girls learned coocking,
laundering, sewing, floriculture, lLome management and deco-
rations Academic subjects included English, history, elvil
government and commercial arithmetic with farm accountse In
1917 and 1918 the school drew $5,343 1n State aidj neverthels ss,
at the end of the school year of 1917 the county board
abolished the imstitution.

In 1904 3uperintendent Karl Mathle reported an
enrollment of 3,241 in the public schools, 773 in the
parochlal schools. The populatlion was growing so rapidly
it was ostimated that two extra rooms would have to be added
to the school plant annually to provide for the increase
in the numbers of children. There were ll male teachers
and 68 female teachers. The practical subjects were still
popular; 346 boys took manual training, 45 girls took sewing,
and 122 took cookings The parochlal school movement had
cont inuned; in 1908 the Trinity Lutheran School was organlzed,
and in 1913, that of 3t. Michael's Church. Both St. Mary's
3chool and the Zlon Lutheran School acquired new bulldings
in 1916,

The school authoritles had been progressive in the
field of child healths As early as 18094 the Board of
Béucatlion had adopted a rule that no children should be
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admitted into a public school unless they were vaccinated,
Medlcal Inspection was established in 1909, but a few years
later this work was taken over by the City Health Department.
In 1915 a school nurse was employed by the Health Department;
later a second nurse was added to assist in follow-up work, and
at present the Health Department 1s alded by the Children's
Infirmary, one of the departments of the Federated Charilties,
which works in cooperation with the schools. In 19283 a free
dental ¢linlic was established, the equipment belng provided
thrbugh the efforts of the Klwanls Club. For two years the
local dentlsts contributed time to this undertakings then
the Board of Education took over ihe work. Meanwhile the
school for supernormal pupils, organized in 1902, was
supplemented in 1919 by a achool for backward pupils.

Under the State law of 1911 requiring cities over
5,000 to set up vocational schools, the tausau Industrial
School was organlized in 1912, at first holding classes in the
newly-built Grant School (1910) and the Pranklin 3chool, and
later, when the new city hall was completed, in the old city
bulldinge When the Central School was opened in 1519 the
Industrial School was Lransferred there, where 1t occuples
the first and part of the secund floorse. Until that year most
of the students held Jobs and attended classes only a few
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bours each week, Facllitles were limited, and 1t was
difficult to give instruction in sll desired flelds, After
1919, however, a machine shop, a palnting and decorating
department, and a sheet metal department were added; the
followlng yoar a commercial department was installed. Then
as new units were added to the Central School, the Industrial
School .uoquired increased space and facilitles, The student
body was gradually shifting from a part-tize to a full-time

LS

basls; attendance at theevenlng schools also wss increasing.

" Woodworking instructlon obtalned more space; printing and

auto mechanles departments snd sn English room and 1ibrary
were added,

At present (1939) the Industriasl School offers
instruction in genersl metsl work, drafting, meschine shop,
woodworklng, printing, electrlcal work, linotjpe operation,

. suto mechanlcs, and welding, For girls there are homemaking

and personal !mprovement courses., The commercial subjects
are taught under Joint susplices of the hligh school and the
Industrial- School. 4 vocatlonsl agricultural department,
replacing the old county agrlcultursl school, glves classes
in theoreticsl and practical farm methods one day a week
for more than 100 farmer boys, while a complete University

of Wisconsin extension division freshmen program, taught
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by university instructors and glving university credlt,
has been asdded, The enrollment of 601, largest in 1lts
history, crowds the shop departments far beyond capsclty
and leaves the facllitles inadequate, The evening school
in 1938 taught more than 1,700 pupils.

The parochlal schools instruct anbther 1,700
children. The Zion Lutheran School has an enrollment of
spproximately 200; the St, Stephan's Lutheran, about 80;
the Trinity Luthersn, more than 3003 St. Micheel's, about
200; end St, Mary's, the largest, more than GO0, In 1931
a sixth parochial school, St. James'!, was opened and now
teaches some 300 puplls.

In the public schools the prinecipsal problem of the
baat 25 years has been the greatly increased high school
enrollment, part of the Natlon-wlde populsrization of
secondary education during the same perlod, Between 1910
and 1938 the number of'puplls increased flvefold, In 19283
s junior high school, consisting of seventh, eighth, and
ninth grades, was created; though the enrollment in the
elementary gredes wes decreased very llttle by thils step,
some of the burden was temporarily tsken from the high
schools By 1931, however, the high school enrollment was
a8 high as before the sepuration, grade school enrollment

had not dropped, and the new Junlor high school had 830 puplls,
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The onset of the depression In 1920-1930 further
affected enrollments, The immedlate offect was to sharply
cat enrollment in the two high schools, from 1,588 to 1,400,
By the next year an opposite trend had set 1in, as young
people who otherwlise would have found Jobs were forced
insteasd to go to school. Since then the elementary grades
have shown a slow but steady decline, bdut the high school
enrollment has risen steadily. From 1,400 in 1929-30 1t
rose to 1,746 the followlng year, to 2,008 ln 1933«34, and
to 2,460 in 1938-39. In the latter year the total enrcllment
in the schools was 5,005, of which 2,730 were 1ln the grsdes
(compered with 3,460 in 1920-1930), 1,001 in junior high
school, and 1,468 in senlor high school.

Though at tlimes hard pressed for funds and
ricilltiat during this period, the secondary schools
maintained high snd progressive standards.’ Under
S. B. Tobey, veteran clty superintendent who ‘a.ervmd from
1905 to 1934, snd his successor, L. C. Hirseh; Irs C. Palnter,
senlor high school principal from 1911 to 1937, G. W. Banner-
man, who replaced Mr. Palnter after having served as
junior high school princlpsl since 1ts founding, and
E. 5, Boettcher, present junlor high school principal,

one new service after another has been fitted into the
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increasingly complex educationsl systeme There are now
complete physical, chemlcal, and blological laboratorles;
the art, muslic, industrial arts, domestlc sclence, snd
Prench departments have expanded notably. The senlor high

- school library, able to seat between 200 and 300 persons,
has more than 7,000 volumes; the junior high school, about
3,500 volumes., OGuidance and sptlitudle exploration have
received increased attentlon. One of the most valuable
developments 1n recent years has been ln vIsual instructlion.
Every room in the public schools 1is equipped with electrical
connections for the attachment of projectors and with
screens for visual worke. Plctures for classes in geography
have been gathered, and lentern slides snd stereoptlicons,
£11m strips and projectors, porteble moving plcture machines
and sound fllm projectors purchased. Among the more
recently bullt schools have been the John Marshall, In 1922,
the G. D. Jones in 1931, and the first unlt of the now

high school, bullt in 1936, The value of sites, bulldings,
and equipment now is ontimated‘at $2,360,000; there are

173 teachers, and the annual cost of malntenance 1s more

than 3500,000.
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Though the men who came north ln the 1850's and
1860's to mow the great pine forests and raft thelr logs
down the rivers brought with them none of the refinements of
cultivated 1living, they liked tql;lton to & good yarn well
told or a sentimental ditty about the tender msliden who loved
a8 strapping lumberjack. MNost of sl1)l, they llked the balladas
that glorified thelr hard and lonely profession. The man
with a 1lively fancy and a knack for drematic song could .o
fron lumber camp to lumdber camp, slways sure of earning a
welcome by singing for a couple of hours in the evening,
after the day's work was done and the woodsmen were gathered
around the bunkhouse stove,

The lumberjack bards of the northern woods constie
tuted a new variation on the type of the folk poet, creating
a distinctive genre indigenous to the day and reglon.
Technleally crude, nalve 1n thought and sentiment as it 1ls,
their verse has a certsin enduring interest through its
honest reflection of a femillar humen type 1n exactling
clrcumstances and the flavor 1t conveys of a free, energetic,

and, at thls distance, highly plcturesque life, One of the
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minstrels of the plneriocs was Willlam N, Allen, who came to
Wausen from eastern Canada in 1868 and spent more then a
half century here as a surveyor and crulser 1ln the northern
woods, He b&cm a great favorite In the lumber camps. Lis
songs, set to such traditlionsl tunes as "Erin's Green Shore"
and "014 Lang Syne," were sung by river pllots and bowsmen
all along the Wisconsin and upper Mississlippi. OSoue of them
were eventually published 1n the Wsussu newspspers under
Allen's pen name "Shan T, Boy," end the Harvard University

Press has included four of his poems 1ln 1ts collectlon,

Ballads So of the Shanty-Boye # characterlstic
specimen of his work 1s his "Come A1l You Jolly Shanty-Boys":

Come sll you jJolly shanty-boys and listen
to my song,

*T1s one I've just lnvented and it won't
detain you long :

About a pretty muﬁeu, a damsel gay and falr,

¥ho dearly loved a shanty-boy upon the Big
“au Claire.

The shanty=boy was handsome and a husky
lad was he,

In summertime he labored in the mill atl Hoslnee,

When ¢hilly sutumn came slong and blew 1ts
blasting breeze, -

He worked upon the Blg Esu Clalre at chopplng
down pine trees,

He loved s milliner's daughter, he loved her
long and well,
7111 cilrcumstances happened snd this 1s what befell,
The milliner swore the shanty-boy her daughter
ne'er should wed,
But Sallie dldn't care a cent for all her
mother sald.
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So when brown sutumn came slong and ripened
all the crops,
She lighted out ror Baraboo and went to

pioklng hops,
"rv;s in tils oeoupat;ion she found but little
07

For thoughts came rusning to her mind about 3
her shanty-br ye

She took the scarlet rcvar; lay sick a week

or two,
Within a dr-aary pesthouse way down 1In Baraboo.
Orttimes 1n her rsvings, she tore her auburan halr
And talked about the mmt.y-boy upon the Blg

Bau Clalre.

¥hen this news reached the shanty-boy hls
labors he did leave,

His terrible anxlelty was aswlful to perceive;

He hid his ssw in 2 hollow log and carted off
hls ax,

And hired him out as pllot on a fleet of
Jumberjacks.

'"Twas at the falls of Moslnes, he fell from
a preciplce,

And put an end to hls career and all hls
miseries,

The bold Wisconsin river 1t is :-oning cter
his brow,

His frlcnds and his companions thoy are
weeping for him now,

The milliner is bankrupt, and her shop has
gone to wrack

She telks of mving some’ fine day way down
to Fond du Lacg

At night her plllow's haunted by her daughter's
euburn halr,

And the ghost or that young shanty=-boy upon the
Big Eau Claire,

Come all you malds with tender hearts and be
advl by me,
Don't be so raat. to fall 1n love with everyone
Jou Be0,
The shanty-boys are rowdies just as everybody knows,
They dwell up in the forest wheore the mighty
pine tree growa,
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They're stealing logs and shingle bolls, and
telling loves and lies,
And playing cards and swesaring 1s the way they

exerclse,

But 1f you will get marrlied for your comfort
and your Joy,

I'd have your cholce to fall upon sn honest
shanty=boye.

In the flrst hard years of timber-cutting there
were few women ln the vieinity of Waussu, but as the lumberw
men brought thelr wives and started to bulld permsnent homes
here, a village grew up sbout the sawmlill camps. Now there
were dances in the tavern at Mosinee and, during the 1860's,
at Columbie Park in Wauseu, On these occasions the musiec
was provided by a one-man orchestra consisting of Hlke
Rousseau, foreman at the McIndoe mill, who played his flddle
and sang out the figures of the squere d;nea in a stentorian
voice.

With tle arrival of several famillies of German
immigrents during the 1860's, sgltation began for some kind
of muslicel organizstion, The first was a male chorus, the
Haennergessng, which was formed In 1866 and continued through
the next five years. Nusical instruments were expan#ive,
but the villagers were sufficiently intent on providing
themselves with entertainment to “chip 1n"™ on the purchase
of band equlpuent. Twenty buslness men volunteered thelr

services, a dlrector was secured, end in 1867 the Wausau
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Cornet Band was establlshed. Ienceforward Weussu wss never
without a band or orchestra to play for 1ts dances or other
public functions. Regular concerts socon livened the soclal
atuosphere. |

In the 1860's Frances Hlller, [irst of Wausau's
young people to attaln outslide fsme In art, spent her
glrihood here. She became s protege of Longfellow's and
wrote the story of her life in a 254-page poem entitled
"Edalalne”, modelled after "tvangeline.” Later she studled
singing, made her operatic debut in Nilen, and returned to
this country as a singer under the name of F. Rowena M¥edlni,

The villege now began to feel the need for a
public gathering place. Late in 1869 Jacod Kolter opened
Music Hall in the second story of his bullding on the
northwest corner of Third and Washington Streets, and almost
immedistely the entertaimment fleld wldened, The Wausau
Dramatic Soclety was formed. Presenting four or flve
productions a year to the ancnmpnntmaht of Frank Schubew's
band, it travelled by horse and buggy to perform at other
settlements in the county and even Journeyed as far as
Appleton. Eventually bhe-leadins lugy left town, the other
ladies married, snd the soclety broke up. Lectures,
elocutionists, soclety dances and band concerts continued to

divert the populatlion, which in 1875 anumbered 2,820,
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Meanwhile, in 1871, Joseph Welsh, another forester
bard of the Wausau reglon, had issued his Musings, a pamphlet
of verse publlished locally., On 1ts tltle psge the suthor
gives a thumbnail 1ife-sketch which could serve as the type=
blogrephy of the northern woodsman poet of frontier days: ‘
"The happy thoughts herein contained were written during
the lelsure hours of the euthor -hzlo engaged as river
pilot, soldler, fammer and dsy laborer,.." Nany of these
"thoughts™ celebrated the local scene, embroldering 1t with
the sentimontsl fancles chefldhed by the lonely woodsman:

The Mald ¢f RIb Hountaln '

esss Her cheeks are like cherries, snd as for her eyes
They glisten like dlsmonds, or stars in the skles;

And for her behavior it is very complete,
Her lips are like mbles and klsses so swect,

And as for her headdress there is few can compare,

It 13 made out of roses eand lilles so falr;
And her lovely suburn halr, it hangs dangling around,
All over her shoulders more softer than down,.

And as for her riches we'll not mentlon 1t, -

She has riches enough, she has virtue and wit,
She has virtue and wit and what would you have more?
She has my whole heart and I do her adore...

The plece where she lives 1s the foot of a hill
Near the foot of a mountaln where runs a clear rill;
™e place where she lives, 1f you wish to know,
Is the foot of RIb Mountain, where tall pines do grow.
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In other peoms Welsh employs the racy ldiom of the
logging csmps to record glimpses of the lumberjack's intimate

 1ife:

The Barber's Spree

%hen firat in Weausau I got tight,
If rightly 1 remember;

It wos one dark and stormmy night,
About the montlh November.

I started off, as 1 suppose,
For the hotel to look

The sidewslk came agsina% my nose, .
At every step I tock. ‘

I found the place as best I could,
The landlord looked quite shaken;

He says, YYou have been plowlng mud,
Or I am much mistaken.'

'Well, yee,' says 1 & 1ittle shy,
tBut do not look with malliceg

Took too much decklosd up iln town,
And need a little Eallast,!

'You leave my house, you dirty louse,
You know I am no foolerg

Or Dave Baurnett you just can bet,
Will put you in the cooler.!

*You go to grass, my dear old lark,
Barpett will never find me';

So 1 steered my course off in the dark,
And never looked behind mBesss

E. J. Rifleman, W. G. Brown, Henry J. McEay and

- Orvis Vaughsn slso composed verse that may be classified

emong the local products of lumberjack minstrelsy, though
the: often went outslde the usual fleld for thelr subdjJect
matter, Thelr work 1in this genre closely resembles that of

Ailcn,' Welsh and other poets of the timberland, whose ball ads
and ditties have 1n general a pes=like similarity.
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fIn 1871, the same year that Welsh's Husings was
published, several men organized s liturary.aocietﬁr, the Pine
Enot Club, and established a private llbrary In the office
of the Iisconsin River Pllot; s second German chorus, the
Harmony Male Cholr, succecded the Maennergesang; and a slnglng
class was under waye :

Gradoslly, now, the rude and democratlc socclety
of frontler days was being sifted and stratified by the rise
to affluence of a group of 1zmbcxﬁnn, brewers, lawyers,
merchents, and realtors who, through craft ﬁr luck, were
managlng to divert. into their own pockets much of the wealth
from the river and rdrest. The firast symptom of thls change
was the appesrance of seversl mansions which sprang up mong
the commonplace houses 1n the valley. These monumental

plles of wood or stone, with their turrets, cupolas, carriage

' porches, bays, gebles, and plate-glass windows, Indlcate the

presence of a soclsl class possessing the weslth and lelsure
to cultivate the arts but lacking, .as yet, a taste llkely
to express itself in any othor way than that covered by the
term "consplcuous waste,® Ferhaps the most active and
influential genulne local archlitect during this period was
John Mercer, who bullt many of the large, comfortasble, and,

in some cases, elegant old homes slong Crand Avenue 1n the

183



Jenson Arts and Letters

1870%s, as well as a number of massive businéu places slong
Third Strest, Ixamples arc the Wisconsia Valley Trust
Company's Su!.ldi@ on the southesst corner of Third and
Washington Streets and the lasonic Temple, 51&’-’-18 Third Street,

The nature of cultursl activities began to changes.
Alongslde the spontaneous croatloan, performance, and
appreclation of people seekling only to express or amuse
themselves, a sophisticatling impulse was at work, “hile
minatrel shows, band concerts, impersoanstors, and Cerman
farces continued to hold the center of the scene, in one
sector of the community a consclous effort towerd self-
Improvement gradually took shspes In 1877 a group of young
women formed the Ladles! Literary Society. All had x-ecentiy
come from the East; most were in thelr ogr'ly SO's; some were
college gradustes, Thelr professed object was "to promote
intellectusl and social calture in thls community and to
edvence whatever relates to the best interests of the clty."
At the concluslion of 1ts first year lrs. Nery Scholfleld
reporteds

"The 1dea of thils socleby being composed of ledles
was 8lmply that we might galn confidence and teke part l.n'
proMnsa that we should hesitate to do were the other
sex present, Uneccustomed to spesking or reading before
other than home mdlences 1t was at first difflicult for the
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l1sdles to mansge thelr volces even before one another, But
by persisteant endeavor we are beglnning to feel a :zfeedw in
conversing and resding that we hope will pave the way to a
greater dlverilty in our programs and incressed benefit

therefrom,”
A newspaper item of 1878 states that "The Literary

Club hu grown into one of %‘a_uam'n leading socleliesS..eeThoy
have mploté possession of the lecture fleld, meking
lectures successful only under thelr auspices...The work md.
alm of the soclety is to elevate the public in ways of

‘entertsinment and to cultivate a taste for good reading
agd culture in the llterary fleld.," Between the years 1878

and 1888 the soclety sponsored lectures on such subjects as
"Sherman's Mareh to the Sea," "Incidents and Battle Scenes
of the Rebelllion,™ "Love, Courtshlp and Maerriasge," 'C&lturﬂ
aud Seauty,” "How to Atmin One's Best," "The Boy of the
Present Age," and "The Future Life." In this serles came
lrs. Abbey _Baso'mchu;dson to speak on the cconomic ceuses
of the current natlional depression, which she essigned to
lavish spending of funds when money was plentiful., The
Toreh of Liberty, uﬁualiy polite where the Literary Soclety
was lnvolved, took lssue with Mrs, Richardson, opining that
the herd times around 1878 &ose from the transformation of
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productive circulatin: cepital iﬁto non=productive ldle
capltal by 1ts belng funded 1n non-taxable government bondse

The effort toward selfl-lmprovement slong cultursl
11nes gradually filtered down to s lerger segment 6‘: the '
populace, In 187¢ the Literary Soclety had opened 1ts own
reeding room with scme 700 volumes contributed by the Pine
Enot Clubs As yet, however, the general public hed l1lttle
access to reeding msterisls, In 1286 members of the
Methodist Church Congrogation organized s lyceum -ith the
purpose of establishing a public library end reading rooms, .
which, they bellieved, would "improve, morally and intele
lectually, the standing of the community.” Even the youth
were infected with the desire to pursue culture, In 1887
geversl young men formed a Homean Iilstory Club, end s few
months later fifteen others organized themselves into a
literary groups

In t_;:o meantime musicel and theatrical §érfomnms
continued much “as before, with the difference that there was
a larger proportion of more or less professlonal attractions,
ranging from black-fece minstrel shows to Shakespesrean
drsma, which the publlic epperently accepted with complete
impartielity. Hosd companies end locel talent ocecupled the
stage mostly with light comedies end Gllbert and Sulllivan
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operettas, whlle the Jerman Dramatic Soclety contlnued to
offer farce, melodrana a;d tragedy to the large forelgn
population, -nd.t-o brass bands competed for the public
favor at concerts, dances, and pollitical tnnétionn.

Music Haell, which for dbcut‘fiftocn years had
been the only bullding 1n the city devoted to theatricel
performances, was gradually ouﬁgronn: and the members of
the Masonlc Lodge velced a genersl desire when they urged
the bullding of a larger and more imposing theater.
Through the co-operation of:grnminant.bnainess men, the '
Crand Operi House wes erected on Third Street in 1883,
From trls time ohb for several decades, Tausau was well
supplied with dramatic and musical entertalnment from the
outside, Nuch of it was medlocre or less, but it satisfled
the dtunndi of a public only a generation away from the
wllderness and still in the gimcrack-mansion stage of
artistic eultivatlon.

In the year following the opening of the theater
two German singing socleties arose. One, the Laetlitla,
dlsbanded after a short time, whlle the other, the Lieder-
kranz, became a force in the city's cultural‘lifa and
remains today one of the oldest, most flrmly=-rooted
musical organizations. The flrst director was Frank
Schubert, organizer of several brass bands 1n the earller
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days. The membershlp was chlefly composed of the ordinary
citizenry, mechanlics, clerks, storekesepers, and profes-
sional men., Llke its predecessors, the Haennergesang and
| Harmony, the Liederkrangz grew out of the spontaneous
impulse of a musical people for sell-expresslon and
communal pleasurc, This unpretentious purpose was Nriectad
in the popular nature of the music 1t performed, Though
from time to time the soclety hes glven 1ts attention to
more oxacting work, 1t has continued to cultivate chieflly
the field of traditlionsl Cerman folk song. A bdackground
to these efforts was the work of singlng masters and pleno
teachers, which from the 1870%s on astimulated and was l.h
turn affected by the community's muslical activity,

Painting and literature were being cultivated
by a few people here and there, Two studios, opened 1in
1885 end 1806, were advertising commercial portrelt work
and lessons 1n portralt palnting. In 1898 the Torch of
Liberty carrled an item on the work of a local artist:
"The portralt palating of lMr. Dan Pinney has attracted
the wide sttentlion of the Wsusau people, Ils palntings
ere l1fe size and his handiwork rates him an artlst of
considerable fame,"

Poetry invited the tslents of seversl local

versifiers, Unfortunately, few of them were content to
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mirror thelr own inner experience or, like the lumberjack
bards, to deplct the famillar facts of thelr everyday life.
Rather, they were determined to be literary in the commoner
meaning of the word=--turning out a quantity of banal sentl-
ment decked out ln the hand-me-down flnery of conventional
tmages. "A Poem," offered by the local press of 18685, 1a

a representative exsmple:

Morn, gray eyed, cloud-vestured mald.

ler face a flush of rosy light,

Peered coyly through the portals of departing gloom

And roused the sleepling nlght;

¥hose psled face

Set moonwise, in the midnight of her halr,

Which tumbling fell o'er shoulders bare, -

A sprayless cataract of shredded sllk,

Rich sown with fire flles=-

Hed gathered whiteness

From a swoonlng moon now fled.

Prom agueous depuhs of challce deep, she

Drew besme=tinted dew, end guenched the

Astrasl embers of xlgﬁh*s bivousc.

And yet, more pondrcus kind, she loved the languld
eyes

That spoke of wine quaffed late--of poppy draughts
and dreansSeess :

More interestling was the prose work of Neal Brown,
lawyer, politiclan, business man, and civic leaders Brown
was born in Jefferson County, sttended the State Unlversity
Law Sdhgdi, and by 1880 was a successful lswyer ln Wausau.
Lntor,ﬁ. held an 1nr1uent1§1 position in the legsl depart=-
ment of the Law and Land Assoclatlon. Versatlle and
lﬂ‘r'ltlo, he soon &naaged in numerous large-scale business
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enterprises and entered politics as a Democrat, belng
several times elected to the Stete legislature., Drown's
intellectual interests presently led him to tske up litere-
ture as an avocation, He contributed regularly to the
newspap ers--most often on his pet subject, the tariffe-and,
beginning in 1893, published several volumes of essays and
blogrephy, Critical Confessions, Qrthodoxy and Heterodoxy,
John Mershell, and others. A lover of nature and the
rustic life, Mr. Brown took pride in his origin, often
asserting that there was no work on the farm which he had
not done or could not doj frequently he drew upon this
background for the writings through which he acquired a
local reputation as s litterateur and hom-pura philosopher,
In 1891 the Orand Opera House was reconditlioned,
As for several seasons past, 1ts stege was now occupled
every Mondasy night through the winter months by itinerant
troupes which "played” Weusau as a “one-night-stand”
en route from Madlson or Mllweaukee to St, Paul. The bulk
of the sttractions were still melodramss, farces, muslcal
shows, and sentimentel romences: "The Paris CGayety Cirls,"”
"qhe Twelve Temptations,"™ "The Sea King Opera Company,"
"Lew Dockstader's Minstrels,” "Evangeline," "A Parlor
Match," "All the Comforts of Home," "The Stowaway," "Held
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by the Enemy," "The Walfs of New York,"” "}iichael Strogoff,”
or "the great militery dreme,” "Shenandosh."

' Such dramstlic stars as Frederick Werde, Julla
¥arlowe, and the celebreted traglc actress Clara Morris
played here briefly 1n thelr tours over the continent,
acting sh-kommm drema or the rhetorlcal concoctlons
in vogue through thls era, In December, 1891, came
Thomas W. Keene, & respectable provinclal tregedlan, who
captured the town wlth his vivid, melodramatic pprtruynl
of King Richard the Thirde The Torch of Liberty, reviewing
thi's perfommance, glves a hint of the quality of eritical
writing in the day snd reglon: "...¥hile we cennot repross
the thought that such plays are better adapted to the war-.
1ike times in which they were written, they still have
their uses, To show how vaulting aabition oterleaps
itself, end evil deeds come beck to plague the gullty
.eomlmu, and how erpty and shallow all the fencled Joys
that are sought st cost of others' rights, this play is a
most vivid 1llustration, and to sach evils flts all tlmes
and all people.” In 1892 the Grand Opera House burned,
and for Lhe next soven years Alexander snd Music Halls were
the chief seats of public entertalnment.

"It is @ regrettable fact," editorlally asserted

the Centrsl Wisconsin for April 14, 1888, "that there is
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so great lack of interest 1n musical metters in Weusaus
¥uslc should de in our schools, cholrs in our churches
‘end & musicel orgsnization formed to stimilste sufficlent
interest to carry out musicel prograsmes for the music-
loving publice” The rollovlnﬁ year saw the establishment
of the Third Regiment Bend, Under the dlrectlon of
F. G. Dana the band gave weekly concerts in the courthouse
square and mede a tour of-thé eastern stetes on the way
to a C.A.R. encampment week in Washington, Ds C. ¥%hen
Dana's prospective depsrture threatened the organigzaticon's
existence, several business men formed the Wsusau Band
Assoclation and subseribed funds for retelning this
indispensable leader, Nesnwhile, stlll enother Cerman
choral soclety, the Elcherkranz, was orgenized, and
occasional concert troupes continued to whet the taste
of the musical public. |

The most emphatic response to the Centrsal
yisconsin's call, however, came 1o 189C, when a school
teacher snd seversl other musically Irclined ledles formed
the Tuesday Musicsl Club. The aims of thls organlzatlon,
set forth in its charter, were: "To ralse the standard
of music sppreclation in 'Cmnu and to encoursge further
study of those whose educstional edventages have been
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along the line orlmslm--lso to bﬂng, from time to .
t:isn;, artists of note," Meetings were first held every
two weeks at the members'! homes, and the clud undertook
occaslonal concerts for the benefit of local young people
studying in distant citles,

Under the begulling head "Harmony Amldst
Harmonious Settings,® a local reporter of the time
described one of these muslcales: "In point of attendance
it was a crush=-in polnt of merit 1t was a gem, and in
polint of general result it was a complete success...The
Audlence was notable 1n that 1t was thoroughly representa-
tive of Weusau society, but it was not slweys as sppreclative
az it should have been, The program was well bullt up. The
central figure of part one was, of course, the Chopin Nocturne,
and the steps which led to 1t were of easy gradetione..
That melody wes more popular with the sudience then harmony,
was evidenced by the henrty. receptlion accorded Cambugzi's
Fishermone..." So great was the community's interest in
 the activitles of the Musical Club thet many townspeople
were soon asking for permisaion to sttend regular mestings,
with the result that two yeers later the membershlp 'ni
increased. In 1899 the clud Jolined the Natlional Federation
of Music Clubs, In 1906 the orgenizatlon purchased &

193



Jenson Arts and Lettera

grand plano snd transferred its meetings to the ml&- :
built Wausau Clubs

Meanwhile Franz Winninger, an Austrian-born
musiclan who had been teasching and conducting in Ashland
for some years, settled in Weusau snd took over the
mansgement of Columblia Hall as a concert and smusement
place. The performmces consisted of mslcal selections
from a brass band led by Mr, Winalnger, and songs, sketches,
and acrobatics contributed by his daughter and flve sons.
'Eventanuy the family left Wausau to go "on the road,® and
later split up into drematic stock companles which toured
the country for several years. The youngest son, Charles,
gibmequently appoared on the stage in New York and 1s now
well known as s clnema and redlo comedian, Another note=
worthy locsl artist of the decade was Charlotte Lynn |
Campbell, soprano, who was designated to rcpre-sonﬁ the
State at the Columblan Exposition in Chicago in 1892,
Later she studled in London and Parls, dld drawlng-room
and operatic singing in London, and toured thls continent :
as sololst with an orchestra, ZEventually she bhecame a
noted church singer 1n Boston.

. The mobilizing of muslcal forces gathered momentum
with the arrival of Jacob Reuter, a viclinist of some 70t€s
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As a chilld prodigy Router had studled under the famous
Willem Moeblus and st fifteen had embarked on the career .
of a virtuoso violinist. DBut since, 1n these days, a

foreign reputstlon was practicelly essential for musical
success 1n the United States, he eventually turned to
tesching and settled in Mllwaukee, Toward the close of the
1890%s Reuter came to Wsussau as & teacher and Immediately
tcok a prominent part in the muslical actlvitles of the

cormunlitye

Late in 1897 he orgenised the Philharmonic
‘Soolot;r, a symphonic orchestra composed of local musliclians
and aszateurs. After 1ts early demlise he formed the
Pacthoven String Quartette with Franz Winninger, Otto
Eueller, and Miss Theress Winninger. During the season
of 18098-1899 he gave a series of concerts artistiques,
with the assalstance of local talent, playing muslec of
Beethoven and Haydn, as well as selectlons from the
violinist's standard repertolre--Paganini, Serasate,
Vieuxtemps, Wienlawski, Other recitals followed; and
Reuter, finding the public responsive both to hls violin
artistry and his teaching, declded to remain in Wausau,
to whose musical culture he has since contributed as
teacher, orgenizer, sololst and composer,

195



Jenson Arts end Letters

| In 1899 a second COpera House, soon renamed The
Orend Theater, wae erected on Fourth Street, to remain for
seversl years the local center for dramatic end musical
performances. As before, a variety of "road shows®™ altere
nated with home-town theatricels and mrts. In 1903
the Tuesday Musicsl Club ventured into the fleld of 11ght
‘opera with a presontstion of ®The Bohemlan Cirl.™ The
© favorable receptlon of f;hla work encouraged the clud to
undertske further performances, and 1ts productions of the :
- atandard operettes became annual events,

By this time the population waes beglnning to

_Lo&lltl Cermanic cheracter; the iaflux of Immigrants had
ﬁtminlahad, and ther® wes now & new generstlon of native-
born Gsman-Amerlcm, meny of whom had 11ittle more then
a nodding sequeintance with the Institutions ad language
of their parents. It became Increcslagly difficult to
find new blood for the distinctively Cerman cultursl
groups, which had not as jet begun to adspt themselves
to the chenging conditions. Cerman theatricals were
now limited to .po-rnd;a performances, and their chilef
rusicsl organlzation, tm.L;odorkrm s managed to get
through the difficult perlod of transition only by a libersl
transfusion from the corpse of the recently defunct Elchenkrang.
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_ Meanwhlle the Snglish end older American
elements of the population had begun to take an interest
in musical affairs. The first slgn of e now, naturalized
order of cultursl effort wass the formatlon in 1905 of the. .
Weusau Choral CSocisty, & mixed cholr of 102 veices, This A
orgenization geve the younger, English-spesking generatlon
an opportunity for musicel expression and served the
community st large by ensbling 1t to hoear chorsl works
1ike "The Messish" and the more exacting llght operatlc
fare. Under the dlrection of its founders, Mr. and
¥rs, Ddwin Howsrd, professlonal singers and teachers,
the soclety enjoyed a few yesrs of consliderable influence,
then, with their departure, quickly disintegrated. The
Liederkrens menaged to "carry on" in splite of language
atfriculties, On April 12, 1909, it celebrated its rirst
quarter-century of exlstence Avith a silver jubllee festival,
. and durlag the next year and & §uerter g pesred at Merrill
and Medford for the festivities of the Horthwest Wisconsin
\i‘x\cireu!.t of Germen 81:1(-;135 Societles, of which it was a
Wrs In the meantime the Tuesday Musicsl Club had
tk‘tnbliahod a regular winter concert series, bringing
bq‘: Yausau artists end musical orgenizations of the first
r&m; and the Goraan churches, St. Peul's and St. Stephen's,
::x:nauguratlng juvenile bands and cholrs in thelir Sunday

Ls
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Through these years of intenslfled musicsl
activity, Weausau was also experiencing a renewsl of literary
interest. From 1897 on the city mede annual contributions
varying from $600 to §1,750 to the support of a publiec :
1ibrary which had grown out of the FPlne Km& Club's gﬁ
to the Ladlu* Literary Soclety ia 18’!1. As yot, however,
there was no perma eat readlng room, the books being
housed % one time in the cour_thoum, at mother in a
vmwt store-bulldinge. Pinan;t; in 1907, the taxpayers
subscribed the funds required by the Carncgle Foundatlon
for a library grant, and the present Fubllic Library bullding
was erected and uf.ockad.

& During the seme period thers was a spuri of
creative effort, - In 1897 Bdgar T. Wheelock and Willlsm He
Ellls established The Phllosopher Press and began to l1ssue

~ The Phllosopher, a Monthly Journsl of Literature. In
accordance with 1ts motto, "Thoughtful, But Kot Too Thoughte
‘ful," this megazlne devoted itself prinmcipsally to whimslical -
sketches, sentimentsl verse, snd s department of quasi-
philosophlcal observations, entitled "The Smoking Room"s
‘v.i'.,ry&ng this fare of literary fluff with an occeslonsl
essay or story by such established authors as Zons CGale

-nd ¥illlam Allen White.
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In 1903 the Press, which after 1ts first lasue
had been taken over by Ellls and Mr. and lirs, Philip V. Os
Van Vechten, undertook to publish Dbooks by local wrilters,
chief among whom m?m Curren Ryan. Some of thelr
bindings made to speclal order and haend-priated Dy
lirse Van Vechten were notable for thelr typography aad
pressworks Out of his experiences as a lawyer kre. Ryan,
in 1903, wrote o!mmm'a Fine Forms, a satire on the
appellate courts; on the subjects of hls speclel Interest,
astronomy and the philosophlcal aspects of rellglon, he
produced two studles, entitled Intellectual Re 1 lon and
Finite and tes In the lstter, according to a local
historian, "he anticipated Elnsteln's limited unlverse at
a time when this was heresy among philusophers,” and "his
theories were attacked and defonded by leading sclentists
both in our country and in Burope.® Eventually The
Philosopher decllned into a partisasn ,oliticel organ and
turned to opposihg William Jennings Brym,_ SmnMr
Robert M. La Pollette, Sr., and other liborals in thelr
attacks upon the ‘trusts and rallroads; in 1507 1t suspended
publicatlon. Its office, known aa The Log Cebln, was
bought by the Christlen Sclentlst congregation in 1012
and remodelled as a church., The machlinery, name and
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goodwill were taken over by E4 Steckel, who still cperstes
a job printing shop under the old 'nome. i

The newspapers continued to offer a quantity
of casual verse, submitted, for the most part, by
subscribers; while now and then & pamphlet of verse from

the hand of some business man, teacher, or lady-of-lelsure

would sppesr, privately printed. Among these P

was & miscellany by Willlam J. McEay, one of Wausau's
lumberjeck bards, Now, alsc, s number of technicsl books
began to be lssued bj professional men of the citj.

John E. Koehler edlited the Glnseng and Golden Scal Crowors!
Esndbook in 1898; 1n 1898 Dr. Willlam A. Fricke, vice
president and genersl mensger of the Greal fiorthern Life
Insurance Company, publlished a text-book on llfe lnsurance,

following 1t three years later with his Lew of Distribution

of Surplus Life Insurance Compsnles; and in 1905 appeared
Dr. Miller's Dentel Famlily's Friende Meanwhile palnting wes
belng taught by Miss Cherlotte Bleurock who had recently
returned from seversl years of study 1in Luropeés

Through these and the several followlng jesrs,
the Ladles! Literery Soclety contlpued tc bLring prominent

speskers to Weussu, and for s time formed awmiversity
extension class, with lecturers from Madllson., Aslde from
the usual contributions to the newspapers, for some time
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alfter the Philosopher ceased publication tiere was 11ttle
creative work which reached publications In 19012 Rysn's

Intellectual Religlon sppeared posthumously, and Judge

Louls Marchettl published hls Listory of arathion County,
the oaly comprehensive work of its kind until 1939, Three

years later Frank Cramer published The Case of the Pecpls
Versus the Lewyers and Courts, the sarllest of mu'd g
books by thias asuthore-The lethod of Darwin, Triumphs & '
Fallures of Medicine, How to Study, and Across the Desort
With a 0

- In Vausau, a8 everywhere else, the World War
conalderably changed the complexion of cultursl 11fe. As
a Gorman~language organization the Liederkranz Lecame the
butt of Jingolstic fervor, and the loyally of 1ts members
was several times publlcly questioned. lMNevertheless it
carried through its usual program, with the difference
that the repertory was uxtlnded to include English and
American, as well as Cerman songse. Llke the Tussday
¥usieal Club, the soclety also turmed lts efforts toward
charitable work, singing for Red Cross and other beneflts,
and later 1t donated funds to the starving peoples of
Germany and Austris--all to such purpose thsat 1ts subsequent
concerts were exempt from the postewar tax on amuscmentse.
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During this perlod there were regular public gatherings

et which the commanlty entertained ltself by. alnging war
dittlies and llstenling to the rousing patriotic spoeches of
¢lvic leaders, Wausau llterature likewlse m;;iatered'th-
temper of the war years in the petriotic effuslons, in
verse or prose, which such times commonly svoke,

Through the early 1920's, William Allen, who hed
made Wausaa hlia home {or some fifty yeers, under hils old
pen neme, Shan T. Boy, contributed to the mny@pou .
serlies of such satlrical verses on nabio;nnl yﬁlitica a8
the following: |

I Do Not Choose to Run

sseSupreme Court Jjudges Sried 1n valn
To find what Calvin meant,

And often asked him to explaln,

What was his resl lntents,

But Calvin sbhut up 1like a clan,

As silent as a nun,

And sald, in words severe and calm

"I do not choose to run," ,

sseAnd now he's in the Badger State,
¥here aummer days are cool.

He's on an oll magnate's estate,
Jpon the river Brule,

With ten pound padlock on his gate,
All lumberjacks he'll shun,,

And to himself he'll iterate,

"1 do nob choose to run,”
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esesBut of all Leasts thet roem the wood,

The Hodag "takes the cake,"

For when he seeks his dal ig food,

He makes the plne treecs shake.

He 18 a beast of wonstrous slge,

He wel a half a ton.

"7is plainly seen 1n kls flerce ejes,

He does not choose to mn.

essihen Calvin rosms the northern wood,

On Lake Supsrior's shore

Should meet s Eodag seeking food

And hesr his awlul roar,

He'll throw away his ﬂohms rod,

HEis reel and fancy gun

And -himr to himselfl, "ll: M,

I think I choose to run.” S
From time Lo $time Allen also printed poems on homely
subjects snd s quantity of nostalglc rhymed realniscence
of the lumbering dayse.

During this decade the nature of theatrical
activities was undergelng a transformatlion which reflected
s widespresd techmologlesl changes In 1019 the Tausen
Theatre wss bullt, the flrst locsl amsement house designed
spocially for moving pletures. Touring companlos continued
to appear at the Crand Theatre through the wiater monthss
bat with the gradual decline of the "legltlaste” drama
outside of New York City, the number of theatrlcal presenta-
tions began to taper offs The new Jrand Theater, larger
and more commodious than its predecessor, was built 1n 1927

end equipped for both moving pletures and stage productions.
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In a short time, however, & was converted intc a talking
pleture house, and In recent jears ite stage has been used
only for mulcmil home=-talent thoatricalss

The musical écana, meanwhille, has bLroedeeds In
the fell of 1987 several members of the Tuesday Nuslcal Cinb
formed & branch orgenizstion, the Musical Arts Club, with
the object of "studylug and performing the best io choral
rusic for women's voices and the estsbllshment In the city
of Weauseu of another worthy musical instltutlon,”

‘Barlier in the year the twenty-~seventh annual
festivel of the Esst Wisconsln Circult of Cerman Slanglng
Socletles had tsken place heres In antlcipation of this
event the Liederkranz, which since 1910 bal been a member
of the circult and hal participeted ia all of its festlvals
except those of 1923 and 1924, lssued a 40=-page booklet
concerning the Ssengerfests and the speclal atlractions
for visitors to Wausau, The climax of the festival was
ﬁonokmd when chiorsl organizations from all over eastern
Wisconsin, suguented by Cone's orchestra and assisted by
Jacob Reuter, jolned forces for a publlic concert in the
Central School Auditorium, The Liederkransg slso provided
the dlstinguishing musical festure of the following year,
whon 1t celebrated the ceantennial of Franz Schubert with
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a concert devoted to his music. This season was further
marked by another Liederkrang Schubert program in honor
of the retlirement from municipal Judiciary service of its
dlstingalshed member, Judge Louls Marchettl, who, llke
Schubert, was a native of Viennae

-Meanwhile the Ladles! Literary Soclety, disbanded
in 1889, had been reorganized 1in 1894, Adding to 1ts former
ectivities an increased interest 1n clvic affalrs, 1t
planted 500 trees, cleaned up and beautilled areas on the
riverbank near Stroller's Dridge and Harrison Doulsvard,
provided ornamental gates for the FPlne Groia cemetery, and
obtained marals and palntings for school wells. It was
glso active in helplng establish the library and the
¥te View Senatorium, At present 1t has three departments,
each speclallzing in its own type of program, while a
general program is held once a monthe. Among the princlipal
interests of the 265 members are public welfare, leglslatlon,
internstional relstions, cltizenship, educetion, misic, art,
literature, and public health.

Among the few literary publicatlions of the past
ten years are Harry C. Schwarz's How to CGaln Your Oreatest
Desires, a religlous-sthlcal tract, and the w rks of the
late Kerl Msthle, former superintendent of schools in
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Marathon Countye Mr. Mathie, who devoted the lslsure of
his retlrement to writling, composed a number of poems,
"as prayer,” "My Velentine,"” "Hea Spes ln Dev 2at,” A
Christmas Peace," and "On Her Birthdey;" a peace pageant,
"gorlid Open Thy Door" (1937); & play, "The Open Well;™
and a Hotery drama, "ihe Spirll of Pesce;” as well a3
geveral one-act pleys. Though professional drematic
performances have Deen conspicuously few durlng the pust
decade, a company of locsl amateurs has establlished the
. Waussu Community Theaters an such "howe-lown theatric:ls'
two Waussu girls have recently grnduatod into professionsl
drematic works Carolyn licKay 1s under a loag-tomm contfact
with the Columbla Broadcasting Corporatlon, and Lucla
La Certe is now acting for the Paramount dotion Plicture
Companye

in comparison with thelr predecessors, the local
painters of this period have bLesu unexpectedly numerous
and prolific, Asong bhem are thréc¢ women, lrs. Janet Reid
Kellogg, a graduate of the Chicago Art Institute who has
exhibited in Hew York gellerles; lielon McCarthy, who since
1934 hes been @ member of the Allled Artlists of New York
and since 1938 of the American Water Color foclety; and
Wina Klekbusch oriffin, now palnting in Chicagoe ra. Willlam
Below of River Forest, Illlnois, may also be regarded =3 s
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local artist, having begun her careor In Weusau, where, as
' Helen Hudson, she was well known as a palnber. lirs. Delow
hes had showlngs ab the Art Institate and Dreke Hotel in
Chicago, the Osk Park (Illinols) Art Center, and the Belle
Keith Art Gallery in Hockford, Illlnois.

Among the more noteworthy locsl men palaters 1s
Leon Landmark, whose portrsits, landscapes, and smerine
palntings have been shown in the Art Instltutes of
Miiwaukee and Chicago. Leloy Jones, glven an opportunity
to study at the Chicago Art instibube alter belng wounded
in the torlid War, exhibited al Art Institute shows, then
returned to Wausau, where numbers of his palntings and
partirn.its now hang in private homes. Donald Mundt, who
has exhiblted with the Chicago Artists® Soclety, the
Internationsl Lithograph Society, and the Art Institute,
painted one of 22 pictures chosen Irom 1,500 entries In
Illinols to De e#hihit@ﬁ at the New York dorld's Feir In
1939, After studying at Chicago and Yale University,
Eerbert Steinke, another Waussu aritlst, becane an Instructor
at the Acasdemy of Fine Arts In Chicego and leer was
appointed Director of Art In Lhe Albeny, He T. publiec
8clio0lse.

feanwhile & nuiber of local musiclans also earned
reputations outside the strictly locsl fleld. lyron Duncan,
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baritone, after studylng in Itsly and having his debut
at La Scsla, later ssng with the Chicego, Fhiladelphla,
end Cincinnetl Opérs companies, while Ima&llﬁ Fletcher Hart
also beom #mr of the Chicago company snd Jane
Abercromble, after studylng in Germany, becsme prima donna
of the Aborn Opers Co. Another local slager, Selma Gogg
Hummel, & member of the Tuesday Musicsl Club, became well
known in concert and oratorio work in Chlcago, though she
was rejected by the opers company because she was Loo talle
Lewrence Bernhardt, sfter studying plano with Josel
Lhevinne, now 1s s teacher ln Mllwsukee, and lielen Cosates
Brosdfoot 18 a violinist with the liew Jersey Symphoay
Orchestrae

Music from earlicst days has been the art most
assiduously cultivated in Weussu. Today there are three
bards, two drum corps, 10 permanent orchestras, two music
clubs, two choral organizations, and 16 musical directors
and teachers. in recent yoars thﬁ Tuesdsy Husicsal C‘J._ub
has jolned the State Federation of Muslc Clubs, which has
held three conventions in Wsuseie Mrse L. Ae Pradt,
prominent in musical circles since 1881, became president
of the State Federation of Music Clubs and for four jyoars
was a member of the Natlonal Federation's board of directors.
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Durlng the past decade the Club has continued its sponsore
ship of a notable series of concerts, including visits

by the Flonzaley String Quartet; Lrnest Hutchinson, planlst;
Albert Spaulding, viclinist; and such singers as Hary
McCormick, Eeinald Werrenrsth, Florence licBeth, Cyrena

Van Cordon, and Ketherine Melsle. It elso continues to
produce home telent operss. Neanwhile the lusicsl Arts
Club has become an independent group, devoting a part of
its work to concerts, in order to acquaint the Yausau
public with choral ﬁmic for women's volces,

The ¥lk Club's uale cholr, orgenized in 19035,
alsc has been active in concert work, sppesring frequently
1n other citics throughout the Stete as well es Weuseus
Affilisted with the State end National essoclations of
men's singing organizetions, in 1939 1t was host to some
500 elubs for a music festivels 'Theu are also a number
of excellent church cholrs and scrool musicael orgsnizstlons.

Though the Llederkrang, the community's cldest
musleal organization, has recently acquired s hall of its
own where it holds two public concerts a year, i1t continues
to be active mainly smong the German and working portlons
of the populatlions On kay 6, 1954, 1t celebrated its
golden jubllee wi th & festlivael 1n which German choral
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organizetions from all over Wlsconsln participated, and
on thls occaslon a spesgker ouserved "The Llederkrsanzs has
done more than & y other slngle nrgsniastion to preserve
the tradition of popular folk songs and musical culbure
in the homwe and communiby.” DBut lts supportoers and those
of the Tueaday Husical Clud tend to stralily upon soclal
lines end to have counstantly less conlact wi th each other.
While the sponsoring of concerts and encoursgéement of
muslcal education continues on one level, the purely
spontaneous, relatively untrelned singing and playlng for
the pleasure ol personal pu'ticlmtion continues on
enother level, with libtle simllarity of lnterest between
the Lwoe

210



(1) Wausau
(2) Harold E, Miner
(3) words - 3,500

FINAL

The Newspapers

T&C 4/20/39 IA



Einer

The Hewspspors

In 1856, with a population of nearly 500, Wausau ina
dependent ﬁpon the Stevens Point Wisconsin Pinery for all the
gservices of the press. The Pinery satisfactorily published the
legal notlces, tax lists, and officlel printing for two counties,
but was far more concerned with publicizing the resources of its
home city than those of the newer settlement to the north. Con=-
sequenﬁly a group of prominent Wausauans--among them Yalter D,
¥cIndoe--offered Jerome ¥, Chubbuck of the Pinery staff $300
and a subscription list of 300 to 400 readers to found & news-
paper at Wausau. The machinery of the defunct Jefferson County
Republicen was carrled b; wagon to the Fox Rlver, taken upstream
on & boat, hauled to Wausau on a sleigh, and installed on the
sccond floor of a bullding at Fourth and Jackson Strests. The
Centrsl ¥isconsin begug pﬁblicntlon of April 22, 18567,

Many of the city's 500-0dd inhebitants assembled
rormullj at Forest Hall on the eve of publicstion to celebrate
the event with speeches, toasts, end dancing. They drank to
%our Chubbuck--may he entwine ths rope sbout the horns of Big
Bull and lead him into the green flelds of wealth and renown®
and to "The boys of the pinery4hmay they be worthy of thé pinery
glrlsl" They also prophetically halled "The Village of Vausau--may
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its great natural aévantngea_be improved by art to thelr utmost
extent, and where the forest pines now stand, mey the spires
of a city rise, the homes of thousands, and a great center of
inland trade and commerce."

Then with the help of John Foster, a printer, Chubbuck
set about his task of encoursging the growing self-consclousness
of the community. Apparently his press arrived late, or was
unaccompanied by type, for the first lssues of the Central |
Wisconsin have been judged, from their makeeup and type dress,
‘to heve been printed in the Plnery shop. Its flles were destroyed
by fire during the World War years, but a local historlan has
preserved a few ltems from the April 29 issues

®Col. Shuter sold villsge lots last week to the amount
of $4,500,00,

"Three men were drowneﬁ st Crand Raplds, two at the
Clinton Dam,

"Three raplids pleces beldnglag to J. G, Goodhue, above
Little Bull, broke loose, became unmansgeable, and passed through
the fells to destructlon.

"The bank of the river above the falls 1s lined with
raefts; the Scholfield mill, burned lest fall, has been retullt
and has a gang edger of 21 saws, which recently cut 21,000 feet
in day time and is the only gang edger in the county,.

"The ice has gone out, six rafts of timber and three
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of lumbere.ssstarted out on Sunday.”

Each of those nine rafts contalned approxinately half
a million feet of merchantable wood. :

Though he retasined ownershlp of the Central Wisconsin
for only three years, Chubbuck remeins prominent in local
journalistic tradition. Originslly from Vermont, he was one of
the printers who struck off the first issue of the ¥llwsukes
Sentinel in 1837. After working in a number of Milweukee shops
he moved to Jefferson, %ise, in 18553 a year lstor he left for
Stevens Point, where he was found by the Wnﬁsaaans in ssarch of
an editor, IHe dled in Wausau 1n 18854 Under him Valentline
Ringle, Clarence Jenkins, Charles W, Johnson, and E, B, Thayer,
all future edltors, leerned their craft. They became rivals
at setting type by hand; a now discredited legend, told some=
tines of one and agein of snother, says that thsy once attained
a speed of 2,000 ems of long primer 1n an hours They all had
to "flip thé frisket and pull the lever” on the old hend-press,
until, according to Er. Thayer, "their muscles bulged out like
paving blocks on the high bridge after a prolonged web spell.”
Johnson, unable to practise indoors hls favorite art of throwing
knives and hatchets, lesrned to harl & needle with such force
and accuracy that he could stick it an elghth of an inch into
a plne board at e dlstance of 15 feet. Thereafter he took to
flinging ﬁia needle st the trousers of hls fellow workmen. Not
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even the boss was spared, and when they heard Chubbuck's favorite
by-word, "Fod's first cordisl," roared forth in sudden pain and
anger, the printers know that the Central Wisconsin's founder
hed once more been needled by 1ts future owner.

Desplite the rojoicing at its birth and 1ts'monopoly
on all official printing, the paper had a slckly infancy.
Because of the difficulty of haullng in newsprint it wes compelled
on Sept. 30 and Oct. 7, when 1t§ regulsar supply ran out, to
publish but one sheet on dark green handbill psaper, Bard pressed
financlslly, in 1860 Chubbuck sold controlling interest to &
¥r., Senford of Jefferson, his brother-in-law, who unloeded his
investment on Carl Hoeflinger and Francls A, Hoffman in the
samo year. Hoeflinger and Hoffmen moved the plant to the corner
of Third end ®ashington Streets and engaged, es assistant editor,
¥rs. Anna Gordon, first of several women who became noteworthy
in local journalistic history. Under these Democrats the paper
prospered no better than it had under Chubhuck, and in 1862 it
was briefly transformed into the Republicun Marsthon County
Regord, published from the same plant by Clarence Jenkins. The
old name was restored by the next owner, Michael Stafford, in
1863, Stafford was born in Ireland, came here in 18851, went
into lumbering after leaving the peper, and was drowned in 1874
trying t& run a lumber raft over Little Bull Fallis in high water
after his pilot had refused the task. Stafford and John C., Clark,



Hiner The Newspapers

later also & lumbermsn, exchanged ownership of the paper three
times before they let the publication lapse in 18&C. It had
passed through seven ownerships within six years.

Heanwhile the Democrats, dominant politically but
voiceless save for the brlot regine of Hoefllnger and ﬁofrnnn!
gequired a new organ when the ¥isconsin Hiver Pllot was founded
in 1865 by Valentine Ringle, with Chubbuck as its sditor. :
Into its office, still stending at 31J-315 Jackson Street, he
brought in 1866 the first clumsy Job presscs ever used in Wausauj
he alsc published the first wood-cuts, carved with s Jackknife
by his brother John Hingle in 1066-07. ‘

The Gentral Fisconsin resumed publlecation in 1008 under
Charles %, and K, H, Johnson, two nephews of Stafford; but
Charles, who had helped publish a Confederate army paper, soon
sold out to his brother. Thercafter this paper snd the Wisgonsin
Eiver Pilot, both intensely partisan, shared the }leld wlithout
interference for nine yesrs. In 1870 Ringle erected and moved
to a frame bullding still standing at 321 Third Streest; here
in 1871, under Hoeflinger's editorship, he began publication of
the city's first Cerman paper, the %aussu ﬁochogglatt. Type
for the early issues was set by the Reve ¥, Kern, pastor of
Ste Paults church, who also helped write its political articles

and news, With this paper reinforcing his Pilot he became
powerful in maintaining the country-wide supremacy of Democracy

in a Republican state, all through the years when the :artisanshipa
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engenderad by tﬁe Civil ¥War made thls feat nmost difficult
elsewhere, The Central ¥isconsin, however, 8lso prospercd
sufficiently to install the city's first cylinder press in 1875,
Qh August 9, 1877, appeared the most colorful paper
in the city's history, the Toreh of Liberty, founded by Mark
He Barnum es un organ of the newly founded Greenback pariy.
This editor, preacher, and lawyer was born in Syracuse, He Y.,
in 1884, came to Weussu in 1857, served in ths Civil Var,
lator worked for the Pllot, and was a resort-owner whan‘hé dled
in 1904, The rlase of Greenbéckism in 1877 temporarily disrupted
the Democratic party in Marathon County and for two years threw
locsl offlce lergely into the hands of the militant currency
_rmformora¢ As thsir champlon, Barpum socn demonstrated the
tartness of retort and controversy that was to bring him Statee
wide renown., ®illiam H, 4llen, the "Shan T. Boy®” of lumber
camp ballads, wrote of the paper to which he became a pald staff
contributor four years leaterg |
In Wausau dwells an Editor,
A windy little man,
¥he owvns a local paper

On a candld outside plan.

Mark was a rod hot Democrat
In Samay J'%s caxpaigng

But now he's troubled very btad
With grecnbacks on thé bLrain.
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Ye citizens of Wausau,
If you walt a year or two,
You will see the Oreecnback Party

Looking mighty thin and blue.

You will sce a windy editor
Wandering 'round dead broke

With nothing left of his smouldering Torch
But a tiny puff of smoks.

You will see a cullboard nailed across
The printing offlice door,
With a few small chunks of greenbeck pil

A slumbering on the floor.

You will see the Greenback devil
Qut on & rousing épree
And cussing all connected

: With the Torch of Liberty.

Despite thls reception, in June of the following year
the Greenback Club of Wausau found its journslistic vehture
80 succassfui that it decided to found a supplementary Uerman
weekly, the Egggg_gg_W1s¢onsin (Watchman on the Wisconsin),
odiéed by Henry Miller. This paper lasted less than a year.
The Urwald, an independent German weekly, was even less successfulj

it hired as editor a Milwaukee German named Sheben, whe worked
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two days, borrowed ten dollsrs, got drunk, and disappesred,
reputedly beceuse pelitical opponents of the enterprise paid
him to leave.

In 1880 the g;;gghmoved to & new location at 306
Washington Street end the Central ¥isconsin ecquired the city's
first power press. The following year still another German
peper was organized, the Deutsche Plonier, a Republican organ.
Using the type and mechinery of the defunct ¥atchman, it was
edited by Dr. St., EKoslowski, who left in 1882 becsuse of
differences in vicwpoint with the Uerman and Rorwaginn stock=-
holders, In that 70&5 fugene ¥, Thayer founded the “suseu Review.

Born at Princeton, Wis,, Thayer st 10 years of age
was working in the Central “isconsin's shop; after serving on
Wausau and Henasha papers aalérintar and foreman, he had taken
over ths Centrall's job office in 1876, Immedlateiy after start-
ing the §gz§gg, taking the other papers unaware, he cut the
price of printing the county board proceedings from $35 to $25.
Eis shocked rivels complained bitterly thet no papcr could do
the vork at that price, and Barnum, discovering thayer to be

the offender, proposed to bulld a klcking machin; and "have
Mr., Thayer try it out.” The Torch by that time had two lively
bettles on its hands, for the Deutsche Plonier some three weeks

previously had asked its readers to refrain from taking the Torch

because it was not good for them, and Barnua had prémptly retorted
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by likening the German editor to & speckied horse on County Day
for the aifs he put on. ‘

#lthough he sometimes reudéd for the sheer joy of it,
Barmum was n/ézurnlllat of practicel and advanced ideas. #/s
eerly as 1878 fhe Torch had expregsed awarenesas of the shorte
comings of the contemporary press, wﬁoae colupns were filled
mainly with news about the editor's relatives or with highly
personal editorial dghatea,,too often dull, asbout current events,
In 1883, while other W%auseu papers were whipping up sentlment
to have & State Hormel School located here, Barnum wrotes:

"The newspapsr is the teacher to whom the people look
for suggestlons end for light on this end kindred subjects.
That Northern “1sconaln‘ed1tors-have shirked their cutles 1is too
plain. In view of these fs-ts, and many more that need attention,
it has beon suggested that a new society be formed to be known
as 'The Northern %isconsin Editorial Aasoelstlon',-that questions
pertaining to the interest and development of Eorthern VWisconsin
be discussed and a union of setion be secured,”

Sarmaa talled to follow up the idea, which remained
dorment for dacsdas._) ‘ e

The clevelind-ﬁlaiae campalgn of 1884 elicited unusual
journslistic efforts. In the fall of 1883 R. H. Johason, who
as postmaster had a personal interest in helping the 1ncumbent
Republicen administration, converted hils Central VWisconsin into
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a daily end hired Arthur J, Yodge of ®sdlson as an editorlsl
writer. In 1884 Theyer bought the old ¥Wlsconsin River Pllot,
merged it with hls Revisw briefly as the Pllot Revisw, then

shortensd the name to the Weusa: Pilot, which Is still belng
published. As the campalgn neared its cllmai, Thayer, slso,
mede his paper & daily, but the city, which could hardly have
supported one dally, wss totally unable to malhtnin the luxury
of twoj the Pilot returned to weekly publication lmmedlately
aftor the election, ths Centrasl Yisconsin only & few months later,

The Torch of Liburty, still primarily intercsted in
currsney reform, took no notable part in this campeslgn struggle.
Barpum merely reitsrated his stand as "independent in all things,
neutrel in nothing®, and listed as his eiams and ldeas:

: "1, To lessen the burdens of labor.

"e., To see women pald for the same service us well
. &8 men are pnid._'

"3, To meke the male who violstes the rulss of
morality as responsible to soclety as the fomules

*4:. To protect tﬁe little children until the rod
shall be known in home or school no more forevers A

g To encourage cducation, and drive out ignorance
and superstition. Education prevents crime whlle lgnorance
fosters vies,

s, To encoursge the adoptlion of unlversaiksurfrage

and exact egqullity of the sexss before law,"”
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Velentine Ringle, who hed retsined the Wochenblatt
when he sold the Pllot, withdrew from journalism in 1886 by
reloasing his German paper to Henry J. and Joseph J, Lohmang
they in turn sold 1t to a stock compsny the noxt year, and in
1890 it becsme the property 9r #, J. Oeise, a teacher of German
in the publiec schools. In Mosinec the Hews, founded in 1886,
became the first ¥arathon County newspaper outside of Wausauj
in Wausau the Citizen sterted 1in 1887 but soon vanished.
‘George Single, its editor, then jolned the staff of the Central
uisconsin to the nceémpnn&ment of a barrsge of Jeers from Barnum,

The Torch continued to Jibe st its rivals, In 1838
it rldiculed what was then, and to a large extent 1is still,
considered one of the primary functlons of & smell-town papers
the fostering of local community pride. '

®pobert (Johnson), of the Central, kicks like & bay
steer becsuse somebody reported there was a drought in Merathon
County lsst May. It 1s the duty of a boom organ to deny there
was ever & flood or a drought, & blizzard or a sunstroke, a
Colorado beetle or a ecinch bug in his locallity. FKobert once
went to Milwsukee by rail and got back by skiff. He never saw
anything dry in Marsthon County unless 1t was & democratic votsf.'

By this time Bernum wes ranked with the Republicuns,
turning the journelistic balance in favor of thet rilsing perty.
But though his politics now agreed with those of the Central, ‘
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a fundsmental difference remeined. Uenerally the Central
Wisconsin was bland, flattering, righteously proud of the
accomplishments of the city and its leaders, while the Torch
of Liberty remalned to the eﬁd a whiplash relentlessly scourging
every evil it found. The two thus complecmented eaéh other and
together provided a powerful impetus toward progress.

The next decade, however, was one of great change
throughout the commmunity, politieslly, cultursally, and econome-
ically. In the newspaper fleld the habits and treditions of
tﬁirty or more years were largely overthrown, It was a time
of ploneering along new lines. The West Side Enterprise,
sterted by Ed, Biggers in 1802, though short-lived, was the
first attempt at a sudburban publication. 7The next year a more
important and successful newcomer arrived--the Herald, founded
at 307 Washington Street by R, L, Powers and Jemes D, McKay.
In 1893 there was also started the Gefluegel Zeuchter, a German
poultry journal--the fifteenth publicsation, the fifth CGerman
publication, the second magszine, and the first sgricultural
jourmal to be founded in VWeussu, The following year the first
issue of the ¥susau Journel, house organ of the ®ausau Business
College and Normal Institute, appeeared under the editorship of
the College's president, W. S, Williams, The Teachers' Friend,
a short-lived publication which appeared 1# 1890, was nrobabdbly
of a similar nature, though little is known of it.
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The Pllot was published dally during the hested
MeKinley-Bryan campalgn of 1896, but sgain had to lapse into
weekly publication after the defeat which ended Democratic
dominance of Wausau politics. Editor Young of the Dchgacha
Plonier died in 1897, and the paper was taken over by Gustave
Stolze, who, upon his death in 1899, left 1t to his son Paul,

a German-born bookbinder. In 1697 Willlem 5111s and Mr, and
‘Mrs, Philip V., O, Van Vechten founded the Philosopher Press,
from which for a time they turned out hand-made books and a
magazine celled The Philosopher, featuring contributlons by

local writers,

In 1901 %, J. Jaeger and ¥William E, Brandt founded
a second suburban paper, anlunpratentious sheet called Behind
the Creck. This was the nickneme of a district north of the
railroad tracks on the cast side of the river. Subject to
ridicule becnﬁse of thelr reputed toughness and of the uncouth
things that occasionally happened thore, the people from "behind
the creek"” hed sufficlent locel sclf-consclousness to support
their own newspapers. DBoth the district and ths situation-~even
to characteristic German dlslect-ewerc expressed in a bit of

verses

Them papers think they're awful shmart
I think they're swful sick

¥hen they go throwing shlurs around
At us behind the Creek.

LA R N E R B ERE S R |
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We have no pliceman here at all
- No fire proteckshun round
Und burglers they are never seen

Upon this famous ground

Ve have no automobibbles
To make ourselves Kaput
Und when we want to ride around

‘We always walk afoot

The Crikets Crick below the Creek
The morning glories glow
The ripples of that fragrant shtream

¥Make mmeick as they flow

Und all slong its winding banks
'From morning until night

The kids and other animals

Are shquealing mit delight

WWe got a lot of shlldren too
Dot makes our life enhance
¥hich goes to show that we am all

First rate Republlicans
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Und all that telk about us here
Das holt der schwers note
If you will let us plesase alone

I puess we row our boat

By grecious how I wish to CGott
That sewer would be lald
To dem the Creek up clean across
¥hat all that troutle made.
shssvssense ;
Behind the Creek proapered and moved downtown, where
in 1904, under & new management, its name was changed to the
Wauseu Yews. That ssme jear the flemboyant Torch of Liberty
printed its last issue, Edgar Vheclock of Medford purchased

it and transformed 1t into the Dally Rocord, Wsusau's first
successful delly. In 19208 The PDaily Hecord begsn to use the
first linotype in ﬁauaau. In 1906 the Eews was bought by the
Aﬂ-ergd, which thereupon also became a daily; the followling yesr
the Record took over both papers, merging them into the daily
Record-Heralde In 1910 another historic weekly explred when
Fobert H, Johnson, who had published the Central ¥isconsin for
42 years, so0ld hls paper to a company which changed ‘the name
to the Sun. .

Thus by 1912 Wausau wes sarved by the daily Eecord-

Herald and four weeklies, the Sun and the Pilot, the Wochenblatt
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_and the Deutsche Pionier. All save the Pllot wers soon to go.
The period of personal Journalism, whén each paper expressed
the personality of its editor, had daparted wvhen Barnmum sold
the Torch, and the process of samalgemating or killing old papers
and of setting up new, brisk, but lmpersonal shects had filled
the interim. One of the outstanding characteristics of the
past era had been the publishing of articles by local contributors,
B, B. Thayer, veteran editor of the Pllot, recalled contributors
outstanding in his memorys

"J. W. Chubbuck in general local and editorial work;
Js Co Clark in éirect expression and history; M, H, Barnum in
fearless exposure and forceful writings; C. A, Single in his
general reprovals and pointing out right ways; R. 2. Parcher
in plain, forceful language, pointing out what he thought to
be right; W. C. Silverthorn in politics and laylng down the law;
C., F, Rldred in politics; lMrs. S. E, Stodderd in description;
S, H. Alban in his beautiful sermonsj Charles V, Bardeen 1in
direct and poinﬁed arguments; Mrs, C. V, Bardeen in description
of the woods, flowers, and in poetfy; B, W, James in general
writing end Mrs, James in versatile articles on upbullding;
Keal Brown in phiiosophy and politics, preferably 'the tariff!;
L. A, Pradt in humor and satire; ¥, N. Allen in poetry; B, W.
Pulling in poetry; T. C. HRyan in the field of politics;
L. Marchetti and John Hingle pertalning to the general welfare,
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ané history; 'Shanghal'! Chendler in his tyhirlewind?! attecks,
humor, and satire, were sone of tha early dsy writers, who, in
no smsll degree moulded the public opinion of this growing city.
211 were fearless snd able and never hestitated to sign their
namcs to sny of thelir writings when pcecaslon required, Wasussu
has sble writers today smong the laymen who could sccomplish
fully as much as the old regime 17 they haed the dlsposition to
do so0."

The Sum was discontinued in 1917. In the seme yesar
the Democratlc Bochenblatt and the Republicen Deutsche Plonier,
l1est of the pertisen weeklles, were merged under H, J. Gelse of
the ¥ochenblatt, which upon his death in 1018 was bought by
Gmil Leicht of Winona, Minn,, who still publishes it. In 1925
the Americu-Hersld sppesred ss & German weskly but succumbed to
the depression eerly in the 1930's.

The outstanding development since 1912 has been the
Antroduction of & musber of farm pspers., TIhe Marsthon County
Fapmer, founded in 1012, soon venisheds In 1918 appesred the
Orgentzed Farmer, which endured until 1922; the next year its
place was taken by Frank Gruetzmacher's Marathon County Farm
Journal. In the 1920's this publication, & 50- or €0-page
slick-paper magezine, carried fiction by nationally-knosrn
writers, though still retsining touch wiih its locel c¢irculation
through & page edlted by the county sgent and many articles of
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local farm interest. Now only a four-page newsprint sheet, the
periodical 1s still published.

Aside from this, the local field is shared by the Record-
Herald, a strongly Stalwart Republican paper, and the still vig-
orous weekly Pilot, the county's oldest newspaper. The Pilot is

edited by E. B, Thayer, Jr.; the Record-Herald by J.L. Sturtevant,

who, after sevefal years of newspaper work in St. Paul and Chicago,

turned to rural journalism and published the Waupaca County Post

from 1889 to 1907. When the Record-Hersld was formed in 1907,

Sturtevant came here as manager.
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